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1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

2023 2022

HK$ million HK$ million

    

Revenue 417 1,587

Gross profit 58 57

Loss before interest expense and 

 tax (“LBIT”) LBIT (358) (534)

Loss before interest expense, tax, 

 depreciation and amortization 

 (“LBITDA”)

LBITDA

(352) (526)

Loss for the year attributable to 

 owners of the Company (353) (270)
    

Total assets 1,004 1,528

Quick assets1 1 141 291

Net current (liabilities)/assets (113) 246

Net debt2 2 151 106

Shareholders’ funds3 3 265 653
    

2023 2022
    

Shares in issue 5,779,196,660
shares

5,779,196,660 

shares

5,779,196,660 5,779,196,660

Net asset value3 per share 3 HK$0.05 HK$0.11

0.05 0.11

Basic loss per share (6.11) HK cents (4.67) HK cents

(6.11) (4.67)

Current ratio4 4 0.83 1.30

Quick ratio5 5 0.21 0.35

Gearing ratio6 6 0.71 0.27

Net gearing ratio7 7 0.57 0.16

Return on equity8 8 (133%) (41%)
    

1. Quick assets represent current assets less inventories, properties under 
development, completed properties for sale and restricted bank balances

2. Net debt represents bank and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents

3. Net asset value or shareholders’ funds represents the amount of equity attributable 
to owners of the Company

4. Current ratio represents the ratio of current assets to current liabilities

5. Quick ratio represents the ratio of quick assets to current liabilities

6. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of bank and other borrowings to shareholders’ 
funds

7. Net gearing ratio represents the ratio of net debt to shareholders’ funds

8. Return on equity represents the loss for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company as a percentage of shareholders’ funds
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Directors’ Statement

Dear Shareholders,

We present the annual results of Magnus Concordia Group Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year 

ended 31 March 2023. The Group recorded a revenue of 

approximately HK$417 million (2022: HK$1,587 million), representing a 

decrease of 74% from that of the preceding year. Net loss for the year 

attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$353 

million (2022: HK$270 million), and loss per share was 6.11 HK cents 

(2022: 4.67 HK cents). Shareholders’ funds dropped by 59% to 

approximately HK$265 million (2022: HK$653 million), representing net 

asset value per share of HK$0.05 (2022: HK$0.11).

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company 

has resolved not to recommend payment of a final dividend for the year 

ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).

The increase in the Group’s loss was mainly affected by the net loss 

after tax of approximately HK$323 million (2022: HK$242 million) of the 

property development business, mainly resulting from the provision for 

impairment of stock of properties made as at 31 March 2023 for the 

property development project in Zigong City, Sichuan Province, the 

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

4.17 15.87

74%

3.53 2.70

6.11 4.67

59% 2.65

6.53 0.05

0.11

3.23

2.42
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Directors’ Statement

Looking ahead to 2023, it is expected that inflation will continue to 

remain at a high level, and interest rates will also remain relatively high. 

Global economic growth is projected to continue slowing down, with 

some major economies facing risks of recession. Despite the Chinese 

government’s implementation of measures to support stable economic 

and real estate development, it will take time for consumer housing 

market to be reinvigorated and confidence in economic recovery to be 

restored, thus posing challenges to Mainland China’s economic 

growth.

However, the Group also takes into consideration the significant 

improvement in the COVID-19 situation in Mainland China, adjustments 

in epidemic prevention and control policies, as well as factors such as 

comprehensive clearance between Hong Kong and Mainland China, 

which have a positive impact on economic and real estate market 

recovery. These factors are expected to gradually boost Mainland 

China’s macroeconomic and real estate market.

Although economic recovery is expected, the Group believes that 

investors will maintain a cautious and conservative approach, only 

considering high-quality and impactful investments and seizing 

opportunities that have a solid foundation in the market to achieve risk 

diversification. Changes in investment sentiment will also result in 

fluctuations in the evaluation of real estate investment and fixed income 

investment returns.

A detailed review of the Group’s operations this year is set out in the 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” section on pages 14 to 24 of 

this annual report.

The Group continues to carry out effective internal control measures, 

comply with overall corporate governance practices and maintain 

proper corporate communicat ions with investors and other 

stakeholders. Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices 

and corporate social responsibilities are included in the “Corporate 

Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance 

Report”.

14 24
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Directors’ Statement

The Group remains optimistic about the economic benefits to be 

brought by our property development projects competitive edges 

through its expertise resources and privileged natural environment. 

Leveraging on the effective risk management and internal control 

systems, the Group is staying particular alert to market value volatility 

of our investment portfolios. Supported by decades of remarkable 

operation of the printing business, the Group is seeking further 

business development in growth-enhancing investment opportunities in 

various industries.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to take this opportunity to 

express our gratitude to our shareholders, customers and partners for 

their continuous support and confidence in the Group, as well as our 

appreciation to our executives and staff for their dedication and 

contribution during the past year.

Your faithfully,

On behalf of the Board of

Magnus Concordia Group Limited

Mou Li
Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of financial performance

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a consolidated 

revenue of approximately HK$417 million (2022: HK$1,587 million), 

representing a decrease of 74% from the last year. The drop in revenue 

was mainly resulted from the decrease in sales of residential units of a 

property development project in Zigong City.

However, the Group’s gross profit increased by 2% from the last 

corresponding year to approximately HK$58 million (2022: HK$57 

million). The Group’s gross margin rose to 14% (2022: 4%) of the 

consolidated revenue, as a result of higher gross margin recorded from 

the high-end residential villas sold in Zigong City. The printing business 

was able to expand its gross margin to 20% (2022: 18%) after 

spending efforts to lower the production costs.

During the year under review, a provision for impairment of stock of 

properties of approximately HK$317 million (2022: 418 million) was 

charged to the consolidated income statement for the property 

development project in Zigong City. Liquidity issues of numerous 

property developers continued to arise during the current financial year 

and the market-cooling regulatory measures had scaled down the 

overall real estate market in Mainland China leading to a year-on-year 

drop in contracted residential property sales. Property developers of 

non-first-tier cities reacted by offering price discount to spur property 

sales and recoup cash. Consequently, the estimated gross margin of 

our high-end residential villas and car parks in Zigong City was being 

particularly affected and resulted in an excess of carrying values of the 

properties over their recoverable amounts. Accordingly, a provision for 

impairment on the stock of properties was made as at 31 March 2023 

in accordance with the relevant accounting policies of the Company.

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses dropped to approximately 

HK$24 million (2022: HK$58 million), which correlated to the decrease 

in revenue during the year. The administrative and other operating 

expenses maintained the same level of approximately HK$53 million 

(2022: HK$53 million).

4.17 15.87

74%

2% 5,800

5,700

14%

4%

20% 18%

3.17 4.18

2,400

5,800

5,300 5,300
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of financial performance (Continued)

The Group’s other income, expense and net losses, impairment of 

accounts receivable and fair value change of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss amounted to a net loss of approximately 

HK$24 million (2022: HK$22 million). The amount mainly included the 

fair value drop on mark-to-market valuation of quoted bonds portfolio 

of approximately HK$0.3 million (2022: HK$12 million), impairment of 

accounts receivable of approximately HK$3 mill ion (2022:nil), 

impairment of prepayments of approximately HK$6 million (2022: nil), 

write-down on other non-current assets of approximately HK$0.2 

mill ion (2022: HK$7 million) and termination benefits costs of 

approximately HK$3 million (2022: HK$6 million).

The fair value gain from revaluation of investment properties as at 31 

March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$2 million (2022: loss of 

approximately HK$41 million). The market values of certain investment 

properties as at 31 March 2023 were being improved by the positive 

market sentiment resulting from the lifting of all of the temporary 

quarantine measures for the novel coronavirus.

The Group’s finance costs amounted to approximately HK$3 million 

(2022: HK$2 million), which were mainly related to interest charged by 

bank borrowings to finance the general working capital of the Group 

during the year.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a loss before tax of 

approximately HK$361 million (2022: HK$536 million), which was 

attributed to the following operating segments and factors:

(i) Property development — loss of approximately HK$330 million 

(2022: HK$459 million);

(ii) Printing business — loss of approximately HK$3 million (2022: 

profit of approximately HK$4 million);

(iii) Property investment — profit of approximately HK$5 million (2022: 

loss of approximately HK$39 million);

(iv) Treasury — loss of approximately HK$2 million (2022: HK$11 

million);

(v) Net unallocated expenses of approximately HK$28 million (2022: 

HK$29 million); and

(vi) Finance costs of approximately HK$3 million (2022: HK$2 

million).

2,400
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of financial performance (Continued)

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 

approximately HK$353 million (2022: HK$270 million), and loss per 

share was 6.11 HK cents (2022: 4.67 HK cents). The increase in the 

Group’s loss was mainly affected by the net loss after tax of 

approximately HK$323 million (2022: HK$242 million) of the property 

development business, mainly resulting from the provision for 

impairment of stock of properties made as at 31 March 2023 for the 

property development project in Zigong City.

Review of financial position

Regarding the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2023, total 

assets decreased by 34% to approximately HK$1,004 million (2022: 

HK$1,528 million), which was mainly due to the recognition of carrying 

costs of stock of properties to costs of properties sold arising from the 

scheduled bulk delivery of presold properties during the year and the 

provision for impairment of stock of properties made as at 31 March 

2023 for the property development project in Zigong City. As at 31 

March 2023, net current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$113 

million (2022: net current assets of approximately HK$246 million), 

whereas current ratio deriving from the ratio of current assets to current 

liabilities amounted to 0.83 times (2022: 1.30 times). Such changes 

were affected by the provision for impairment of stock of properties 

made as at 31 March 2023 for the property development project in 

Zigong City.

The net cash outflow from operating activities was approximately 

HK$35 million (2022: HK$16 million). The net cash inflow from investing 

activities was approximately HK$13 million (2022: net cash outflow of 

approximately HK$30 million). Taking into account the net cash inflow 

from financing activities of approximately HK$6 million (2022: net cash 

outflow of approximately HK$51 million), the Group recorded a net 

decrease in cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$16 million 

(2022: HK$97 million). After accounting for the exchange loss on cash 

and cash equivalents of approximately HK$1 million during the year 

under review, the balance of cash and cash equivalents amounted to 

approximately HK$37 million as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$54 

million).

Shareholders’ funds attributable to owners of the Company decreased 

by 59% to approximately HK$265 million (2022: HK$653 million), 

representing HK$0.05 per share (2022: HK$0.11 per share) as at 31 

March 2023. The change in equity was resulted from the net loss for 

the year of approximately HK$353 million (2022: HK$270 million), and 

after net of the Renminbi exchange loss arising from translation of 

foreign operations of approximately HK$34 million (2022: exchange 

gain from translation of approximately HK$24 million) during the year 

under review.

3.53
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of operations and business 
development

Property development business

The property development business involves the development, sale 

and trading of real estate properties principally in Mainland China. It 

recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$330 million (2022: 

HK$459 million) for the year. The operating loss was mainly resulted 

from the provision for impairment of stock of properties relating to the 

high-end residential villas and car parks of approximately HK$317 

million (2022: 418 million) for the property development project in 

Zigong City, as being affected by the liquidity crisis of property 

developers to recoup cash by lowering price. The project contributed 

revenue of approximately HK$225 million (2022: HK$1,327 million) to 

the Group, which was generated from the delivery of residential units 

with gross floor area of approximately 17,000 square meters (“sq m”) 

(2022: 186,000 sq m) during the year.

On 1 August 2019, the Group acquired a residential property 

development business containing three plots of land forming part of the 

Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project ( ), located in the 

high-tech industrial development zone of the Yanluyu District of Wolong 

Lake in Zigong City, Sichuan Province, the PRC (

). Despite the gross floor 

area of approximately 190,000 sq m being sold and delivered before 

the date of acquisition, the three plots of land have an aggregate 

remaining gross floor area of approximately 500,000 sq m available for 

sales recognition subsequent to 1 August 2019. As at 31 March 2023, 

out of this gross floor area of approximately 500,000 sq m, completed 

residential units with gross floor area of approximately 475,000 sq m 

had been delivered to customers. As at 31 March 2023, the total 

carrying value of the completed properties for sale and properties 

under development in Zigong City amounted to approximately HK$366 

million (2022: HK$692 million).

3.30

4.59

3.17

4.18

2.25

13.27

17,000

186,000

·

190,000

500,000

500,000

475,000

3.66

6.92
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of operations and business 
development (Continued)

Property development business (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group also held 15 (2022: 18) units of 

residential villas for sale at the estate Ju Hao Shan Zhuang (also known 

as Beverly Hills) situated in Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC, 

with total gross floor area of approximately 4,700 sq m (2022: 5,600 sq 

m) and carrying value of approximately HK$44 million (2023: HK$57 

million). 3 units of residential villas with gross floor area of approximately 

900 sq m had been sold during the year and contributed revenue of 

approximately HK$10 million (2022: nil) to the Group. The management 

has negotiated with potential customers for sales of the properties and 

some negotiations are close to conclusion. With reference to the latest 

regional urban planning and development of Changsha City, the 

management is optimistic about the prospects of these higher-end 

residential properties and expects to bring substantial yield to the 

Group.

Benefiting from the expertise of our residential development projects, 

the Group is exploring business opportunities for the property 

development business.

Printing business

The printing business includes the manufacture and sale of printed 

products, including art books, packaging boxes and children’s books, 

with the production facilities located in Huizhou City, Guangdong 

Province, the PRC. It recorded an operating loss of approximately 

HK$3 million (2022: operating profit of approximately HK$4 million) for 

the year under review.

Under the influence of the soft demand of printed products resulting 

from the decelerating economic growth momentum under the high 

inflationary environment in Europe and the United States of America, 

the revenue of the pr int ing business recorded a decl ine to 

approximately HK$175 million (2022: HK$248 million) for the year 

under review. However, the gross margin compared to last financial 

year was improved by adopting various cost control measures and by 

enhancing its competit ive edge in innovative design, quality 

management and production resources. The management also reacts 

promptly to reduce the market challenges to a minimum by devising 

various modernized sourcing, manufacturing, distribution, logistics and 

market segmentation solutions.

The management remains cautiously optimistic about the growth 

momentum in the global book printing and paper packaging markets, 

and appropriate risk management and prompt business deployment 

have been carried out to channel threats into growth opportunities.

15 18
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Review of operations and business 
development (Continued)

Property investment business

The property investment business involves the investment and leasing 

of real estate properties, which recorded an operating gain of 

approximately HK$5 million (2022: operating loss of approximately 

HK$39 million) for the year under review. The gain was mainly resulted 

from the unrealised revaluation gain of the investment properties 

located in Hong Kong and Mainland China of approximately HK$2 

million (2022: loss of approximately HK$41 million), which their market 

values as at 31 March 2023 were improved by the positive market 

sentiment resulting from lifting of all of the temporary quarantine 

measures for the novel coronavirus.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held the following investment 

properties carried at fair market value of approximately HK$399 million 

(2022: HK$407 mil l ion), which contr ibuted rental income of 

approximately HK$6 million (2022: HK$9 million) during the year:

Location Gross Floor Area Usage

   

Investment properties in Hong Kong

Shop B, Ground Floor, Wuhu Residence, No. 111 Wuhu Street, Hunghom, Kowloon 1,014 square feet

(“sq ft”)

Commercial

111 B 1,014

Shop D, Ground Floor, Wuhu Residence, No. 111 Wuhu Street, Hunghom, Kowloon 1,293 sq ft Commercial

111 D 1,293

Shops 3, 4, 5, Parkes Residence, No. 101 Parkes Street, Kowloon 2,090 sq ft Commercial

101 · 3 4 5 2,090

Investment properties in Mainland China

Level 6, Chengdu Digital Plaza, No. 1 Renmin South Road Fourth Portion,

 Wuhou District, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, the PRC

4,255 sq m Commercial

1 6 4,255

Units 01, 02, 03, 06 and 07, 38th Floor, R&F Yingkai Square, No. 16 Huaxia Road, 

Tianhe District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

895 sq m Office

16 38 01 02 03

06 07

895
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Review of operations and business 
development (Continued)

Property investment business (Continued)

The Group remains cautiously optimistic about the prospect of the 

property investment business. The portfolio of investment properties 

was acquired for long term investment purpose so as to provide a 

stable income stream to the Group. The Group keeps on monitoring 

the capital change and rental yields of the portfolio and considers to 

rebalance the investment portfolio when ideal opportunities arise.

Treasury business

The treasury business involves the investment and trading of debts, 

equity and other treasury instruments, as well as the licensed regulated 

activities namely advising on securities (Type 4) and asset management 

(Type 9) under the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the 

Law of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong commenced during the year. An 

operating loss of approximately HK$2 million (2022: HK$11 million) was 

recorded for the year under review, which was mainly affected by an 

unrealised fair value loss of mark-to-market valuation of the corporate 

bonds portfolio as at 31 March 2023 of approximately HK$0.3 million 

(2022: HK$12 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held high-yield listed corporate bonds 

carried at mark-to-market valuation of approximately HK$1 million 

(2022: HK$2 million), equivalent to approximately 0.1% (2022: 0.1%) of 

the Group’s total assets. Considering the high volatility in returns of the 

fixed-income market during the year, the Group had strategically 

reduced the investment portfolio of corporate bonds. The corporate 

bonds held by the Group as at 31 March 2023 represented bonds 

issued by a Hong Kong listed property developer.

The Group remains cautious in monitoring the investment portfolio’s 

underlying price risk and credit risk by adopting an optimal risk-return 

balance investment strategy. In order to capture opportunities in the 

Hong Kong asset management market emerging from being a leading 

global financial hub within the Greater Bay Area, the Group is exploring 

into the financial and asset management services markets.
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Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total assets amounted to 

approximately HK$1,004 million (2022: HK$1,528 million), which were 

financed by shareholders’ funds and various credit facilities. Banking 

facilities are maintained to finance the Group’s working capital and 

committed capital expenditures, which bear interest at market rate with 

contractual terms of repayment ranging from within one year to five 

years. The Group adopts a treasury policy to maximize the return on 

equity, which manages the funding requirements for new capital 

projects by considering all available options including a hybrid of debt 

and equity financing.

The Group mainly generated income and incurred costs in Hong Kong 

dollar, Renminbi and United States dollar. During the year, no financial 

instruments had been used for hedging purpose, and no foreign 

currency net investments had been hedged by currency borrowings or 

other hedging instruments. The Group manages the exposures of 

fluctuation on exchange rate and interest rate on individual transaction 

basis.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s bank and other borrowings 

amounted to approximately HK$189 million (2022: HK$175 million) 

including bank borrowings approximately HK$161 million (2022: 

HK$175 million) which were repayable on demand or within one year. 

The bank borrowings bore interest at floating rate, approximately 

HK$157 million (2022: HK$166 million) of which were denominated in 

Hong Kong dollar, approximately HK$3 million (2022: HK$9 million) of 

which were denominated in Renminbi and approximately HK$1 million 

(2022: HK$0.1 million) of which were denominated in United States 

dollar. The Group’s gearing ratio was 0.71 (2022: 0.27), which was 

calculated based on the ratio of total bank and other borrowings of 

approximately HK$189 mil l ion (2022: HK$175 mil l ion) to the 

shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$265 million (2022: HK$653 

million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and 

restricted bank balances amounted to approximately HK$37 million 

(2022: HK$54 million) and approximately HK$1 million (2022: HK$15 

million) respectively. Approximately HK$20 million (2022: HK$25 million) 

of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank balances 

were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, approximately HK$3 million 

(2022: HK$9 million) were denominated in United States dollar, 

approximately HK$15 million (2022: HK$34 million) were denominated 

in Renminbi and approximately HK$0.2 million (2022: HK$1 million) 

were denominated in other currencies. As at 31 March 2023, the 

Group had a net debt position (being bank and other borrowings net of 

cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank balances) of 

approximately HK$151 million (2022: HK$106 million).
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Outlook

Looking ahead to 2023, it is expected that inflation will continue to 

remain at a high level, and interest rates will also remain relatively high. 

Global economic growth is projected to continue slowing down, with 

some major economies facing risks of recession. Despite the Chinese 

government’s implementation of measures to support stable economic 

and real estate development, it will take time for consumer housing 

market to be reinvigorated and confidence in economic recovery to be 

restored, thus posing challenges to Mainland China’s economic 

growth.

However, the Group also takes into consideration the significant 

improvement in the COVID-19 situation in Mainland China, adjustments 

in epidemic prevention and control policies, as well as factors such as 

comprehensive clearance between Hong Kong and Mainland China, 

which have a positive impact on economic and real estate market 

recovery. These factors are expected to gradually boost Mainland 

China’s macroeconomic and real estate market.

Although economic recovery is expected, the Group believes that 

investors will maintain a cautious and conservative approach, only 

considering high-quality and impactful investments and seizing 

opportunities that have a solid foundation in the market to achieve risk 

diversification. Changes in investment sentiment will also result in 

fluctuations in the evaluation of real estate investment and fixed income 

investment returns.

The Group remains optimistic about the economic benefits to be 

brought by our property development projects competitive edges 

through its expertise resources and privileged natural environment. 

Leveraging on the effective risk management and internal control 

systems, the Group is staying particular alert to market value volatility 

of our investment portfolios. Supported by decades of remarkable 

operation of the printing business, we are seeking further business 

development in growth-enhancing investment opportunities of various 

industries.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided financial guarantees in 

respect of mortgage loans made by certain banks to certain purchasers 

of the properties in the PRC, either directly provided to the banks or to 

the housing provident fund management center who arranged the 

bank mortgage, which amounted to approximately HK$1,061 million 

(2022: HK$1,369 million).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group pledged certain assets including right-

of-use assets and owned assets under property, plant and equipment, 

investment properties and accounts receivable with an aggregate 

carrying value of approximately HK$297 million (2022: HK$289 million) 

to secure bank facilities of the Group. The bank facilities of the Group 

are also secured by charges over equity interests in certain subsidiaries 

of the Group.

Commitments

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have capital expenditure 

contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial 

statements (2022: nil).

Environmental, Social and Compliance Matters

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, 

compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements of the business 

operations and the key relationships with its employees, customers, 

suppliers and others that have significant impact on the Group are 

provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” as set 

out on pages 70 to 132 of this annual report.

During the year under review, the Group had complied with all the 

relevant laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the 

businesses and operations of the Group. As far as the Board and 

management are aware, there was no material breach of or non-

compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that 

has a significant impact on the businesses and operations of the 

Group.
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37 3

70 132

120,000,000

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

As stated in the enterprise risk management framework of the 

“Corporate Governance Report”, the Group has assessed and 

identified key risks in terms of strategic, operational and financial 

aspects facing the Group in accordance with the likelihood of their 

occurrence and the significance of their impact on the business of the 

Group. An effective risk management system is in place to manage the 

key r isks and response plans have been evaluated by the 

management.

Certain financial risks and uncertainties about significant accounting 

judgements and estimates are also set out in notes 37 and 3, 

respectively to the consolidated financial statements in this annual 

report.

Certain environmental and social related risks have been described in 

the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” as set out on 

pages 70 to 132 of this annual report.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of 
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal of 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 

March 2023.

Event After the Reporting Period

In respect of the bank borrowing of HK$120,000,000 which the Group 

breached financial covenant during the year, the Group has obtained a 

one-off waiver from the bank on 15 June 2023 for the financial 

covenant of the aforesaid bank borrowings that throughout the life of 

the facility, the Group agrees and undertakes to the bank that its 

consolidated tangible net worth shall not at any time be less than a 

certain level. The repayment schedules of the borrowing and the 

repayment on demand clause remain unchanged. According to the 

further request from the bank, the Group is required to apply for waiver 

before the Group’s next interim result announcement for the 6 months 

ending 30 September 2023.
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* For identification purpose only *

Executive Directors

Ms. Mou Li

Ms. Mou Li (“Ms. Mou”), aged 38, was appointed as an executive 

Director on 1 March 2023. She is also a member of the Nomination 

Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms. 

Mou has more than 15 years of experience in corporate finance and 

futures contracts industry. Before she joined the Company, she was 

the compliance and risk control officer of Hangzhou Hongyiwanying 

Private Placement Fund Management Company Limited* (

). She was the general manager of Qianhai 

Futures Company Limited Sichuan Branch* (

) from 2018 to 2022. Ms. Mou holds a diploma in Finance 

awarded by the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in 

Sichuan Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Mr. Liang Fan

Mr. Liang Fan (“Mr. Liang”), aged 42, was appointed as an executive 

Director on 13 April 2022. Mr. Liang has been working as the Group 

general manager of Zigong Zhongzhi Cultural Tourism Investment 

Company Limited*  (“Zhongzhi”), 

which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since December 

2021. Prior to joining Zhongzhi, he worked as the general manager of 

Hainan Haili Private Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd.* 

 from June 2021 to November 2021, a fund 

manager of Tibet Link Up Investment Management Co., Ltd.* 

 from September 2019 to January 2021, and 

had worked as the chief business manager and later a senior business 

manager of the corporate finance department of Sichuan Branch of 

CITIC Securities Co., Ltd. from November 2006 to June 2019. Mr. 

Liang obtained an electronic information engineering graduate 

qualification from the University of Electronic Science and Technology 

of China in 2006. Mr. Liang is experienced in corporate management, 

fund investment and management, mergers and acquisitions and 

corporate finance.

38

15

42
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56

53

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Huang Zhidan

Mr. Huang Zhidan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 56, was appointed as an 

executive Director on 15 July 2022. He has in-depth knowledge and 

experience in corporate finance. He is the chief operational officer of 

Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. and the 

Chairman of SFund International Investment Fund Management Limited 

(“SFund International”), substantial shareholders of the Company, since 

September 2021. Prior to joining SFund International, Mr. Huang was a 

party committee member of China Zheshang Bank Guangzhou Branch 

(“China Zheshang Bank”) from June 2015 to September 2020 and vice 

president of China Zheshang Bank from June 2016 to September 

2020. He also held multiple roles in various commercial banks including 

the leader of the founding committee, party secretary and president of 

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai Branch from July 2009 to June 2015. 

Prior to that, he also worked in Bank of China. He obtained a 

postgraduate degree in economic management from GuangDong 

Academy of Social Sciences in 2002.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Jianfeng

Mr. Xu Jianfeng (“Mr. Xu”), aged 53, was appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee 

on 26 January 2022. Mr. Xu has been the senior partner of Sichuan 

Yongdaohe Certif ied Public Accountants Co., Ltd (“Sichuan 

Yongdaohe CPA”) since 2005, and in charge of corporate auditing, 

accounting consultation, corporate investment and mergers and 

acquisitions. Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from 

Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in 2003 

and a bachelor’s degree in law from Sichuan University in the PRC in 

2007. Mr. Xu is also a certified public accountant*  in the 

PRC, a certified internal auditor* , a certified 

public valuer*  in the PRC, a certified real estate 

appraiser*  in the PRC and a certified human 

resources professional, Grade 1* , in the 

PRC.

* For identification purpose only *
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52

Independent Non-Executive Directors 
(Continued)

Mr. Xu Jianfeng (Continued)

Mr. Xu has extensive experience in corporate financial management, 

corporate investment and financing and corporate governance. Before 

joining Sichuan Yongdaohe CPA, he worked in Sichuan Tianyuan 

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd from 2001 to 2005, and his last 

position was the senior manager. From 1990 to 2001, Mr. Xu served 

as the audit section officer of the Second Light Industry Bureau of 

Rong County, Sichuan Province*  (currently 

known as Economy, Commerce and Information Technology Bureau of 

Rong County, Sichuan Province* ). 

Mr. Xu is currently the executive chairman of the domestic advisory 

committee of Chinese Relief & Development Foundation, Sichuan 

Province* , the president of 

Guoyang Charity Fund Working Committee, Sichuan Province* 

, the chairman of Guoyang Health 

Industry Investment Co., Ltd., Sichuan Province* 

, the chairman of Guoyang Investment 

Management Co., Ltd., Sichuan Province* 

, and the chairman of Chengdu Guoyang Holiday Agriculture Co., 

Ltd.* .

Mr. Wang Zhengjun

Mr. Wang Zhengjun (“Mr. Wang”), aged 52, was appointed as an 

independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination 

Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the 

Remuneration Committee on 26 January 2022. Mr. Wang serves as 

the Dean of the Dongwei Research Institute of Beijing Dongwei Law 

Firm from 2021 and is mainly responsible for negotiating commercial 

litigation cases, commercial bankruptcy cases, corporate mergers and 

acquisitions and reorganisation, advising legal opinions, research on 

legal professional issues and conducting legal case studies.

Mr. Wang possess years of experience in enterprise operation and 

management. Before joining Beijing Dongwei Law Firm, Mr. Wang 

served in Law Press China from 2013 to 2020 and his last position was 

the deputy general manager and the sales director. Mr. Wang worked 

in China Legal Books Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2012 and his last position 

was the chairman of the board and the general manager.

* For identification purpose only *
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Independent Non-Executive Directors 
(Continued)

Mr. Wang Zhengjun (Continued)

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the School 

of Economics, Renmin University of China in 1994. He received a 

master’s degree from the Law School of Renmin University of China in 

2000.

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (“Mr. Liu”), aged 39, was appointed as an 

independent non-executive Director on 25 November 2022. He is also 

a member and the chairman of the audit committee, a member of the 

nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee 

of the Company,

Mr. Liu has more than 16 years of experience in the field of audit and 

assurance. He founded Zhong Pu Risk Management Limited (“Zhong 

Pu”), a company which provides business advisory, consultancy and 

taxation services in 2017 and has been a director of Zhong Pu since 

then. Since July 2022, Mr. Liu has been an independent non-executive 

director of Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the shares of which 

are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”))(stock code: 932). Since August 2021, Mr. Liu has been an 

independent non-executive director of MIE Holdings Corporation (the 

shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange)(stock code: 1555). 

Since November 2019, Mr. Liu has also been the company secretary 

of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock 

Exchange)(stock code: 8532). Prior to founding Zhong Pu, Mr. Liu 

worked as an assurance manager and senior associate at 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited from 2014 to 2016 and 2010 to 

2012, respectively, a finance manager at Wong’s Kong King 

International (Holdings) Limited (the shares of which are listed on the 

Stock Exchange) (stock code: 532) from 2012 to 2013, and also at 

Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited (an accounting firm 

which has been merged into BDO Limited) from 2006 to 2009, with his 

last position as a senior associate. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor’s 

Degree in Business Administration from Lingnan University in Hong 

Kong and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants since 2010.
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• 7

Senior Management

Mr. Cheung Chun Sau Conrad (“Mr. Cheung”) was appointed as the 

Chief Financial Officer of the Company in August 2022. He is 

responsible for the financial management and treasury functions of the 

Group and acts as the coordinator for the internal audit, internal 

control, and risk management functions of the Group in relation to 

corporate governance compliance.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in 

Accountancy and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants. He has over 10 years of experience in financial 

management, accounting and auditing, including specialties in Initial 

Public Offerings and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Cheung has worked 

for several international accounting firms, with a 7-year tenure at 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
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Introduction

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate 

governance that properly protects and promotes the interests of its 

shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the “Corporate 

Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the 

Stock Exchange.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 March 

2023, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in 

the CG Code.

Linkage between corporate governance and 
environment, social and governance

Corporate governance can be considered as the framework within 

which the Board forms their decisions and develop their businesses. 

The Board’s focus is on creating long-term sustainable growth for the 

shareholders and delivering long-term values to the stakeholders.

An effective corporate governance structure allows the Group to have 

a better understanding of, evaluate and manage risks, including 

environment, social and governance (“ESG”) risks. The Board is 

responsible for setting strategic objectives for risk management, 

implementing risk management values, evaluating and approving risk 

management policies, ensuring effective and adequacy of the risk 

management system.

For the principal risks faced by the Group’s business, please refer to 

“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” set out in section “Management 

Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

For the details of environmental, social and governance matters for the 

year ended 31 March 2023, please refer to the “Environmental, Social 

and Governance Report” as set out on pages 70 to 132 of this annual 

report.

ESG

2023 3 31

70 132
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(A) The Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing the business and 

strategies of the Group with the objective of enhancing value for 

its shareholders. The Board determines business plans and 

budgets, regularly reviews the Group’s financial performance and 

monitors the Group’s management. To cult ivate good 

governance, the Board also reviews the Group’s operation and 

policies from time to time.

(i) Board Composition

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each 

Director having sound knowledge, experience and/or 

expertise relevant to the business of the Group. The Board 

has on a regular basis reviewed the composition of the 

Board and the skills and experience required for both the 

executive and non-executive Directors, in the context of the 

business and strategies of the Group.

The composition of the Board as at 31 March 2023 and up 

to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Names Positions

  

Ms. Mou Li (appointed on 1 March 2023) Executive Director

Mr. Liang Fan (appointed on 13 April 2022) Executive Director

Mr. Huang Zhidan (appointed on 15 July 2022) Executive Director

 Ms. Au Hoi Lee Janet (resigned on 15 July 2022) Executive Director

 Ms. Zeng Zhu (resigned on 1 March 2023) Executive Director

Mr. Xu Jianfeng Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Zhengjun Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (appointed on 25 November 2022) Independent Non-executive Director

 Mr. Ho Man (retired on 31 August 2022) Independent Non-executive Director

Biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in 

the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and 

Senior Management” of this annual report. None of the 

existing members of the Board nor the senior management 

of the Company is related to one another.

(A) 

(i) 
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(A) 

(ii) 

(A) The Board (Continued)

(ii) Board Meetings

Arrangements were in place to ensure that sufficient notice 

and adequate information were given to each Director prior 

to the Board meetings. The Company’s company secretary 

and senior management assist the Directors in preparing 

the agenda for meetings and ensure that all applicable rules 

and regulations are complied with. The Directors are able 

to seek independent professional advice in performing their 

dut ies at the Company’s expense in appropr iate 

circumstances or upon their request.

Minutes of Board and committees meetings were kept in 

sufficient details to reflect the decisions made in the 

relevant meetings and were available for inspection by the 

Directors.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year. 

Special meeting of the Board will be convened whenever 

necessary. The Board has held thirteen meetings during 

the year under review. The table below sets out the number 

of meetings of the Board and its committees, individual 

attendance by the Board and committee members at these 

meetings and the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) 

during the year under review.
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(A) 

(ii) 

1. C.2.7

C.2.7

(A) The Board (Continued)

(ii) Board Meetings (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings 

held during the year is as follows:

Name of Directors Board Meetings

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration
 Committee

 Meetings

Audit
 Committee 

Meetings AGM

Chairman and 
Independent 

Non-executive 
Directors
 Meeting1

1
        

Number of meeting(s) attended/held

Executive Directors
Ms. Mou Li (appointed on 1 March 2023) 0/0 0/0 0/0 N/A 0/0 0/0

Mr. Liang Fan (appointed on 13 April 2022) 11/11 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A

Mr. Huang Zhidan (appointed on 

 15 July 2022)

2/7 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A

 Ms. Zeng Zhu (resigned on 1 March 2023) 12/13 5/6 3/3 N/A 1/1 1/1

 Ms. Au Hoi Lee Janet (resigned on 

  15 July 2022)

4/6 3/4 0/1 N/A 0/0 N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jianfeng 12/12 6/6 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Mr. Wang Zhengjun 12/12 6/6 3/3 3/3 1/1 1/1

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (appointed on 

 25 November 2022)

2/2 1/1 1/1 3/3 0/0 0/0

 Mr. Ho Man (retired on 31 August 2022) 8/8 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1

Note:

1. Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman of the Board (the 

“Chairman”) should at least annually hold meetings with the 

independent non-executive directors without the presence of other 

directors. Since the roles of the Company’s Chairman and chief 

executive officer have been performed by the executive Directors on 

a collective basis, Ms. Zeng Zhu served the role of Chairman to hold 

a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors during the 

year. The Board believes that the Company has complied with the 

code provision C.2.7.
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(A) 

(iii) 

C.2.1

(iv) 

(A) The Board (Continued)

(iii) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the 

roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be 

separate and should not be performed by the same 

individual.

During the year, the roles of the Company’s Chairman and 

chief executive officer have been performed by the 

executive Directors on a collective basis.

The Board believes that the aforesaid arrangement 

provided the Company with flexibility and allowed for 

effective and efficient planning and implementation of 

business decisions and strategies. The Board also 

considers that the above-mentioned arrangement did not 

impair the balance of power and authority between the 

Board and the management of the Company. The Board 

will review the current practice from time to time and make 

appropriate changes if necessary.

(iv) Appointment, Re-election and Removal of 
Directors

The procedures and process of the appointment, re-

election and removal of Directors are laid down in the 

Company’s Articles of Association. In accordance with the 

Company’s Articles of Association and the Listing Rules, at 

each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, 

including those appointed for a specific term, for the time 

being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, 

then the number nearest to, but not exceeding, one-third, 

shall retire from office by rotation, provided that all the 

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation no later than 

the third annual general meeting of the Company after he/

she was last elected or re-elected. Besides, any new 

Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition 

to the Board shall hold office only until the first general 

meeting after appointment and are eligible for re-election. 

All retiring Directors are eligible for re-election by the 

shareholders at the respective general meetings.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for 

an initial term of two years, subject to retirement by rotation 

as aforesaid.
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(A) 

(v) 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(A) The Board (Continued)

(v) Nomination Committee

A nomination committee was established by the Company 

(the “Nomination Committee”) with clear terms of reference. 

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee 

include reviewing the Board composition, a board diversity 

policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and a 

nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) 

on a regular basis, recommending any proposed changes 

to the Board for approval, and assessing the independence 

of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive 

Director, Ms. Mou Li, and three independent non-executive 

Directors, Mr. Wang Zhengjun, Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Mr. 

Xu Jianfeng, with Mr. Wang Zhengjun acting as the 

chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination 

Committee is summarized as follows:

— reviewed the structure, size, composition and 

diversity of the Board;

— considered and recommended to the Board on the 

re-election of the retiring Directors at the Company’s 

2022 annual general meeting;

— assessed the independence of each independent 

non-executive Director; and

— reviewed the terms of reference for the Nomination 

Committee, the Nomination Policy and the Board 

Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee held six meetings during the 

year. The Nomination Committee considered that an 

appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board 

is maintained and will continue to achieve the measurable 

objective to implement the Board Diversity Policy. The 

attendance record of the members at the Nomination 

Committee meeting is set out in the table under “The 

Board” section.
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(A) 

(vi) 

(a) (b)

(c)

(d)

(vii) 

(A) The Board (Continued)

(vi) Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted in January 2019. In 

accordance with the Nomination Policy, the Nomination 

Committee shall consider, among other things, the 

following factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed 

candidate: (a) reputation for integrity; (b) qualifications, 

skills, experience and independence that the candidate can 

bring to the Board in all its aspects; (c) commitment in 

respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the 

Company’s business; and (d) the Board Diversity Policy. 

The Nomination Committee has discretion to nominate any 

person, as it considers appropriate. Proposed candidates 

will be asked to submit the necessary personal information, 

together with their written consent to be appointed as a 

director and to the public disclosure of their personal data 

on any documents or relevant websites in relation to their 

nomination or otherwise pursuant to applicable legal and 

regulatory requirements. The Nomination Committee may 

request candidates to provide additional information and 

documents, if considered necessary. The Nomination 

Policy is available on the website of the Company.

(vii) Board Diversity

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has 

the appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience 

and diversity of perspectives that are required to support 

the execution of its business strategy for sustainable and 

balanced development.
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(A) 

(vii) 

2023 3 31

(A) The Board (Continued)

(vii) Board Diversity (Continued)

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted in September 

2013 and revised in January 2019. The Nomination 

Committee is delegated the authority, amongst other 

things, to review and assess the diversity of the Board and 

recommend suitable candidate to the Board on the 

appointment or re-appointment of directors. In designing 

the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee shall 

consider a number of factors, including but not limited to 

gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional 

experience and skills and shall also take into account 

factors based on the Company’s own business model and 

specific needs. The Nomination Committee shall review 

and assess the structure, size, composition of the Board 

from time to time and make recommendations to the Board 

for implementing diversity with adequate consideration of 

the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate.

The select ion of candidates wi l l  be based on the 

Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy. The 

ultimate decision shall be based on a merit basis against 

objective criteria and contribution that the candidate will 

bring to the Board. The Company values gender diversity 

and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity 

at all levels of our Company, including but without limitation 

at the Board and senior management levels, to enhance 

the effectiveness of our corporate governance as a whole. 

Taking into account of our existing business model and the 

background and experience of our Directors, the 

Nomination Committee considered that the composition of 

the Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy. The Board 

Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company.

The Company’s measurable objective is to achieve not less 

than one-sixth of the Board comprising of females and not 

less than one-third of our workforce (including senior 

management) comprising of females.

As at 31 March 2023, there is one-sixth of the Board 

members comprising of females while there is about one-

half of our workforce (including senior management) 

comprising of females.
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(A) 

(viii) 

(ix) 

(A) The Board (Continued)

(viii) Responsibilities of Directors

Each Director is required to keep abreast of his/her 

responsibilities as a Director and each Director is provided 

in a timely manner with appropriate information of the 

Group to enable him/her to make an informed decision and 

to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities as a 

Director. On appointment, new Director will be given a 

comprehensive induction to the Group’s business. 

Directors ensure that they give sufficient time and attention 

to the Company’s affairs. Appropriate insurance coverage 

in respect of legal action against the Directors is arranged 

by the Company.

(ix) Directors’ and Relevant Employees’ 
Dealings in Securities

The Company has adopted the model code for securities 

transactions by directors of listed issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as 

the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in securities 

of the Company by the Directors. In response to specific 

enquiries by the Company, all the Directors confirmed that 

they have complied with the required standard set out in 

the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 

2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines and 

adopted the Model Code (collectively, the “Guidelines”) to 

govern securities transactions by employees who are likely 

to possess inside information of the Company and/or its 

securities. No incident of non-compliance with the 

Guidelines by relevant employees was noted by the 

Company.
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(A) 

(x) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

3.13

(A) The Board (Continued)

(x) Independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the 

Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to 

the Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are 

committed to assessing the Directors’ independence 

annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the 

Independent Non-executive Directors including the 

following:

• required character, integrity, expertise, experience 

and stability to fulfill their roles;

• time commitment and attention to the Company’s 

affairs;

• firm commitment to their independent roles and to 

the Board;

• declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as 

Independent Non-executive Directors;

• cross directorships or significant links with other 

Directors;

• no involvement in the daily management of the 

Company nor in any relationship or circumstances 

which would affect the exercise of their independent 

judgement;

• further reappointment of an Independent Non-

executive Director ( including the long-serving 

Independent Non-executive Director) is subject to a 

separate  reso lu t ion to  be approved by the 

shareholders; and

• a designated director served as role of Chairman to 

meet with the Independent Non-executive Directors 

regularly.

The Company has received, from each of the independent 

non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Ying Shun, Mr. Xu 

Jianfeng and Mr. Wang Zhengjun, an annual confirmation 

of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing 

Rules.
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(A) 

(x) 

(A) The Board (Continued)

(x) Independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors (Continued)

The Company considers all of the independent non-

executive Directors are independent in l ight of the 

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee and the Board have also taken 

into account the respective contributions to the Board of 

the Independent Non-executive Directors and their firm 

commitments to their independent roles.

The wide breath of knowledge and diversity of their 

experiences make each of the Independent Non-executive 

Directors invaluable members of, and active contributors, 

to the Board. Moreover, they do not hold any cross-

directorships or have any significant links with other 

Directors through involvement in other companies or 

bodies that could give rise to conflicts of interest in their 

roles as Independent Non-executive Directors and they are 

not involved in the daily management of the Company nor 

in any relationships or circumstances which would affect 

the exercise of their independent judgment. They continue 

to demonstrate their ability to provide an independent, 

balanced and objective view to the affairs of the Company.

The Nomination Committee was satisfied that each of the 

Independent Non-executive Director has the required 

character, integrity and experience to fulfill the role of an 

independent non-executive Director.
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(A) 

(xi) 

C.1.4

(A) The Board (Continued)

(xi) Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all 

Directors should participate in continuous professional 

development to develop and refresh their knowledge and 

skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains 

informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible 

for arranging and funding training, placing an appropriate 

emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the 

Directors.

During the year, the Company had arranged seminars and 

provided reading materials to the Directors that are relevant 

to their duties and responsibilities. A summary of the 

training record of each Director received by the Company 

is as follows:

Attending 
briefings/ 
seminars/

conferences/
forums

Reading/
studying

training or
other

materials

Name of Directors
    

Executive Directors
Ms. Mou Li (appointed on 1 March 2023)

✓ ✓

Mr. Liang Fan (appointed on 13 April 2022)

✓ ✓

Mr. Huang Zhidan (appointed on 15 July 2022)

✓ ✓

 Ms. Zeng Zhu (resigned on 1 March 2023)

✓ ✓

 Ms. Au Hoi Lee Janet (resigned on

  15 July 2022) ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jianfeng ✓ ✓

Mr. Wang Zhengjun ✓ ✓

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (appointed on 

 25 November 2022) ✓ ✓

 Mr. Ho Man (retired on 31 August 2022)

✓ ✓
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(B) 

(i) 

(ii) 

E.1.2(c) (c)(ii)

(B) Remuneration of Directors and Senior 
Management

(i) Remuneration Policy of Directors and 
Senior Management

The Group’s remuneration policy seeks to provide a fair 

market remuneration so as to attract, retain and motivate 

high quality staff. The Group will set levels of remuneration 

to ensure comparabi l i ty and competit iveness with 

companies competing within a similar talent pool.

Such fees and the amounts of emolument of the other 

Directors are determined by reference to their duties and 

responsibilities within the Company, the remuneration 

benchmark in the industry and the prevailing market 

conditions.

(ii) Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee was established by the 

Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) with clear terms 

of reference and is primarily responsible for making 

recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 

remuneration policy and structure of all Directors’ and 

senior management’s remuneration, on the Company’s 

establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for 

developing remuneration policy, on the remuneration 

packages of executive Directors and senior management, 

and on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The 

Remuneration Committee performs an advisory role to the 

Board with the Board retaining the final authority to approve 

the remuneration packages of Directors and senior 

management (i.e. the model (c)(ii) as stipulated in code 

provision E.1.2(c) of the CG Code is adopted).

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive 

Director, Ms. Mou Li, and three independent non-executive 

Directors, Mr. Xu Jiangfeng, Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Mr. 

Wang Zhengjun, with Mr. Xu Jianfeng acting as the 

chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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(B) 

(ii) 

— 

— 

— 

(iii) 

E.1.5

10

(B) Remuneration of Directors and Senior 
Management (Continued)

(ii) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, the work performed by the Remuneration 

Committee is summarized as follows:

— reviewed the remunerat ion package and the 

supplemental service agreements of the executive 

Directors and recommended to the Board for 

approval;

— reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group and 

the management’s remuneration proposals with 

reference to the Board’s corporate goals and 

objectives; and

— reviewed matters relating to share schemes under 

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during 

the year. The attendance record of the members at the 

Remuneration Committee meeting is set out in the table 

under “The Board” section.

(iii) Remuneration of Senior Management

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the 

annual remuneration of the members of the senior 

management by band for the year ended 31 March 2023 is 

set out below:

Number of
individuals

Remuneration band (HK$)
   

Nil to 1,000,000 1,000,000 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year 

ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 10 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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(C) 

(i) 

153 161

(ii) 

(C) Accountability and Audit

(i) Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to 

prepare the consolidated financial statements and to 

present a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment 

of the performance, position and prospects of the Group in 

the interim and annual reports of the Group.

The responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor 

for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on 

pages 153 to 161 of this annual report.

(ii) Audit Committee

An audit committee was established by the Company (the 

“Audit Committee”) with clear terms of reference. The 

principal duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the 

financial information and reports of the Group and 

considering any significant or unusual items raised by the 

financial officers of the Group or independent auditor before 

submission to the Board; reviewing and supervising the 

Group’s financial reporting process and its financial control, 

risk management and internal control systems, and 

rev iewing the re lat ionship with and the terms of 

appointment of the independent auditor and making 

relevant recommendation to the Board.
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(C) 

(ii) 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(ii) Audit Committee (Continued)

The current members of the Audit Committee are three 

independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Liu Ying Shun, 

Mr. Xu Jianfeng and Mr. Wang Zhengjun, with Mr. Liu Ying 

Shun acting as the chairman of Audit Committee.

During the year, the work performed by the Audit 

Committee is summarized as follows:

— reviewed with the Directors and the auditor the 

accounting principles and practices adopted by the 

Group;

— reviewed the financial control, risk management and 

internal control systems and financial reporting 

process;

— reviewed the Group’s consol idated f inancia l 

statements, annual results announcement and annual 

report;

— reviewed the Group’s interim financial statements, 

interim results announcement and interim report; and

— considered and recommended the re-appointment of 

the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. 

The attendance record of the members at the Audit 

Committee meetings is set out in the table under “The 

Board” section.
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(C) 

(iii) 

(a) 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control

(a) Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for evaluat ing and 

determining the nature and extent of the risks that the 

Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic 

objectives; ensuing that the Group establishes and 

maintains appropriate and effective risk management 

and internal control systems; and overseeing 

management in the design, implementation and 

monitoring of these systems.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the 

risk management and internal control systems of the 

Group and reviewing the systems’ effectiveness to 

safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ 

interests. These risk management and internal control 

systems can provide reasonable but not absolute 

assurance against material misstatement or loss; and 

they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate 

the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business 

objectives.

Management of the Group is responsible for 

designing, implementing and monitoring the risk 

management and internal control systems, and 

con f i rm ing  to  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee  on  the 

effectiveness of the risk management and internal 

control system.
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(C) 

(iii) 

(b) 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(b) Risk Management and Internal Control 
Governance Framework

 

 Suppor t  the Board in 

monitoring the design and 

operating effectiveness of 

the risk management and 

internal control systems

 支持董事會監督風險管理

及內部監控系統的設計及

營運成效

Audit Committee
審核委員會

 Have an internal audit 

function of the Group

 有集團內部審核職能

 Perform reviews to evaluate 

the effectiveness of the risk 

management and internal 

control systems

 審閱以評估風險管理及內

部監控系統的有效性

 Provide regular reports 

(including monthly progress 

update reports) to the Audit 

Committee 

 定期向審核委員會報告

（包括每月進度更新報

告）

Internal Audit
內部審核

 Identify, assess and mitigate risks

識別、評估及降低風險

 Implement risk management and 

internal control practices 

實施風險管理及內部監控慣例

Operational Level
營運水平

 Design, implement and monitor risk 

management and internal control 

systems

設計、實施及監察風險管理及內部監
控系統

 Develop risk management policy and 

procedures 

制訂風險管理政策及程序

 Provide guidelines on performing risk 

assessment and control activities 

提供進行風險評估及監控活動的指引

 Ident i fy key r isks, assess thei r 

respective impact and l ikelihood 

o f  occur rence ,  and de te rm ine 

corresponding mitigation actions

識別主要風險、評估彼等的潛在影響
及發生的可能性，並釐定相應的降低
風險行動

 Monitor risk management practices 

and internal control activities

監督風險管理慣例及內部控制活動

 Provide a confirmation to the Board 

on the effectiveness of the r isk 

management and internal control 

systems

向董事會提供風險管理及內部監控系

統有效性的確認書

Management 
管理層

 Review the effectiveness of the 

r i sk management  and in te r na l 

control systems and have overall 

responsibilities for these systems

審閱風險管理及內部監控系統的有效

性並對該等系統負全責

 Share experience and provide direction 

on determining the key risks (at 

corporate level) and their mitigation 

measures

於釐定主要風險（於公司層面）及其降

低風險措施時，共享經驗及提供指導

 Oversee management in the design, 

implementation, and monitoring of the 

risk management and internal control 

systems

監督管理風險管理及內部監控系統的

設計、實施及監察

Board of Directors
董事會
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(C) 

(iii) 

(c) 

• 

• 

• 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(c) Three Lines of Defence Model

The Board and management of the Group rely on the 

adequate line functions, including monitoring and 

assurance functions within the Group to ensure the 

effectiveness of its risk management and internal 

control systems. The Group adopts a ‘Three Lines of 

Defence’ model to shield against risks that threaten 

the achievement of the Group’s goals, and as a way 

of explaining the relat ionship between these 

functions, as illustrated below:

• The first line of defence is provided by the 

business units/teams who own and practise the 

internal controls on a day-to-day basis;

• The second line of defence is provided by the 

risk management and other oversight functions 

that assist the Group to monitor the first line of 

defence; and

• The third line of defence is provided by the 

internal audit function (namely internal audit 

department of the Group), which is responsible 

for providing independent assurance to the 

Group.



Corporate Governance Report

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報 51

(C) 

(iii) 

(d) 

Committee of 

Sponsor ing  Organ iza t ions

COSO of the Treadway 

Commission

 — 

— 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(d) Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk 

management (“ERM”) framework with reference to 

the key principles of the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations (“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission 

ERM framework, “Enterprise Risk Management — 

Integrating with Strategy and Performance” published 

in 2017. The Group’s ERM framework includes the 

following key features:

— Risk Governance Structure

The Group’s r isk governance structure 

comprises day-to-day operational management 

and control, risk and compliance oversight. The 

Group has developed a risk management 

policy, which outl ines the principles and 

procedures for the Group to manage its risks 

and clearly defines roles and responsibilities of 

each of the multiple layers of the structure, 

including the Board, the Audit Committee, 

department heads, employees at operational 

levels and the internal audit department, in 

order to achieve the Group’s strategic and 

operational goals and objectives.
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(C) 

(iii) 

(d) 

— 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(d) Risk Management (Continued)

— Risk Management Process

A robust  r i sk  management  process  i s 

developed to identify, evaluate and manage 

significant risks, as shown in the diagram 

below:

1
 Identify 識別

 Identify the risks faced by the Group

 識別本集團面臨的風險

2 
 Assess 評估

 Analyse the identified risks based 

on two dimensions: potential impact 

and likelihood of occurrence

 自兩個角度分析已識別的風險：潛

在影響及發生的可能性

3 
 Prioritise 優次排序

 Prioritise key risks and validate 

top risks

 對主要風險進行優次排序及確

認最高風險

4 
 Respond 應對

 Select an appropriate risk treatment for 

identified key risks

 選取合適風險處理方法以識別主要風險

 Design, evaluate and implement controls 

on the identified risks

 對已識別的風險制訂、評估及實施監控

5 
 Monitor & Report 
監督及呈報

 Perform ongoing monitoring of 

risks

 進行持續風險監察

 Consolidate the results of the 

risk assessment; and establish 

a detailed action plan

 綜合風險評估結果；及制訂詳

盡行動計劃

 Report to management & the 

Audit Committee

 向管理層及審核委員會匯報

Risk Management 

Process

風險管理流程

Risk Management Process
風險管理流程
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(C) 

(iii) 

(d) 

— 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(d) Risk Management (Continued)

— Risk Management Process (Continued)

Risk Management Process

During the year, the Group conducted risk 

assessments at both corporate and business 

process levels which include its principal 

activities (property development, manufacturing 

and trading of printed products, property 

investment and treasury business). It also 

mainta ins a r isk reg is ter  that  conta ins 

in format ion o f  key  r i sks ,  the  potent ia l 

consequences, the likelihood of occurrence, 

impact and overall risk rating. Risk owners will 

execute risk mitigation actions and respond to 

their assigned risks in the risk register based on 

the Board’s risk tolerance.

The Group has developed a process to identify 

and report any new or emerging risks in the 

monthly management reports. In addition, any 

update on the risk management would be 

reported and discussed in the Audit Committee 

meetings, in order to effectively monitor and 

keep track of the key r isks identi f ied at 

corporate level.

On an annual basis, the risks in the risk register 

are re-evaluated, with consideration of potential 

new or emerging risks. Depending on the 

changes in circumstances and the external 

environment, the Group’s risk tolerance levels 

and r isk responses would be ad justed 

accordingly.
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(C) 

(iii) 

(e) 

COSO

 — 

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(e) Internal Control

The Group has implemented an internal control 

system with reference to the key principles of the 

Internal Control — Integrated Framework established 

by the COSO. The main features and components of 

the Group’s internal control system are represented 

in the following diagram.

Internal Control Framework
內部監控框架

2
Risk Assessment

風險評估

3
Control Activities

監控活動

4
Information and 

Communication

資訊及通訊

5
Monitoring Activities

監督活動

1
Control Environment

監控環境

Objectives:
目標：

 Operations

 營運

 Reporting

 呈報

 Compliance

 合規
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(e) Internal Control (Continued)

Internal Control Framework

For the residential property development business in 

Zigong City, Sichuan Province, the People’s Republic 

of China, the Group engaged an external advisory 

service provider with specific in-depth industry 

knowledge and experience to conduct internal control 

reviews of the core business processes. The external 

advisory service provider supported management to 

conduct the control self-assessment on certain key 

property business processes and to perform follow-

up reviews on internal controls so as to assess if the 

identified issues have been rectified.

The Group has established group internal audit 

department .  The head of  the in terna l  aud i t 

department of the Group leads the internal audit 

function and performs independent reviews of key 

business processes of the Group. The internal audit 

plan of the Group adopts a risk-based approach, 

which is approved by the Audit Committee annually 

w i th  an ob ject ive  to  assess the adequacy, 

effectiveness, efficiency and reliability of internal 

control procedures over financial, operational and 

compliance activities of the Group. The internal audit 

department of the Group reports the results of the 

independent reviews together with the recommended 

remedial actions, in the form of internal audit reports, 

directly to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. 

Follow-up reviews are performed by the internal audit 

department of the Group, in order to verify that the 

identified issues have been remediated in a timely 

manner.

(C) 

(iii) 

(e) 
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(e) Internal Control (Continued)

Internal Control Framework (Continued)

During the year, the internal audit department of the 

Group conducted reviews and reported the status of 

implementation of remedial actions on control 

deficiencies, e.g. through monthly progress update 

reports provided to the Audit Committee. Relevant 

recommendations reported by the internal audit 

department of the Group will be implemented by 

management to enhance the Group’s internal 

controls, and to resolve material internal control 

deficiencies in a timely manner.

(f) Inside Information

In compliance with the Securities and Futures 

Ordinance (the “SFO”, Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong) and the Main Board Listing Rules, the Group 

has developed an inside information disclosure policy 

and internal controls for handling and dissemination 

of inside information to ensure consistent and timely 

disclosure, and fulfilment of the Group’s disclosure 

obligations. The Group has also established and 

implemented procedures to guide its employees on 

how to report and handle inside information, and 

strictly prohibit them from any unauthorized use of 

inside information.

(C) 

(iii) 

(e) 

(f) 

571
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(g) Whistleblowing Policy

The Group is committed to the highest possible 

standards of openness, probity and accountability. 

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption standards are 

important parts of the Group’s policies and operating 

practices. In line with this commitment, the Group 

has its whistleblowing policy which the employees 

and other stakeholders of the Company can raise 

concerns, in confidence or anonymously, about any 

suspected misconduct or malpractice within the 

Company. A designated email account and a 

dedicated hotline have been set up for this purpose.

(h) Review of Systems Effectiveness

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has 

conducted an annual review of the effectiveness and 

adequacy of the risk management and internal 

control systems by reviewing the work performed by 

the internal audit department and the external 

advisory service provider for the year ended 31 

March 2023. The review covered all material controls, 

including financial, operational and compliance 

controls, and risk management functions. The scope 

and quality of ongoing monitoring of risks and the 

internal control system have been assessed. The 

changes in the nature and extent of significant risks 

faced by the Group and response plans have been 

evaluated.

Management has conducted control self-assessment 

on the core business processes annually and the 

Board has received a confirmation from management 

on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 

and internal control systems, and considered that the 

risk management and internal control systems are 

effective and adequate.

(C) 

(iii) 

(g) 

(h) 
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control 
(Continued)

(h) Review of Systems Effectiveness (Continued)

During the review, the Board also assessed and was 

satisfied with the adequacy of the resources, 

employee qualifications and experience, training 

programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, 

financial reporting and internal audit function. 

Qualified individuals of the Group maintain and 

monitor these internal control procedures on an 

ongoing basis.

The Board is satisfied that the Group has fully 

complied with the code provisions under principle D.2 

of the CG Code regarding risk management and 

internal control for the year ended 31 March 2023.

(iv) Independent Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the 

independent auditor, Moore Stephens CPA Limited, is set 

out as follows:

HK$’000
Services rendered
   

Audit and audit related services 1,500

Non-audit services

 Review of interim condensed 

  consolidated financial statements

 

380

 Others  41
   

1,921
   

(C) 

(iii) 

(h) 

D.2

(iv) 
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(D) Delegation by the Board

(i) Board Committee

The Company has established three committees, namely 

Aud i t  Commi t tee ,  Nomina t i on  Commi t tee ,  and 

Remuneration Committee. These committees were formed 

with specific clear written terms of reference which deal 

clearly with the committees’ authorities and duties.

(ii) Management Function

The Board has determined which matters are to be 

retained by the full Board sanction and which matters are 

to be delegated to the executive management. The 

executive management are delegated the authority and 

responsib i l i t ies by the Board for  the day-to-day 

management and operation of the Group, while the Board 

reserves for its decision on all major matters of the 

Company, including the approval and monitoring of all 

policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal 

contro l  and r isk management  systems,  mater ia l 

transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of 

interests), financial information, appointment of Directors 

and other significant financial and operational matters. The 

executive management has been given clear terms of 

reference, in particular, circumstances where the executive 

management should report to and obtain prior approval 

f rom the Board. Al l  delegat ions to the execut ive 

management are reviewed periodically to ensure that they 

remain appropriate.

(D) 

(i) 

(ii) 
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(E) 

(a)

(b)

(c)

(F) 

3.29

15

(G) 

(E) Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate 

governance duties which include reviewing and developing the 

Company’s corporate governance policies and practices; 

reviewing and monitoring (a) the training and continuous 

professional development of directors and senior management, 

(b) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with 

legal and regulatory requirements and (c) the compliance with the 

Model Code; and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the 

CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the 

abovementioned corporate governance duties.

(F) Company Secretary

During the year, Mr. Leung Siu Kuen was an employee of the 

Company and has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant 

professional training during the year under review in compliance 

with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

(G) Dividend Policy

The Board adopted a dividend policy for the Company which 

took effect from January 2019. In general, the Company intends 

to provide shareholders with semi-annual or annual dividends, 

and to declare special dividends from time to time. In deciding 

whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend 

amount, the Board will take into account the Company’s earnings 

performance, financial position, investment requirements and 

future prospects.



Corporate Governance Report

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報 61

(G) 

(H) 

(i) 

(G) Dividend Policy (Continued)

The Board will also take into account the prevailing market 

conditions and global economic situation. The dividend payout 

ratio, would be calculated based on certain per cent of the net 

profit recorded during the financial year, after retaining a sufficient 

fund as capital for future investment opportunities, future use; 

and all possible investment have been financed. The dividend 

policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there 

can be assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular 

amount for any given period.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restriction under 

the laws of Hong Kong, the laws of the Cayman Islands and the 

Articles of Association of the Company.

(H) Communication with Shareholders and 
Investor Relations

The Company has established a shareholders communication 

policy with the objectives of enabling its shareholders and 

investors to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to 

allow the shareholders, investors and the investment communities 

to engage actively with the Company. The Board has the 

responsibil ity to review the policy annually to ensure its 

effectiveness.

(i) General Meetings

The Board regards general meetings as the principal 

opportunity to communicate with shareholders of the 

Company. During the year, the Company has held an 

annual general meeting.

The attendance records of each Director at the general 

meeting is set out in the table under “The Board” section.
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(H) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

13.39(4)

13.39(5)

(iv) 

(v) 

(H) Communication with Shareholders and 
Investor Relations (Continued)

(ii) Significant Issues

The Company has ensured that any significant issues 

would be dealt with at general meetings and be proposed 

as a separate resolution.

(iii) Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, votes of 

shareholders at all general meetings of the Company have 

been taken by poll and results of the poll have been 

announced in accordance with the procedures prescribed 

under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

(iv) Corporate Documents Available on the 
Websites of the Company and the Stock 
Exchange

The Company has placed the announcements, circulars, 

annual/interim reports, notices of general meetings and 

other information of the Company as required by the Listing 

Rules on the websites of the Company and the Stock 

Exchange.

(v) Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders of the Company may direct their questions 

about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share 

registrar in Hong Kong and all other questions to the 

Board. Details have been published on the website of the 

Company.
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(I) 

(i) 

72

139

20 D E

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, 

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-

1111, Cayman Islands

21

(I) Shareholders’ Rights

(i) Convening an Extraordinary General 
Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the 

Company, an extraordinary general meeting may be 

convened on the written requisition of any one or more 

shareholders of the Company (including a recognized 

clearing house (or its nominees)) deposited at the principal 

office of the Company in Hong Kong at Units D&E, 20 

Floor, China Overseas Building, 139 Hennessy Road, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases 

to have such a principal office, the registered office at 

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand 

Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, specifying the objects 

of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s), provided 

that such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of 

the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital 

of the Company which carries the right of voting at general 

meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 

days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed 

duly to convene the meeting, the requisit ionist(s) 

themselves or any of them representing more than one-half 

of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the 

general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, 

as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board 

provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held 

after the expiration of three months from the date of 

deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses 

incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of 

the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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(I) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(a) 

— 

120

5%

• 

• 

(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(ii) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company will have the opportunity to 

pose questions to the Board at general meetings. 

Shareholders of the Company may also make enquiries to 

the Board in writing. Such enquiries shall be directed to 

“The Board of Directors, Magnus Concordia Group Limited” 

by one of the following means:

• By mail to : Units D & E, 20 Floor, China Overseas Building, 139 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

139 20 D E

• By email to : mcg-board@mcgrouphk.com

• By facsimile to : (852) 2160 3080

The Board will respond promptly to proper enquiries raised 

by shareholders.

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at 
Shareholders’ Meetings

(a) Shareholders may put forward proposals relating to 

the election of Directors at general meetings as 

follows:

— Pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of 

Association of the Company, a shareholder or 

shareholders (not being the person to be 

proposed) who holds or collectively hold not 

less than 5% in nominal value of the issued 

shares of any class of the Company may 

propose a person for election as a Director at 

any general meeting of the Company by giving 

a notice in writing to the secretary of the 

Company:

• of his/her/their intention to propose such 

person for election; and

• signed by the person to be proposed of 

his/her willingness to be elected.
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(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at 
Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(a) Shareholders may put forward proposals relating to 

the election of Directors at general meetings as 

follows: (Continued)

— The period for lodgement of such a written 

notice will commence no earlier than the day 

after the despatch of the notice of the general 

meeting and end no later than seven (7) days 

prior to the date of such general meeting. If the 

notice is received less than fifteen (15) business 

days pr ior to that general  meet ing, the 

Company will need to consider adjournment of 

the general meeting in order to (i) assess the 

suitability of the proposed candidate; and (ii) 

publ ish an announcement or circulate a 

supplementary circular in relation to the 

proposal to the shareholders at least fourteen 

(14) clear days and not less than ten (10) 

business days prior to the general meeting.

— Any notice given for such proposal must include 

such person’s information as may from time to 

time be required to be disclosed under Rule 

13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in the event that 

such person is elected as a Director or any 

other applicable laws, rules and regulations 

which the Company may be subject to. 

Current ly,  the fol lowing informat ion are 

required:

• Full name and age;

• Positions held with the Company and 

other members of the Group (if any);

(I) 

(iii) 

(a) 

— 

(7)

(15)

(i)

(ii)

(14)

(10)

— 

13.51(2)

• 

• 
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(I) 

(iii) 

(a) 

• (i)

(ii)

• 

• 

• 

XV

• 

(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at 
Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(a) Shareholders may put forward proposals relating to 

the election of Directors at general meetings as 

follows: (Continued)

• Experience including (i) other directorships 

held in the last three years in public 

companies the securities of which are 

listed on any securities market in Hong 

Kong or overseas, and (ii) other major 

a p p o i n t m e n t s  a n d  p r o f e s s i o n a l 

qualifications;

• Length or proposed length of service with 

the Company;

• Relationships with any Directors, senior 

management or substantial or controlling 

shareholders of the Company;

• H is/her  in terests  in  shares o f  the 

Company within the meaning of Part XV 

of the SFO;

• Amount of the Director’s emoluments and 

the basis of determining the Director’s 

emoluments and how much of these 

emoluments are covered by a service 

contract; and
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(I) 

(iii) 

(a) 

• 

13.51(2)(h)

(w)

— 

— 

(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at 
Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(a) Shareholders may put forward proposals relating to 

the election of Directors at general meetings as 

follows: (Continued)

• A declaration by the nominated person 

stating that he/she is not and has not 

been subject to any of  the events 

provided for under Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (w) 

of the Listing Rules, or if any one or more 

of these provisions are applicable to him/

her, full details thereof.

— Any notice given for this purpose shall be 

directed to “The Company Secretary, Magnus 

Concordia Group Limited” by one of the 

following means:

• By mail to : Units D & E, 20 Floor, China Overseas Building, 139 Hennessy Road, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong

139 20 D E

• By email to : mcg-board@mcgrouphk.com

• By facsimile to : (852) 2160 3080

— Any such shareholder(s) shall be one(s) that is/

are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting 

for which such notice is given.
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(I) 

(iii) 

(b) 

(J) 

(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at 
Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(b) To propose to put forward any other proposals at 

shareholders’ meeting, and for questions relating to 

putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings, 

shareholders could direct all such enquiries/proposals 

in writing to “The Board of Directors, Magnus 

Concordia Group Limited” by one of the following 

means:

• By mail to : Units D & E, 20 Floor, China Overseas Building, 139 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, 

Hong Kong

139 20 D E

• By email to : mcg-board@mcgrouphk.com

• By facsimile to : (852) 2160 3080

(J) Amendments to Constitutional Documents

On 29 June 2022, the Board announced to make certain 

amendments to the third amended and restated memorandum 

and articles of association of the Company. Such amendments 

were recommended to the shareholders of the Company at the 

2022 AGM and approved. Please refer to the announcement of 

the Company dated 29 June 2022 for details.

Save as mentioned above, during the year under review, the 

Company has not made any changes to its Memorandum and 

Art ic les of  Associat ion.  An up-to-date vers ion of  the 

Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is 

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock 

Exchange. Shareholders may refer to the Company’s 

Memorandum and Articles of Association for further details of the 

rights of shareholders.
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ESG

 — 

ESG 

ESG
1

About this report

Magnus Concordia Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(collectively known as the “Group” or “we”) are pleased to present our 

seventh Environmental, Social and Governance report (collectively 

known as “ESG report” or “this report”). By reporting the policies, 

measures and performances of the Group in ESG aspects, we ensure 

all stakeholders can fully understand our commitments and progress 

towards sustainable development.

Reporting boundary

This ESG report covers the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 

(the “Year”).

This ESG report includes general disclosures for both property 

businesses, including property development business and property 

investment business and printing business. The key performance 

indicators (“KPIs”), unless otherwise specified, cover the Group’s 

headquarters in Hong Kong and two key operating subsidiaries — 

Zigong Zhongzhi Cultural Tourism Investment Co., Ltd and Guangdong 

Boluo Yuanzhou Midas Printing Limited. The scope of this report is 

consistent with the previous year to allow for meaningful comparisons 

of ESG data.

Reporting standard

The content of this ESG report is prepared in strict compliance with the 

requirement under Appendix 27 — Environmental, Social and 

Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Guide”) of Rules Governing the 

Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), following Reporting 

Principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency1. For 

details of our corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate 

Governance Report included in this annual report.

1 The definitions of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency are quoted from 

Appendix 27 — ESG Guide of the Listing Rules.

1 

ESG
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139

20 D E

(852) 2160 3088

(852) 2160 3080

About this report (Continued)

Opinion and feedback

We greatly value the suggestions from our stakeholders and encourage 

readers to contact us through the following contact information. Your 

suggestions will help us further improve our reporting and enhance the 

overall sustainable performance of the Group.

Address: Units D & E, 20 Floor, China Overseas Building,

139 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Phone: (852) 2160 3088

Fax: (852) 2160 3080

ESG Governance

The Group has always attached great importance to ESG performance, 

is committed to creating positive impacts to the environment and the 

community during our business development, and is committed to 

creating value for stakeholders. To effectively achieve sustainable 

development, the board of directors (the “Board”) integrates ESG-

related elements into strategic planning and operational management 

to achieve a sustainable business model.

A strong governance framework is crucial to achieving our sustainability 

strategy. The Board is responsible for the establishing sustainability 

strategies and management policies, and regularly reviewing and 

evaluating the Group’s work progress in corporate responsibility, 

sustainable development and climate change. The Board continuously 

monitors and obtains work reports from the senior management of the 

Group to ensure the effective operation of the ESG risk management 

and internal control systems. The Board is responsible for the final 

approval of this ESG report and to review the information disclosed 

before publication to ensure the accuracy and timeliness of the content 

of the report.

The Board has an overall responsibility for overseeing the Group’s 

ESG-related risks and opportunities, establishing and adopting the 

ESG-related strategies and targets of the Group, reviewing the Group’s 

performance annually against the targets, and revising the strategies as 

appropriate if significant variance from the target is identified.
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ESG Governance (Continued)

To address the public concern about the climate change and to fulfill 

our corporate social responsibilities, the Group has incorporated 

climate-related issues into our risk management system to enhance 

our resilience and adaptability to potential climate change impacts. All 

potential risks that may have impact on the Group’s business will be 

covered and evaluated in the annual enterprise risk assessment.

The board is responsible to communicate with stakeholders to 

understand their views on ESG issues and implement the ESG 

strategy, for which materiality assessments on ESG issues are 

conducted and the ESG issues are prioritized. Sustainability strategies 

applies to all levels of the Group.

The board will continuously monitor the implementation of ESG-related 

measures by active communication with business departments, and 

review the ESG management system on an annual basis in order to 

create long-term value. At the operational level, the senior management 

regularly assess the ESG-related risks, develop and execute ESG-

related management measures to respond to risks.

ESG Management Structure 

Board of Directors

Senior Management & Head of Business 
Departments

All Employees

ESG Management Strategy

Environmental Friendliness

Refined Product Quality 

Business Integrity

Caring for Employees

Social Contribution

ESG Report

Stakeholder Engagement
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Stakeholder engagement

The Group attaches great importance to stakeholder engagement, 

establ ishes var ious communicat ion channels to gather our 

stakeholders’ opinions and suggestions related to our development 

strategy and social responsibility, and maintains a close contact with 

our stakeholders. Our core stakeholders include customers, 

employees, suppliers, investors, shareholders, regulators and 

communities.

Stakeholder Groups Key Concerns Communication Channels
 

Customers • Customer information and privacy 

protection

 

• Customer health and safety

 

• Product and service quality

 

• Customer rights protection

 

• Handling of customer complaints

 

• Business visits

 

• Regular meetings

 

• E-mail and telephone

 

Employees • Employee remuneration and benefits

 

• Occupational health and safety

 

• Protection of employees’ legitimate 

rights and interests

 

• Training and career development

 

• Corporate culture

 

• Employee activities

 

• Employee performance appraisals

 

• Employee training

 

• Internal meetings and notices

 

• Social media communication platform

 

Suppliers • Supplier management and 

requirements

 

• State of operations

 

• Sustainable supply chain management

 

• Business visits

 

• Liaison through email and telephone

 

• Meetings
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Stakeholder Groups Key Concerns Communication Channels
 

Investors and
Shareholders

• Financial performance disclosure

 

• Corporate transparency

 

• Protection of rights and interests

 

• Information disclosed on the website 

of the Company and the Stock 

Exchange

 

• General meetings and other 

shareholders meetings

 

Regulators • Compliance with laws and regulations

 

• Corporate governance

 

• Periodic report

 

• Compliance inspection

 

Communities • Social welfare engagement

 

• Support community development

 

• Community activities

 

• Company website

 

Materiality assessment of ESG issues

The Group is aware of the importance of the ESG issues to 

stakeholders. This Year, we decided to adopt the 22 ESG issues and 

their materiality level confirmed in 2022 after reviewing the ESG issues 

according to market development, regulatory updates, and 

communications with stakeholders.

As indicated by the results of the materiality assessment in 2022, the 

most concerning issues for various stakeholder groups of that year 

were employee remuneration and benefits, occupational health and 

safety, customer security and privacy protection, protection of 

intellectual property rights, anti-corruption management and training, 

protection of employee rights and interests, customer service and 

satisfaction, customer health and safety, employee management, 

supply chain environmental and social risk management, and 

construction and printing quality management.

Based on the materiality assessment results, the Group highlights the 

disclosure of such ESG issues in the ESG report and enhance the ESG 

work plan.

Stakeholder engagement (Continued)

2022 22

2022
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5%

5%

25%

Environmental

The Group is committed to playing an active role in the sustainable 

development of the environment, and adopting environmentally-friendly 

practices in daily operations. The Group strictly abides by the 

Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (

), the Law of the People’s Republic of China 

on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution (

), the Sold Waste Pollution Prevention and 

Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (

) and other local laws and regulations to 

ensure the standardized treatment of sewage, exhaust gas, solid waste 

and other environmental pollutants, as well as the efficient use of 

energy and resources, and prevent adverse impacts on the natural 

environment.

The Group’s target is to achieve carbon emission reduction, waste 

(including hazardous and non-hazardous) minimization and responsible 

use of energy, water, raw materials and other natural resources. 

Different property development projects have different scales and 

material requirements, thus it is hard to compare their carbon emission 

levels. We will still stay alert and aim to reduce 5% revenue-based 

carbon intensity for any new property development project. For the 

printing business, our target is to reduce 5% carbon emissions per 

year and a total of 25% for the following five years.

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant 

laws and regulations regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions, 

water and land discharges and hazardous and non-hazardous waste 

generation that had a significant impact on the Group this Year.

Property business

The Group’s property business is divided into property development 

and property investment businesses. The Group holds property 

development projects in Mainland China and conducts environmental 

management during the construction process. The property investment 

business is mainly for the management of office premises and 

commercial premises, with relatively limited impacts on the environment 

and resource consumption. The property development business of the 

Group strictly abides by the Regulations on the Environmental 

Management of Construction Projects ( ) 

and other local laws and regulations and has implemented the 

“Standard Safety Management Guidelines”, the “Guidelines for 

comprehensive Inspection and Evaluation of Projects” and other 

civilised construction policies.
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Environmental (Continued)

Property business (Continued)

A project engineering department is established in each construction 

project, with the project engineering manager as the team leader and 

the first responsible person for environmental management, the 

“Agreement on Safe and Civilised Construction Management at 

Construction Site” is signed with the construction contractors, urging 

them to abide by the green construction standards and to protect the 

ecosystem.

The Group’s property development business attaches great importance 

to the management of green construction. The engineering department 

emphasises the environmental protection requirements before all 

construction teams enter the site, and regularly inspects the 

construction site. According to the inspection results, the engineering 

department will follow up the construction units and carry out relevant 

civilised construction education to ensure that they comply with 

relevant regulations.

The environment impact of the Group’s property investment business 

mainly comes from the energy and resources consumption by the 

office, as well as the waste and emissions generated.

Carbon emission and energy management

Our property development business has implemented construction 

equipment management policies, giving priority to the use of energy-

saving and efficient construction equipment recommend by the State 

and the industry. We reasonably plan the work process and length of 

the equipment with proper maintenance to improve the operation 

efficiency of the equipment. To strictly control the electricity 

consumption in construction, we carry out measurement and analysis 

of electricity consumption in construction, and set up electricity saving 

labels around the electricity facilities to save electricity.
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Environmental (Continued)

Property business (Continued)

Carbon emission and energy management (Continued)

The energy consumption of the Group’s property investment business 

mainly comes from the electricity consumption generated by the office. 

We promote green office concepts and encourage employees to make 

use of the Internet, such as replacing avoidable travel with video 

conferencing, to reduce energy consumption and greenhouse gas 

emissions from travel. Registration for the use of official vehicles is 

required to reduce unnecessary travel. In addition, we strictly manage 

the use of resources in the office area and require employees to turn 

off lights and power supplies during non-office hours to save energy.

Waste management

The property development business of the Group develops 

corresponding construction waste treatment plans at the early stage of 

construction project planning, specifying the amount of construction 

waste generated, the method of disposal and the disposal schedules, 

which is specified in the construction contract signed with the 

construction unit.

Construction waste at the construction sites will be classified, and 

waste such as steel bars and wooden boards will be centrally collected 

and retained, and then handed over to a professional recycling 

company for recycling. In addition, the earthwork and the construction 

debris produced by the excavation project will be preferentially used as 

backfill to reduce the waste spoil. Other construction wastes will be 

stored in designated locations in strict accordance with laws and 

regulations and disposed of in a timely manner. General domestic 

waste is regularly transported to the government-designated sanitation 

station for disposal in accordance with relevant regulations on garbage 

storage and classification, random dumping is strictly prohibited.

The waste of the Group’s property investment business mainly consists 

of domestic waste, a small amount of waste ink cartridges and toner 

cartridges. Domestic waste is collected and processed by the cleaning 

team, and hazardous waste such as waste ink cartridges and toner 

cartridges are handed over to suppliers for properly recycling.

We actively promote waste recycling to reduce the impact on the 

environment and protect the earth’s ecology. Recycling activities 

include: waste coffee capsules are collected at the supplier’s 

designated collection point and recycled into new products.
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Environmental (Continued)

Property business (Continued)

Use of water resources and treatment of sewage water

The property development business of the Group advocates the 

concept of water conservation, requires employees to conserve water 

and prevent water wastage, and takes the following measures:

• Reasonable planning for temporary water use in construction 

site, living area and office area;

• Collecting rain for road spraying on construction site;

• Using commercial concrete and ready-mixed mortar to avoid 

excessive water usage on construction site;

• Reuse of sewage from car flushing and washing;

• Requiring employees to turn off the taps after using water to raise 

awareness of water conservation.

The sewage generated by the Group’s property investment business is 

mainly domestic sewage. Sewage is appropriately discharged to 

municipal sewage pipeline for treatment.

The Group did not encounter any issue with sourcing water that is fit 

for purpose.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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Environmental (Continued)

Property business (Continued)

Environment and natural resources

The property development business of the Group pays attention to the 

environmental protection management of construction, and strictly 

controls the noise, light pollution, dust and other factors that may 

adversely affect the surrounding environment on the construction site, 

such as: low-noise time control on the construction site, on-site noise 

decibel control, and cover bare soil, clean the tires of vehicles entering 

and leaving, and turn on the spray nozzle according to the 

requirements of the Heavy Air Pollution Contingency Plan of different 

regions.

We implement strict on-site management for ready-to-use construction 

materials such as concrete to reduce material waste caused by 

improper construction. In addition, we actively adopt new materials, 

new processes and new technologies to enhance construction energy 

efficiency.

To reduce the impact of construction projects on the environment, the 

property development business of the Group conducts studies on the 

microclimate, the water cycle, the ancient and famous trees in the 

construction area and surrounding areas during the project planning 

and construction stage, and develops reasonable natural ventilation, 

water cycle and the ancient trees protection plan in advance. In 

addition, we carry out construction with caution to protect natural 

resources, and strive to achieve harmonious development between the 

project and the surrounding community environment.
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business

To enhance the standard of the environmental management, the Group 

has established standardised environmental management measures 

for the printing business, and developed the “Quality and Environmental 

Management Manual”, the “BRC Management Manual”, the “FSC COC 

Management Manual” and other policies in accordance with various 

standards of environmental management systems. In addition, regular 

certifications on ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management System 

Standard and Quality Management System Standard are performed by 

third-party certification authority to ensure the continuous effectiveness 

of our environmental and quality management systems. In order to 

continuously enhance our environmental performance, the Group 

strives to drive a “planning — performance — inspection — 

improvement” dynamic cycle of the environmental management 

systems, through identifying and managing the material environmental 

risks, establishing systematic environmental management process and 

continuously inspecting and reviewing the management strategies.

Air emission management

Volatile organic compounds2 (“VOCs”) are generated during the printing 

and bronzing procedures during the production process of the printing 

business. We strictly implement the Stage II Level 2 limit requirements 

of the Guangdong Province’s “Emission Standard of Volatile Organic 

Compounds for Printing Industry” (

 DB44/815-2010 ) and have established a professional treatment 

facility using biological purification technology for VOCs emission 

according to the standard. VOCs are collected, treated and 

discharged, and an adsorption device is set up to absorb the spilled 

VOCs.

2 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs), according to the definition by the World Health 

Organization (WHO), are various organic compounds with a boiling point of 50  to 

260°C at room temperature, VOCs contributes to the formation of ozone and 

secondary aerosols in the atmospheric environment which has an impact on 

regional atmospheric ozone pollution and PM2.5 pollution.

2 (WHO)

VOCs (volatile organic compounds)

50 260 VOCs

PM2.5
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Air emission management (Continued)

An external professional testing organization is entrusted to perform 

regular VOCs emission testing to ensure the VOCs emission (such as 

benzene and toluene, etc.) is within the VOCs emission limits. The 

damaged part of the VOCs treatment facility has been repaired, 

updated and evaluated in the Year, a special VOCs treatment facility 

maintenance fund has been arranged, and an external authority has 

been designated for providing facility maintenance and update 

services.

Our printing business continuously enhances the production process 

and improves the raw material selection. For example, considering the 

petroleum ink is prone to evaporate and disperse, they are replaced by 

the higher content of soy ink to reduce the VOCs emission.

An oily fume and exhaust gas filtration system is installed in the staff 

canteen of our printing business to reduce the oil droplets in the 

exhaust gas and air pollution. We also perform regular inspection and 

maintenance for the fixed equipment and official vehicles to ensure 

they function properly so as to reduce air pollutants such as sulphur 

oxide, nitrogen oxide and particles.

Carbon emissions and energy management

In an active response to the state’s policy of restraining corporate 

carbon emissions, we apply the concept of “energy saving and 

consumption reduction” in practice to increase the energy efficiency 

and to reduce the carbon emissions from daily operations.

To cope with the pandemic and for maintaining business sustainability, 

strategic energy saving measures have been implemented, starting 

from last financial year, such as: reducing the size of the production 

floor, deactivating 4 central ventilation system, eliminating certain old 

machinery and equipment, installing the flow controller for water taps in 

the washroom of the production floor, renovating 2 variable frequency 

air compressors, etc..
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Carbon emissions and energy management (Continued)

We have taken the following measures to reduce energy consumption 

and carbon emission:

• Prioritising the procurement of energy-saving lamps, facilities and 

equipment;

• Performing regular maintenance of the facilities and equipment, 

enhancing process flow, and arranging processes reasonably to 

reduce energy wastage;

• Installing separate electricity meters in the production floor, office 

and staff dormitory to monitor the electricity consumption and 

solve unreasonable power consumption in a timely manner;

• Promoting the concept of green office, carrying out energy-

saving trainings for employees, and educating employees to 

develop habits such as turning off unnecessary appliances and 

maintaining reasonable air-conditioning temperatures in summer.

Waste management

In accordance with the relevant requirements of the “General Industrial 

Solid Waste Storage and Landfill Pollution Control Standards” (

/GB18599-2020) and 

“Hazardous Waste Incineration Pollution Control Standards” (

/GB18484-2020), our printing business has 

implemented the policies such as “Solid Waste Management Policy”, 

“Disposal Procedures on Scrapped Printed Paper” and “Returning and 

Recycling Control Procedures of Office Supplies and Raw and Auxiliary 

Materials”, to classify and dispose solid waste, to increase recycling 

rate and prevent environmental pollution caused by hazardous waste.

Our printing business entrusts a professional recycling company to 

handle production waste, waste packaging materials, discarded 

computers, waste furniture and other equipment to increase the 

recycling rate, follows the relevant regulations on waste storage and 

classification for waste disposal, and regularly transport the waste to 

the government designated disposal location. Various types of solid 

waste were transferred in July 2021, including: waste mineral oil 0.081 

ton, washing sewage 1.62 tonnes, waste ink 0.252 ton, waste cloth 

1.72 tonnes and waste ink can 1.3 tonnes.
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Waste management (Continued)

For the hazardous waste generated in the production process, we 

designate dedicated storage locations which fulfill the requirements, 

and classify, isolate, retain and record the packaging materials. We 

entrust a company with professional qualifications to perform harmless 

process for the waste. In addition, we review and update the 

“Hazardous Waste Management Plan” annually to ensure that all 

hazardous wastes are properly retained and processed, to prevent 

environmental pollution.

Recyclable production materials
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Use of water resources and sewage treatment

Major usage of water resources in our printing business include water 

consumption for office and printing production. Water is sourced from 

the municipal water supply. We have implemented the “Water 

Conservation Management Policy” and various water saving measures 

to increase water efficiency in the production process. We perform 

regular inspection and maintenance of the water facilities to prevent 

water wastage. An external professional testing organization is 

entrusted to perform regular sewage emission testing to ensure the 

sewage emission is within the emission limits.

We strictly follow the relevant national laws and regulations on sewage 

discharge and has implemented relevant policies such as the 

“Regulations on the Administration of Pollutant Discharge Permits”. Our 

printing plant holds a “Sewage Discharge Permit”, and the sewage 

discharge is mainly domestic sewage. According to the local 

government requirements in 2021, the “Rainwater and sewage 

diversion project” has been implemented and the acceptance approval 

has been obtained. Domestic sewage is conveyed to Yuanzhou 

Sewage Plant through the municipal pipe network and is discharged 

after sewage treatment.

Production sewage mainly comes from the printing, punching and 

stretching processes, includes ink sewage and other types of sewage. 

Sewage is collected in a dedicated sewage station through the 

pipeline. After reaching a certain amount, an external company with 

professional qualifications would be contacted for sewage treatment, 

there was no external emission of production sewage. 1.62 tonnes of 

production sewage was transferred in the financial year ended 31 

March 2022.

2021

1.62
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Environment and natural resources

Being part of the timber industrial chain, we deeply acknowledge the 

signif icance of the forest resource management. To support 

sustainable forest operation, our printing business has obtained the 

Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)3 Chain-of-Custody (COC) Standard 

Certification4 and established standardised management procedures 

starting from raw material procurement to product delivery processes, 

to ensure the FSC certified products follows the FSC requirements. 

While consuming the natural resources, we are committed to 

preserving biodiversity, encouraging forest resources sustainability, and 

promoting environmental-friendly, social-beneficial and economical-

viable forest management. In implementing green procurement, we 

choose FSC raw materials.

FSC-COC Standard Certification

FSC-COC

3 Found in 1993, the FSC is an international, non-profit, non-government organization 

advocating environmentally responsible, socially acceptable, and economically 

viable ways of managing the world’s forests.

4 The FSC COC certification identifies the entire chain of production, processing and 

circulation of a wood processing enterprise to ensure that the products which are 

sold with an FSC claim originate from well-managed forests. After obtaining the 

certification, the enterprise has the right to display the FSC name and logo on its 

products, namely the FSC COC certification label.

3 FSC 1993

4 FSC COC

FSC

FSC FSC COC
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Environmental (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Production noise management

Our printing business follows the “Industrial Enterprises Environmental 

Noise Emission Standard” ( /

GB12348-2008) to manage noise emission. In order to lower the noise 

emission impact to the surrounding environment, sound insulation, 

sound abatement, sound absorption and vibration reduction devices 

are installed in the printing plant where the compressors and the 

printing machines are located. An external professional testing 

organization is entrusted to perform regular noise emission testing to 

ensure the noise emission is within the emission limits.

Climate change

The Group understands that climate change is changing the business 

environment, affecting our operations, supply chains, urban 

infrastructure and market demand, etc. Being a responsible corporate, 

the Group pays close attention to business related climate change 

risks in production and operations, evaluates its impact on business 

continuity, fully identifies potential challenges and opportunities and 

prepares for the climate crisis and the low-carbon era.

We took various proactive measures to cope with climate change:

• Implementing standardized management procedures according 

to the requirements of ISO14001:2015 environmental 

management systems to reduce the impact of environmental 

changes on operations;

• Complying with relevant environmental regulations strictly during 

the construction and production process, and improve energy 

efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions through 

technological upgrades, facility maintenance and transformation 

of the facilities and equipment;

• Giving priority to green and environmentally-friendly products, 

focus on localized procurement to reduce carbon emissions 

during transportation;

• Establishing Business Contingency Plans (BCP) to ensure 

business continuity and employee safety.
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Environmental (Continued)

Climate change (Continued)

Looking forward, we will continue to improve the identification, 

assessment and management of the climate change-related risks to 

enhance the company’s strategic, business and financial resilience.

Climate change management of printing business

Climate change may have impact on our printing business, as our 

products are sensitive to temperature and humidity. High temperature 

may lead to bonding gap or deformation of the books and color box 

products and may cause the printing machines generating high heat 

and increase energy consumption. High humidity may lead to peeling 

of the printed ink which may lead to machine malfunction. To cope with 

cl imate change, we have implemented “Environmental Risk 

Contingency Plan” and measures such as increasing ventilation 

systems and maintaining a constant temperature in the production 

floor.
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Employment and labour practices

We always regard employees as our most valuable assets, and strive 

to create a fair, inspiring and harmonious working environment where 

employees can gain work accomplishments and realise their personal 

values.

The Group strictly abide by the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic 

of China” ( ), the “Law of the Peoples 

Republic of China on Employment Contracts” (

), the “Employment Ordinance” ( /Cap 57), the 

“Minimum Wage Ordinance” ( /Cap 608), (

/Cap 485) and other relevant laws and regulations.

We always protect the legitimate rights and interests of our employees, 

continuously enhance human resources management and is 

committed to provide employees with a better working environment 

and benefits.

The Group was not aware of material non-compliance with relevant 

laws and regulations on compensation and dismissal, recruitment and 

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, 

anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare in the Year.

Recruitment and promotion

The Group has established the “Human Resources Management 

Policy”, the “Employee Handbook” and other policies in compliance 

with the employment-related laws and regulations and according to the 

actual situation. We actively carry out recruitment activities through 

internet, talent market, intermediaries and other channels to attract 

new forces for the Group and expand our talent pool.

The employment data of the Group in the Year can be referred to 

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator.

57 608

485

I ESG
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Employment and labour practices (Continued)

Recruitment and promotion (Continued)

The Group rationally planned promotion channels, established vertical 

and horizontal promotion opportunities, and provided employees with 

diversified development opportunities. We conduct multi-dimensional 

assessments on employees to ensure that outstanding talents have 

sufficient opportunities to be identified and promoted. For the talents 

who have not been promoted, we provide training to employees for 

their personal development, laying a good foundation for the stable 

development of the Group’s business.

Remuneration and benefits

The Group has established the “Employee Benefits and Allowance 

Management Policy”, the “Employee Performance Appraisal Policy” 

and other policies in compliance with the employment-related laws and 

regulations and according to the actual situation. We implement “To 

each according to his contribution” and “equal pay for equal work”. We 

provide allowances to eligible employees, pay various social insurances 

for employees on time, and ensure that employees are entitled to paid 

annual leaves. We also provide various types of benefits to our 

employees, such as: improving accommodation environment and 

meals, providing recreational activities, etc., to promote mutual respect 

and a harmonious working environment.

The Group evaluates employees in terms of work attitude, work quality, 

technical level, management skills, collaborative spirit, civilized 

discipline, etc., to ensure the fairness of employee remuneration and to 

attract outstanding talents. The department head interviews the 

employees on the performance appraisal results, evaluates the 

employee’s work performance, and listens to the opinions of the 

employees, so as to promote the common enhancement of the 

employees and the Group.
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Employment and labour practices (Continued)

Social Responsibility Management

Our printing business has implemented the “Social Responsibility 

Management Manual” and has obtained SA 8000:2014 Social 

Accountability (SA)5 certification. We regard employees as the 

cornerstone of corporate development, and provide employees with a 

fair and equitable working environment and a development platform for 

realizing value.

SA8000:2014 Social Accountability Certification

5 SA 8000, abbreviation for Social Accountability 8000 International Standard, is 

social accountability international standard, its purpose is to ensure the products 

supplied by the corporate fulfill the social accountability standards.

5 SA 8000 Social Accountability 8000 International 

Standard
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Employment and labour practices (Continued)

Employee daily benefits

The Group prepares festival gifts for employees during festivals to 

increase their sense of belonging. We have also prepared a snack bar 

for employees in the Hong Kong office, providing a variety of snacks, 

coffee, etc. so that employees can relax during their busy work.

Office snacks

 Employee festive celebration 

In order to allow employees to relax from their work and enhance the 

intercourse among employees, the Group‘s property development 

business organised celebration activities on different festivals to enjoy 

the festive atmosphere together. In addition, festival gifts were 

distributed to employees during festivals, such as Dragon Boat rice 

dumplings, Mid-Autumn mooncakes, beverages and fruits. 

Employee activities

In order to enhance team spirit and allow employees to relax in group 

activities, various events were held by our printing business in the Year 

such as basketball games, tug-of-war games and hiking activities.
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Employee development and training

Our Group aims to provide training for employees and encourage their 

continuous development. We have established a comprehensive 

training management system. Through classroom teaching, on-site 

training, webinars, and the provision of training materials, we carry out 

diversified trainings at various business levels for employees to enhance 

their knowledge and their skills.

The property development business of the Group provides employees 

at all levels with training that meets their development needs, such as 

professional training, corporate management training and marketing 

skills. In addition, some functions adopt a mentoring training system, 

and select potential talents to be trained by experienced masters.

The printing business of the Group establishes annual training plans, 

which are divided into six categories according to the training targets 

and purposes, including new employee orientation training, corporate 

culture training, safety and system training, professional skills training, 

management skills training and career development training, so as to 

comprehensively enhance employees’ job knowledge and skills. To 

enhance the quality of training, the Human Resources department 

distributes questionnaires to the participants after training to collect 

feedback to optimize the training content.
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Employee development and training 
(Continued)

Printing knowledge training

The printing business of the Group provides printing knowledge and 

quality control training for the frontline employees of the production and 

quality control department, so that employees can have a deeper 

understanding of the production and quality control process and 

update their relevant knowledge. The quality training clarifies the 

product quality requirements.

Printing knowledge and quality control training

The training data of the Group in the Year can be referred to Appendix I 

ESG Key Performance Indicator.

Occupational safety and health

Placing employees’ safety and health as the top priority, the Group 

strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the 

Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases (

), the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of 

China ( ), the Fire Control Law of the 

People’s Republic of China ( ), the 

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong (

/ Cap 509), and other relevant laws and regulations. The 

Group also actively enhances safety management measures to provide 

a healthy and safe working environment for employees.

During this Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-

compliance with laws and regulations relating to the workplace safety 

and the protection of employees from occupational hazards.
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GB50870-2013

Occupational safety and health (Continued)

Safe construction

Adhering to the principle of “maximum safety by prevention and 

comprehensive management”, the Group implements the “Operation 

Guidelines for Standardized Safety and Civilization Management” and 

other systems to ensure safety in the property development. In 

accordance with the Unified Code for Technique for Constructional 

Safety GB 50870-2013 ( ) and 

construction plans, the engineering department and the construction 

team exchange views on the safety techniques, and discuss the key 

points of construction and safety management. During the construction 

process, the engineering department has carried out safety checks of 

construction, so as to stop and rectify unsafe behaviours in time to 

prevent safety incidents.

Safety inspection of the Property development business

Safety production training of the Printing business
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Occupational safety and health (Continued)

Safe construction (Continued)

The key safety management measures of the Group’s property 

development business are presented as follows:

Safety use of Equipment Safety use of Electricity Safety of Construction Site

   

• Implementing the principle of 

“designated machines, 

responsible persons and duties” 

stringently to prevent the misuse 

of the construction equipment.

• Organising safety inspections 

regularly; rectification measures 

are applied as long as general 

safety hazards are discovered; 

project must be shut down for 

rectification when serious and 

major safety hazards are 

detected; construction can be 

continued only after passing the 

inspection and testing.

• Planning for the overall 

construction electricity 

consumption and specifying the 

responsible person for electricity 

usage.

• Inspecting temporary electricity 

use in accordance with the 

drawings.

• Purchasing standardised 

electricity boxes to prevent 

potential safety hazards caused 

by inferior electricity boxes.

• Installing safety facilities in the 

surrounding areas and hanging 

up warning signage.

• Piling up materials at designated 

locations, clearing and 

transporting them in time to 

maintain tidiness of the 

construction site.

To enhance employee’s safety awareness, the property development 

business of the Group provides safety training to the engineering 

department and the construction team before starting the project. 

Besides, project managers who are responsible for the safety of the 

construction sites and the operators of the special equipment must 

obtain corresponding certifications. We hold safety meetings when 

needed to communicate and solve possible safety hazards and 

problems in a timely manner.
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SA8000

Occupational safety and health (Continued)

Safe production

The Group’s printing business pays high attention to the management 

of safe production. Based on Social Accountability 8000 Management 

Manual ( SA8000 ), the “Environmental, Health and 

Safety Policy” (EHS Policy) and other regulations have been established 

and the health and safety standards have been enhanced continuously. 

At the same time, the printing business has set up a Health and Safety 

Committee consisting of the management representatives and worker 

representatives. It appointed coordinators to deal with environmental 

health and safety affairs. Those coordinators evaluate the health and 

safety risks in the workplace on a regular basis and rectify potential 

safety hazards, to ensure a safe production environment. We also set 

up a safety inspection team to perform inspections regularly on the 

safety production, such as fire-fighting equipment and passage, 

operation safety, use of the personal protective equipment (PPE), 

occupational disease risks, and the operating procedures of the 

equipments, in order to rectify and stop improper operation behaviour 

in time.

The Group has adopted safety management mechanism, increased 

on-site safety inspections, and organised training regarding 

environmental protection and epidemic prevention and control to 

respond to government’s requirements. We have completed 

emergency drills on electric shock, injuries due to fall, and fire 

precaution, and conducted checks for occupational health and safety 

when needed.

In order to implement the occupational health and safety strategy, the 

printing business of the Group provides regular training sessions on 

safe operation knowledge to the employees. These training sessions 

explain the operating procedures to enhance employees’ safe 

production awareness and reduce safety incidents. We also offer 

occupational health checkups when needed for employees involved in 

occupational hazards to detect occupational diseases and improve 

their health conditions in a timely manner.
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Occupational safety and health (Continued)

Safe production (Continued)

Building fire and disaster prevention awareness is crucial to 

occupational health and safety. To strengthen employees’ awareness 

on safe production, we invited the trainers of the Fire Bureau to provide 

occupational fire safety training, conducted fire drills and other disaster 

prevention training and drills, aiming at enhancing employees’ ability to 

evacuate during the dangerous circumstances.

Fire safety training and fire drills of the Printing business

In the past three years, the Group was not aware of any work-related 

fatalities, and the number of working days lost due to work-related 

injuries was 64 days. Other occupational health and safety data of the 

Group can be referred to Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator.
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Labour standards

The Group regards every employee as an important member of the 

Group. All staff will not be discriminated against their nationality, 

gender, age, ethnicity, race, physical condition, religious belief, gender 

orientation or any other factors. While respecting employees’ freedom 

of association and their rights of collective bargaining, we have 

established internal and external information communication and 

complaint channels, to follow up on complaints and protect the 

legitimate rights and interests of the employees.

We are strictly in compliance with the Law of the People’s Republic of 

China on the Protection of Minors ( ) 

and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (

), and verify the actual ages of the job applicants during the 

recruitment process. Meanwhile, the Group strictly abides by its 

internal labour management policies and forbids forcing employees to 

work or work overtime in any manner. In the event of discovering any 

false information of the applicants, or any false reporting of age or 

forced labour, the Group will conduct corresponding investigations and 

implement internal rectifications.

The property development business of the Group has established and 

implemented the “Measures to Protect the Rights and Interests of 

Outsourced Workers”. We have set up a special account for paying the 

outsourced workers’ wages to make deposits in advance and 

guarantee the payment. We regularly check the list of workers and their 

amount of wages, to urge the construction units to pay wages on time 

and in full.

The printing business of the Group prohibits the recruitment of child 

labour under the age of 16 and all recruits are required to hold their 

identity cards, which should be verified. Employees in all positions are 

well-equipped with the required labour protection supplies.

During this Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of child labour 

or forced labour which had caused any significant violation of labour 

standards.
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ISO9001

Supply chain management

While strictly complying with the Law of the People’s Republic of China 

on Bid Invitation and Bidding ( ) and 

relevant laws and regulations, the Group conducts regular reviews on 

its major suppliers to ensure their capabilities in quality management, 

del ivery t ime, after-sales service, as wel l  as the social and 

environmental risk management.

Tendering and supplier evaluation

The property development business of the Group has established and 

implemented the “Tender Management Policy” and other relevant 

policies to standardise the bidding mechanism and three methods are 

used to seek for qualified suppliers, namely invitation to tender, simple 

tender and direct entrustment. Bidding shall go through strict bidding 

approval process, including demand approval, shortlisted units 

approval, bidding documents approval and bid selection approval, etc., 

to ensure the openness and transparency of the procurement process.

The printing business of the Group has established and implemented 

the “Procurement Control Procedures” and the “Supplier Management 

Procedures” and other relevant policies. We conduct strict evaluations 

on suppliers and select qualified ones by adopting various assessment 

approaches, such as reviewing suppliers’ certifications, material quality 

related certificates (e.g., ISO9001 Certification) and material safety data 

sheets, and sample testing. We review the suppliers in the “List of 

Qualified Suppliers” to update the qualified suppliers.



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司100

Supply chain management (Continued)

Environmental and social responsibilities of 
suppliers

The Group evaluates and investigates major suppliers prior to 

cooperation, understands and updates information during cooperation 

to ensure their environmental and social performance is in compliance 

with relevant laws and regulations. Priority will be given to suppliers 

with outstanding environmental and social performance.

The printing business of the Group requires major suppliers to sign the 

“Social Responsibility Commitment Letter” and promise to abide by the 

local labour laws and regulations. Suppliers included in the “List of 

Qualified Suppliers” should sign the “Declaration of Conformity with the 

Restricted Substance Control Standards” and provide the levels of 

restricted substances contained as well as a test report from an 

approved third-party notary organisation to ensure that their raw 

materials are up to the criteria stated in international material safety 

standards, such as Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and 

Restriction of Chemicals (REACH)6, EN71-3 Safety of toys Part 3: 

Migration of Certain Elements7 and American toy safety standards 

ASTM F963-17 Standard Consumer Safety Specification for Toy 

Safety8. At the same time, the printing business continues to monitor 

the use of child labour by suppliers and the payment of labour salaries 

among suppliers. If a supplier is noted to intentionally hire child labour, 

forced labour, or have any other serious violations of labour laws or 

regulations, our cooperation with that supplier will be terminated 

immediately.

Year ended 
31 March 2023

Year ended 
31 March 2022

No. of suppliers
Location of suppliers
    

Mainland China 2,167 2,767

Hong Kong 22 22
    

6 REACH is the abbreviation of “registration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction 
of chemicals”. REACH is the regulation of the European Union on the preventive 
management of all chemicals entering its market.

7 EN71-3 Standard: The European Union made an official decision in 1999 to strictly 
limit the content of phthalates in mouth-contact toys (such as baby pacifiers) and 
other children’s products used by children under the age of three in EU member 
states.

8 ASTM F963-17 refers to the ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials 
International) standard consumer safety specification for toy safety.

(REACH) 6

EN71–3 3 7

ASTM 963-17
8

6 REACH
REACH

7 EN71-3 1999
3

8 ASTM F963-17 ASTM American 
Society for Testing and Materials International
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Product responsibility

The Group believes that excellent quality, creative design and 

professional after-sales service are the core of sustainable 

development. We strictly control the quality of printed materials and 

residential buildings, and provide professional and convenient after-

sales service for customers, striving to protect the consumer rights and 

interests. During this Year, the Group was not aware of any material 

non-compliance with any laws and regulations regarding health and 

safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products 

and services provided by the Group.

Property and printing quality control

Property development business

Taking “quality first” as a core development principle, the property 

development business of the Group strictly complies with the 

Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China (

) and other laws and regulations. We have established and 

implemented policies such as the “Construction Progress Management 

Guidelines”, the “Project Inspection and Evaluation Guidelines”, the 

“Management  Requ i rements  o f  Genera l  Cont ractors  and 

Subcontractors”, the “Process and Node Method” and the 

“Management Policy of Supervision Unit”, so as to implement 

standardized and comprehensive project quality management 

measures.

The property development business of the Group follows the quality 

policy of “prevention first” and implements quality control measures 

that cover prevention, inspection, summary and rectification, thus 

forming a closed-loop of the project quality management where 

responsibility is clearly defined, as to make timely corrections to 

unqualified projects in inspections. Through these efforts, the quality of 

the delivered properties can be guaranteed.
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Product responsibility (Continued)

Property and printing quality control (Continued)

Property development business (Continued)

Acceptance of materials 
 

• Verifying that the used materials or work in process materials have the qualification certificate or quality assurance 

certificate, and whether they are consistent with the designated brands

• Engineering materials and products must be supervised and submitted for sampling inspection at the construction site 

before use

• Correcting the measurement and metering devices used by the general contractor to ensure their accuracy

 

Preparation for construction 
 

• Having full preparation for construction, including developing construction plans, organizing the design and reviewing 

the construction drawings by the engineering departments to identify potential design issues. Technical clarification 

between the engineering design company, the supervision company, the general contractors and the subcontractors 

and the quality standards and requirement clarifications are needed to ensure the construction process is well-

organised and strictly complies with the design and technical requirements

• Implementing the model project system. A small-scale model project should be carried out first before starting a large-

scale one, which is allowed to be conducted only after the model project is accepted

• Consulting with the local supervisory departments, and inviting experts to provide guidance for key and difficult stages 

of the projects, so as to enhance the construction technical level
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Special acceptance and completion acceptance 
 

• The engineering department holds regular meetings and organises construction contractors to jointly convene on-site 

quality coordination meetings, special sessions on common quality defect prevention and control, and other 

communication meetings, so as to increase the quality awareness during construction

• Implementing the principle of inspecting each process. One process can be carried out only after the previous one 

passed the inspection by the construction contractor, on-site supervision engineer and the engineering department. If 

there are problems related to quality supervision, preventive measures, and engineering and quality issues caused by 

entering the next stage without inspection, or such problems are not rectified in time, the supervision engineer or the 

engineering department of the property development business will direct the construction unit to stop work immediately 

for rectification

• After a project is completed, it will be checked by the construction unit, the supervision unit and the Group’s 

acceptance team. If issues are found at the time of acceptance, the Group and the supervision unit will urge the 

construction contractors to rectify within a time limit

 

Delivery acceptance 
 

• After the completion acceptance is qualified for record, the project will enter into the warranty period. The issues raised 

by the owner during the handover and warranty period shall be sorted out by the property management and submitted 

to the general contractor and sub-contractors. The general contractor is responsible for supervising and urging the 

subcontractors to rectify

 

Product responsibility (Continued)

Property and printing quality control (Continued)

Property development business (Continued)
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Product responsibility (Continued)

Property and printing quality control (Continued)

Printing business

The printing business of the Group has developed a strict control 

system for the design of the printing materials and the production 

quality, and strived to safeguard customers’ rights and interests with 

an efficient management level. In terms of the product quality and 

safety, the Group has set the targets, which have been fully achieved 

this Year.

The Group strictly follows the Product Quality Law of the People’s 

Republic of China ( ), the Regulations on 

the Administration of Printing Industry ( ), the 

Provisions on the Administration of Undertaking of Presswork Printing 

( ) and other relevant laws and regulations and 

international product standards and has established policies and 

procedures such as the “Quality and Environmental Management 

Manual” and “Defective Product Output Management Procedures”. 

Besides, the Group has also established a management process for 

controlling product quality at every stage from incoming materials, 

semi-finished products to final products. The quality control procedures 

of the printing business mainly include four stages, which are the 

quality control of the incoming materials, work in process products, the 

final products, and the transportation and storage management.
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Product responsibility (Continued)

Property and printing quality control (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

Quality control of incoming materials 
 

• When selecting suppliers, we evaluate their market reputation, business scale and samples’ quality, and regularly 

evaluate material quality and delivery time during the cooperation, so as to select the ones with good performance to 

further cooperate

• Suppliers of raw materials, machinery and equipment are required to provide product test report from third-party 

testing organisations, sign the instruction of compliance with restricted substances to ensure that raw materials comply 

with the Restriction of the use of Hazardous so that our children’s book, food packaging products and other packaging 

products meet the safety requirements

• Checking whether incoming material is up to standard, eliminate incoming material quality problem

 

Quality control of work in process 
 

• Setting up standardised quality inspection procedures and carrying out strict inspection and dispatch standards on all 

products from raw materials to finished goods. Products at all phases must be tested qualified before entering the next 

stage
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Quality control of final products 
 

• Each batch of final products must pass the sampling inspection by the quality control department, and only the 

products with pass labels are allowed to be delivered, and implement the finished product inspection system

• The quality control department coordinates the technical department and production department to analyse the causes 

of quality issues and develops improvement measures relating to system, process and technology to improve the 

quality of finished goods

 

Transportation and storage management 
 

• Monitoring the temperature and humidity of the storage environment to avoid damage

• Employing professional transportation team to ensure cleanness and careful handling, and avoid getting wet from rain 

and snow during transportation

 

In order to enhance the quality inspectors’ professional competence, 

the Group has arranged professional training sessions on quality 

inspection of the printed materials. These training contents include 

professional inspection knowledge, such as different product features, 

inspection standards and judgement approaches, to enhance the 

professionalism and the efficiency of the inspection process. In order to 

enhance the quality of inspection, the “Quality System Assessment” 

policy has been implemented and the quality inspectors are evaluated 

to increase their levels of inspection.

Product responsibility (Continued)

Property and printing quality control (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)
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ISO9001:2015

BRC

G7 Master Facility Colorspace

Product responsibility (Continued)

Property and printing quality control (Continued)

Printing business (Continued)

The Group’s products are sold to local and overseas customers. We 

have implemented quality management which is certified with the third 

party certification of ISO9001:2015 Quality Management Standard. To 

satisfy the needs of international customers such as customers in 

North America and Europe, the Group has also obtained a number of 

international certificates, such as BRC Global Standard for Packaging 

& Packaging Materials (Issue 5) and the G7 Master Facility Colorspace 

Certification issued by the International Digital Enterprise Alliance 

(IDEAll iance). Having these certif ications shows the Group’s 

professional management ability regarding the printing colour controls 

and the packaging safety and health controls, in order to meet the 

international mandatory compliance requirements.

Professional training for quality control inspectors

In this Year, none of products in the printing business was recalled due 

to safety and health concerns.
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Product responsibility (Continued)

Customer service and satisfaction

The property development business of the Group has established 

policies such as the “Customer Reception Standards and Assessment 

and Supervision Mechanism”, “Customer Complaint Management 

System and Work Guidelines” and “Customer Satisfaction Survey 

Management Mechanism”, to standardise customer complaint follow 

up process. After receiving customer complaints, the property 

consultant or customer service specialist will coordinate relevant 

departments to discuss and draft plans to solve the complaints in a 

timely manner; as for property quality issues reported by the property 

owners during the inspection, we will liaise with the construction unit to 

follow up. The case can be closed only after being inspected by the 

owners. For material cases or claims, we will seek for legal department 

and the responsible unit’s advice to properly resolve the problems.

To fulfi l the commitment to customers, the Group’s property 

development business strictly tracks the construction plan, and 

supervises the effective implementation of the plan through regular 

meetings, performance appraisal and other means, so as to ensure 

that the houses are delivered in accordance with the agreed time. 

Before property delivery, design, engineering, marketing, customer 

service and other related departments will carry out comprehensive 

inspection, including property pre-acceptance, field check in 

accordance with construction drawings and the contract, to ensure 

that the quality and function of property and ancillary facilities are 

consistent with planning.

In this Year, we have not received any major complaint about the 

products or after-sales service of the property development business.
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Product responsibility (Continued)

Customer service and satisfaction (Continued)

The printing business of the Group strictly follows the Law of the 

People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and 

Interests ( ) and other relevant 

laws and regulations. The Group has established the “Control 

Procedures of Internal and External Communication Policy”, to collect 

customers’ complaints and opinions on product quality, delivery and 

service through various channels. The quality control department 

performs the inspection and resolves the abnormalities discovered by 

customers in time. For the complex product anomalies, the quality 

control department coordinates the sales department, the technology 

department, the production department, etc. to review customers’ 

feedback and follow up timely. The Group has not received any returns 

or recalls of merchandise during the financial year.

To standardise client satisfaction management, the printing business 

has established the “Management Procedures of Customer Satisfaction 

Survey and Analysis” and conducts customer satisfaction survey to 

understand their opinions and suggestions on the Group’s service 

level, technical capability, product quality and delivery capacity. Apart 

from identifying the changing trend of customer satisfaction, we also 

require relevant departments to follow up and communicate with 

customers to continuously increase customer satisfaction.
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486

Product responsibility (Continued)

Customer service and satisfaction (Continued)

In this Year, the statistics regarding after-sales service of the printing 

business of the Group are shown as below:

Unit

Year ended 
31 March 2023

Year ended 

31 March 2022

    

Complaints received on products and services Number of Complaints 1 8

    

All complaints are dealt promptly.

Customer information and privacy protection

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of the security 

of clients’ product information and privacy. We have implemented the 

“Confidential Work Guidelines” and “Written Information Management 

Procedures” to standardise the protective measures and processes of 

clients’ information and privacy, so as to effectively protect the rights 

and interests of customers and follows the “Personal Data (Privacy) 

Ordinance” ( ( ) /Cap 486) and other relevant laws 

and regulations. The Group respects the privacy and security of 

customers. By setting access right for customer information and 

carrying out awareness training to employees who have access to 

customer information, we ensure employees are able to protect 

customers’ information. We designate special personnel to retain the 

documents relating to customer information, and strictly manage 

computers, account numbers, computer rooms and network used by 

employees to prevent information leakage.
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Product responsibility (Continued)

Marketing and promotion compliance

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the People’s 

Republic of China ( ), the Trademark Law of 

the People’s Republic of China ( ) and other 

relevant laws and regulations, strictly reviews the terms and pictures of 

information released in the official account and publicity materials, so 

as to prevent inaccurate or misleading descriptions of the business, 

housing and printing products, and protect customers’ consumer 

rights and interests. At the same time, all planning materials for external 

image display and marketing activities of the Group are subject to strict 

internal review to ensure the compliance of marketing activities and 

publicity materials.

Protection of intellectual property rights

The Group strictly complies with the Trademark Law of the People’s 

Republic of China ( ), the Copyright Law of 

the People’s Republic of China ( ), the 

Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China (

) and other related laws and regulations. The group standardises 

the application, registration, ownership change and related information 

management of intellectual property rights, through signing agreements 

for trademark and copyright use, applying patent for our own product 

and technology, and consulting internal and external legal experts, etc. 

We also avoid infringing others’ trademark right, copyright and patent 

right. Meanwhile, the Group provides training for relevant personnel on 

an ongoing basis, and monitors the implementation of intellectual 

property related systems, so as to ensure the Group’s compliance with 

intellectual property management.
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619

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly implements anti-corruption policies, complies with 

the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China (

), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of 

China ( ), the Prevention of Bribery 

Ordinance of Hong Kong ( /Cap 201), the Competition 

Ordinance of Hong Kong ( /Cap 619) and other relevant 

laws and regulations. By adhering to the integrity principle, we maintain 

a just, fair and open business environment.

During this Year, we are not aware of any major violations of laws and 

regulations pertaining to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. 

There were no identified cases of corruption litigation relating to the 

Group and our employees.

Anti-corruption management and training

The Group takes integrity and honesty as the foundation of our 

business development and established the “Magnus Concordia Group 

Code of Conduct” and the “Magnus Concordia Group Whistleblowing 

Mechanism” to strictly prohibit any corruptive behaviour. The Group 

develops guidelines on anti-corruption in the “Employee Handbook”, 

encourages employees to develop professional ethics and to follow the 

laws and regulations, and prohibits corrupt practices such as accepting 

kickbacks. The suppliers of the printing business of the Group are 

required to sign the anti-bribery and anti-corruption statement. 

Unethical behavior is controlled through systems and processes, with 

the monitor of internal audit department of the Group.

The Group attaches great importance to the education on integrity for 

the directors and the employees. We provide “Anti-corruption 

Programme — A Guide for Listed Companies” (

) to the directors and the employees, conduct anti-corruption 

training, guidance to the new hires on the materials relating to self-

discipline in the “Employee Handbook”, and post the integrity and self-

discipline notice on bulletin boards of the main business segments, 

etc., so as to actively promote the corporate culture of integrity and 

honesty.
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Anti-corruption (Continued)

Training on internal integrity

In order to strengthen the awareness of integrity, the printing business 

conducts integrity and self-discipline training. The training not only 

pointed out the job-related crimes that the employees are likely to 

involve and how to prevent such crimes, but also put emphasis on the 

integrity requirements for the employees.

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery training

Anti-corruption reporting channels

The Group has set up a variety of reporting channels. Whistle-blowers 

can report any improper matters within the Group by sending the 

“Report Form” to the internal audit department of the Group, emailing 

or calling the head of the internal audit department. We will make 

reasonable efforts to prevent the leak of reporters’ information. After 

receiving the report, the internal audit department of the Group will 

conduct further investigation and report to the Audit Committee. For 

serious or critical cases, the internal audit department of the Group and 

the Audit Committee will report to the Board of Directors at earliest 

convenience, and the Board of Directors will discuss and determine the 

recommendations for further handling. Serious cases will be passed to 

relevant authorities for investigation.

Details of the anti-corruption training provided by the Group during the 

year can be referred to Appendix 1 ESG Key Performance Indicator.
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Community investment

The Group is actively involved in the community investment activities, 

and maintains close relationship with the surrounding communities, 

works with those communities to promote mutual development, and 

makes contributions to build a harmonious society. Considering the 

significant impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the tenants’ operating 

conditions this Year, the Group has decided to provide concession to 

tenants in Hong Kong, to reduce their financial burden and tie over the 

difficulties together.

In this Year, the Group participated in the Skip Lunch Day organised by 

The Community Chest (a non-government and non-profitable charitable 

organization). It was an annual fundraising campaign. The money 

raised will be used to help those in need.
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I ESGAppendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator

Environmental Key Performance Indicator

Indicator Unit
Year ended 

31 March 2023
Year ended 

31 March 2022

    

Greenhouse gas (GHG)

    

Total emissions Tonnes of CO
2
e 1,520.86 3,163.65

 Direct emissions (Scope 1) Tonnes of CO
2
e 86.42 99.99

 Indirect emissions (Scope 2) Tonnes of CO
2
e 1,434.43 3,063.65

GHG emissions intensity (Scope 1 and 2) (Production) Tonnes of CO
2
e/Tonnes 0.23 0.38

    

Air emissions

    

Nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) kg 200.10 281.12

Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) kg 0.43 0.56

Particular matter (“PM”) kg 14.40 20.22
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Indicator Unit
Year ended 

31 March 2023
Year ended 

31 March 2022

    

Hazardous waste

    

Total hazardous waste disposal Tonnes 4.87 5.70

Intensity of hazardous waste disposal (Production) kg/Tonnes 0.78 0.85

    

Non-hazardous waste

    

Total non-hazardous waste produced Tonnes 174.66 743.29

Intensity of non-hazardous waste produced (Production) Tonnes/Tonnes 0.02 0.06

    

Non-hazardous waste disposed

    

Domestic waste Tonnes 9.81 15.38

Construction waste Tonnes 51.00 305.00

    

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Environmental Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

I ESG
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Indicator Unit
Year ended 

31 March 2023
Year ended 

31 March 2022

    

Non-hazardous waste recycled

    

Paper Tonnes 105.90 309.72

Metal Tonnes 10.46 55.93

Food waste Tonnes 3.92 22.96

Wood Tonnes 28.77 40.90

Earthwork (mud) Tonnes – –

Discarded electrical appliance Tonnes – –

Discarded furniture Tonnes – –

    

Energy

    

Total consumption MWh 2,727.80 4,106.38

 Electricity MWh 2,466.48 3,765.56

 

 Diesel MWh 178.88 254.35

 

 Unleaded petrol MWh 106.35 117.63

 

Energy consumption intensity (Production) MWh/Tonnes 0.41 0.51

    

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Environmental Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

I ESG
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Indicator Unit
Year ended 

31 March 2023
Year ended 

31 March 2022

    

Water

    

Water consumption m3 48,453.00 74,714.36

Water consumption intensity (Production) m3/Tonnes 7.53 10.01

    

Packaging materials

    

Packaging material consumption Tonnes 39.62 56.33

 Plastic bag and tape Tonnes 4.14 5.88

 

 Paper box Tonnes 35.48 50.45

 

Packaging material consumption density (Production) Tonnes/Tonnes of 

 production

0.01 0.01

    

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Environmental Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

I ESG
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I ESG

1) 

2022

2022

2022

2) 

GB/T 2589-2020

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Scope of environmental data collection

Environmental data was collected from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, 

covering the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong, Zigong Zhongzhi 

Cultural Tourism Investment Co., Ltd. and Guangdong Boluo Yuanzhou 

Midas Printing Limited.

Notes to environmental data and coefficients

1) GHG emissions (Scope 1) mainly come from the primary energy 

consumption of the fixed equipment and vehicles, while GHG 

emissions (Scope 2) mainly originate from consumption of 

electricity. The above data is sourced from relevant fee bills and 

administrative ledgers. GHG factors for domestic power grid are 

subject to GHG factors for power grid are subject to the 

Notification on Key Points for Management of Enterprises’ 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting in 2022 issued by the 

Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of 

China and the emission factor disclosed in 2022 Sustainability 

Report of HK Electric Investments. GHG factors for other energy 

categor ies are subject to the Report ing Guidance on 

Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange.

2) In this Year, energy consumed by the Group include fuel 

consumed by fixed equipment, official vehicles and purchased 

electricity. The above data is from relevant fee bills and 

administrative ledgers; the energy consumption coefficients are 

subject to conversion factors provided by the Reporting 

Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange 

and the GB/T 2589-2020 General Rules for Calculation of the 

Comprehens i ve  Energy  Consumpt ion  i ssued by  the 

Standardization Administration of the State Administration of 

Market Regulation of the People’s Republic of China.
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I ESG

3) 

4) 

5) 

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Notes to environmental data and coefficients 
(Continued)

3) The Group mainly uses municipal tap water and the above data 

is collected from water bills, financial reimbursement records and 

administrative ledgers.

4) Production intensity data covers Guangdong Boluo Yuanzhou 

Midas Printing Limited.

5) In this Year, the decrease in the number and usage of official 

vehicles of the Group, and the increase in the proportion of 

outsourcing production of printing business, led to a significant 

decrease in direct energy usage, GHG emissions (Scope 1 & 2) 

and water consumption. For the property development business, 

some projects have been delivered, while the remaining projects 

are in a later stage of construction, resulting in a significant 

reduction in the weight of construction waste.
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I ESGAppendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator

Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2023 Year ended 31 March 2022

   

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, age group, geographical region and employment type

B1.1
Number of 
employees Proportion

Number of 
employees Proportion

      

By gender Male 78 49.68% 110 46.41%

Female 79 50.32% 127 53.59%

By age group 20 and below 0 0% 1 0.42%

20

21-30 18 11.46% 30 12.66%

21-30

31-40 68 43.31% 86 36.29%

31-40

41-50 50 31.85% 102 43.04%

41-50

51-60 18 11.46% 18 7.59%

51-60

Above 60 3 1.91% 0 0%

60

By geographical region Mainland China 137 87.26% 208 87.77%

Hong Kong 20 12.74% 28 11.81%

Overseas 0 0% 1 0.42%

By employment type Full-time 157 100% 237 100%

Contractor 0 0% 0 0%
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Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2023 Year ended 31 March 2022

   

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region

B1.2
Number of 
employees 

leaving 
employment

Turnover 
rate

Number of 
employees 

leaving 
employment

Turnover 
rate

      

By gender Male 60 43.48% 208 65.41%

Female 57 42.22% 132 50.77%

By age group 20 and below 1 100.00% 11 91.67%

20

21-30 16 47.06% 55 62.50%

21-30

31-40 27 27.84% 119 58.62%

31-40

41-50 54 51.43% 117 53.42%

41-50

51-60 13 44.83% 33 64.71%

51-60

Above 60 0 0% 5 100%

60

By geographical region Mainland China 84 38.36% 333 61.55%

Hong Kong 19 48.72% 7 19.44%

Overseas 1 100.00% 0 0%

      

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued)

I ESG
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Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2023 Year ended 31 March 2022

   

B2 Health and Safety

B2
Work-related fatalities 0 0

Lost days due to work injuries 0 64

No. of people participating in general health check 0 0

No. of persons participating in occupational health check 33 58

Number of fire drill preparation/execution 2 2

Attendance at fire drill preparation/execution 469 36

Number of safety training preparation/execution 2 26

      

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued)

I ESG
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Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2023 Year ended 31 March 2022

   

B3.1&B3.2 The percentage of employees trained ad average training hours per employee by gender and ranking 
category

B3.1&B3.2 

Category

Percentage 
of trained 

employees

Average 
training 

hours per 
employee

Percentage 
of trained 

employees

Average 
training 

hours per 
employee

      

By gender Male 54.93% 65.62 60.61% 62.15

Female 45.07% 94.19 56.09% 51.23

By ranking Senior Management 18.31% 21.54 71.21% 22.85

Middle Management 16.90% 35.00 85.06% 17.60

General and Technical Staff 64.79% 105.93 83.51% 110.82

      

B5 Number of suppliers by geographical region

B5
By geographical region Mainland China 2,167 2,767

Hong Kong 22 22

      

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued)

I ESG
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Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2023 Year ended 31 March 2022

   

B6 Product Responsibility

B6
Product recalls due to health and safety issues 0 0

Complaints related to product and service (Printing business) 1 8

Complaints related to product and service 

 (Property development business) 0 0

     

B7 Anti-corruption

B7
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 

 brought against the Company and its employees 0 0

     

Anti-corruption training
Trained 

employees

Total 
training 

hours
Trained 

employees

Total 
training 

hours

      

Anti-corruption training provided to directors 6 6 5 10

Anti-corruption training provided 

 to employees

Senior Management 3 6 5 10

Middle Management & General 

 and Technical Staff

8 16 40 80

      

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued)

I ESG
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I ESG

1) B1.2

=

+

2) B3.1

=

B3.2

=

Appendix I ESG Key Performance Indicator 
(Continued)

Scope of social data collection

Social data collected from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 was included 

in this ESG report, covering the Group’s headquarter in Hong Kong, 

Zigong Zhongzhi Cultural Tourism Investment Co. Ltd. and Guangdong 

Boluo Yuanzhou Midas Printing Limited.

Notes to social data and coefficients

1) The formula for calculating the B1.2 employee turnover rate is: 

employee turnover ratio = the number of leaving employees 

during the year / (the number of employees at the beginning of 

the year + the number of entering employees during the year).

2) The formula for calculating the percentage of B3.1 trained 

employees in the Group is: percentage of trained employees = 

number of trained employees during the year/number of 

employees at the end of the year. The formula for B3.2 trained 

hours per person is: number of trained hours per person = total 

trained hours/number of employees at the end of the year.
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IIAppendix II ESG Reporting Guide Content 
Index

ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

   

A1 General disclosure Information on the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air 

and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and 

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Environmental

A1

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit 

of production volume, per facility).

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

1 2 I ESG

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and where appropriate, 

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 

them.

Environmental

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken 

to achieve them.

Environmental
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ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

   

A2 General disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water 

and other raw materials.

Environmental

A2
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, 

gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of 

production volume, per facility).

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 

volume, per facility).

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 

achieve them.

Environmental

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit 

for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 

them.

Environmental

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, 

if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

A3 General disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the 

environment and natural resources.

Environmental

A3
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

Environmental

A4 General disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related 

issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the 

issuer.

Environmental

A4

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions 

taken to manage them.

Environmental

IIAppendix II ESG Reporting Guide Content 
Index (Continued)
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ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

   

B1 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to 

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working 

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, 

and other benefits and welfare.

Employment and labour 

practices

B1

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or 

part-time), age group and geographical region.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical 

region.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B2 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to 

providing a safe working environment and protecting employees 

from occupational hazards.

Occupational safety and 

health

B2

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the 

past three years including the reporting year.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted 

and how they are implemented and monitored.

Occupational safety and 

health

Appendix II ESG Reporting Guide Content 
Index (Continued)

II



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司130

ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

   

B3 General disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

Employee development 

and training

B3
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 

category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 

employee category.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B4 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to 

preventing child and forced labour.

Labour standards

B4

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid 

child and forced labour.

Labour standards

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 

discovered.

Labour standards

B5 General disclosure Policies on managing the environmental and social risks of the 

supply chain.

Supply chain 

management

B5
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of 

suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they 

are implemented and monitored.

Supply chain 

management

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social 

risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and 

monitored.

Supply chain 

management

Appendix II ESG Reporting Guide Content 
Index (Continued)

II
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ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

   

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are 

implemented and monitored.

Supply chain 

management

B6 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to 

health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating 

to products and services provided and methods of redress.

Product responsibility

B6

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 

safety and health reasons.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and 

how they are dealt with.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B6.3 Description of the practices relating to observing and protecting 

intellectual property rights.

Product Responsibility

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product responsibility

B6.5 Description of the consumer data protection and privacy policies, 

and how they are implemented and monitored.

Product responsibility

Appendix II ESG Reporting Guide Content 
Index (Continued)

II
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ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

   

B7 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to 

bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

B7

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting 

period and the outcomes of the cases.

Appendix I ESG Key 

Performance Indicator

I ESG

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 

how they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-corruption

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and 

employees.

Anti-corruption

B8 General disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities 

take into consideration the communities’ interests.

Community investment

B8

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, 

labour needs, health, culture, sport).

Community investment

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment

IIAppendix II ESG Reporting Guide Content 
Index (Continued)
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Report of the Directors

The Board presents the report of the directors together with the 

audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 

2023.

Business Review

The information on business review is set out in the Management and 

Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to 24 of this annual report. Such 

discussion forms part of this “Report of the Directors”.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis 
of Operations

The Company is an investment holding company incorporated in the 

Cayman Islands and its subsidiaries are established in Hong Kong, 

Mainland China and the British Virgin Islands. The Group is primarily 

engaged in property development, manufacturing and trading of 

printed products, property investment and treasury business. The 

principal activities and other details of the principal subsidiaries are set 

out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the performance of the Group for the year by business lines 

and geographical segments is set out in note 4 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out 

in the consolidated financial statements on pages 162 to 276 of this 

annual report.

Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final 

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023.

14 24

40

4

162 276
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Report of the Directors

Particulars of Principal Properties

Particulars of principal investment properties and completed properties 

for sale held by the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out on pages 

277 to 279 of this annual report.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group 

for the past five financial years is set out on page 280 of this annual 

report.

Major Suppliers and Customers

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 28% 

of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest 

supplier included therein amounted to 10%.

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 

21% of the total sales for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which 

to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the number 

of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in these major 

suppliers or customers.

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

The Group establishes long-term cooperation relationships with 

reputable suppliers within the industries. The Group implements a 

series of procurement management systems and control procedures 

so as to select suppliers in a prudent manner.

The Group keeps good relat ionship and maintains effective 

communication mechanisms with its customers. This is to ensure that 

the Group is well aware of all customers’ requirements or feedbacks 

on a timely basis and provide high quality services to its customers.

277 279

280

28% 10%

21%

5%
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Report of the Directors

Share Capital

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company during the 

year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to the Company’s Article of Association, share premium, 

other reserve and contributed surplus of the Company are available for 

distr ibution to ordinary shareholders (after deduction of the 

accumulated losses) provided that the Company will be able to pay its 

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately 

following the date on which any such distribution is proposed to be 

paid.

Detail of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are 

set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 166 

of the annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor any of 

its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 

securities listed and traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

29

166
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report 

were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Mou Li

 (appointed on 1 March 2023)

Mr. Liang Fan

Mr. Huang Zhidan (appointed on 15 July 2022)

 Ms. Zeng Zhu (resigned on 1 March 2023)

 Ms. Au Hoi Lee Janet (resigned on 15 July 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Jianfeng

Mr. Wang Zhengjun

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

 (appointed on 25 November 2022)

 Mr. Ho Man (retired on 31 August 2022)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of 

the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at annual general 

meeting and be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Xu Jianfeng 

and Mr. Wang Zhengjun will retire and, being eligible, will offer 

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of 

the Company to be held on Monday, 28 August 2023.

Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or 

as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following 

general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-

election at the relevant meeting. Accordingly, Ms. Mou Li and Mr. Liu 

Ying Shun will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at annual 

general meeting.

The initial term of office of each independent non-executive Director will 

be two years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least 

once every three years.
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26 30

3.13

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as at the 

date of this annual report are set out on pages 26 to 30 of this annual 

report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 

annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or its 

subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year 

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, 
Arrangements and Contracts that are 
Significant in relation to the Group’s Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation 

to the Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its holding 

companies, its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, was a party and in 

which a Director or the Director’s connected entities had a material 

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year 

or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

During the year ended 31 March 2023, none of the Directors or their 

respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any 

interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete, either 

directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company and its 

subsidiaries.

Annual Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each independent non-executive 

Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company 

considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with each 

and every guideline set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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XV

(a) XV 7

8

(b)

XV 352

(c)

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 

entered into or existed during the year.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and 
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares 
and Debentures

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors nor chief executives of the 

Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position in 

the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any 

of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required 

to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant to 

the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 

interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have 

under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to 

Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred 

to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year under review, none of the Directors and chief 

executives nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age were 

granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any securities of the 

Company, its specif ied undertaking or any of its associated 

corporations.
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XV 2 3

XV 336

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares 
and Underlying Shares

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company 

as at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of persons in 

the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to 

be disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 

and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to 

Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred 

to therein were as follows:

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of the 
Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest

Aggregate
Number of

Ordinary
Shares of the

Company
Held

Approximate
Percentage of
Interest in the

Ordinary
Share of the

Company

    

Qingda Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

New Element Investments Limited

 (“New Element”) ( New Element )

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Integrity Fund Limited Partnership

 (“Integrity Fund”) ( Integrity Fund )

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Kapok Wish Investment Limited

 (“Kapok Wish”) ( Kapok Wish )

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Xinsheng International Holding Limited

 (“Xinsheng International”)

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Zeng Dazhang Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Wang Xiqiang Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%
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Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest

Aggregate
Number of

Ordinary
Shares of the

Company
Held

Approximate
Percentage of
Interest in the

Ordinary
Share of the

Company

    

Ally Cosmo Group Limited (“Ally Cosmo”) Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Li Li Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Juye Investments Limited 

 (“Juye Investments”)

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Zhang Jing Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Shining Orient Investment Limited

 (“Shining Orient”) ( Shining Orient )

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Pioneer Fund Limited Partnership

 (“Pioneer Fund”) ( Pioneer Fund )

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Hong Kong Huixin Investment Limited 

 (“Hong Kong Huixin”)

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Higher Cycle Investment Limited

 (“Higher Cycle”) ( Higher Cycle )

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

SFund International Investment Fund 

 Management Limited 

 (“SFund International”)

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%
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Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest

Aggregate
Number of

Ordinary
Shares of the

Company
Held

Approximate
Percentage of
Interest in the

Ordinary
Share of the

Company

    

Guangzhou Huiyin Tianye Equity 

 Investment Fund Management 

Company, Limited

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Guangzhou Technology Financial 

 Innovation Investment Holdings Limited

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund 

 Management Company, Limited

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Guangzhou City Construction 

 Investment Group Limited

Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,4731 32.97%

Luso International Banking Limited 

 (“Luso International”)

Security interest in the shares 1,905,583,4732 32.97%

Huijin Dingsheng International Holding 

 Company Limited

Beneficial owner 1,618,143,7243 28.00%

Xu Ruiqiao Interest of a controlled corporation 1,618,143,7243 28.00%



ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報 143

Report of the Directors

1. 

32.97% New 

Element New Element Integrity Fund

Integrity Fund

50% 50%

Integrity Fund Kapok Wish Kapok 

Wish Shining Orient

30% 30% 40%

Shining Orient

Pioneer Fund Pioneer Fund

Pioneer Fund

Higher Cycle

XV

2. 1,905,583,473

3. 

28.00%

XV

XV 2 3

XV 336

Notes:

1. Such interests represented 32.97% of the issued share capital of the Company 

owned by Qingda Developments Limited, a company wholly-owned by New 

Element, which is in turn wholly-owned by Integrity Fund. The limited partner of 

Integrity Fund is Xinsheng International, which is owned 50% by Mr. Zeng Dazhang 

and 50% by Mr. Wang Xiqiang. The general partner of Integrity Fund is Kapok Wish. 

Kapok Wish is owned as to 30% by Ally Cosmo, 30% by Juye Investments and 

40% by Shining Orient. Ally Cosmo is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Li, and Juye 

Investments is wholly-owned by Ms. Zhang Jing. Shining Orient is wholly-owned by 

Pioneer Fund. The limited partner of Pioneer Fund is Hong Kong Huixin, which is 

wholly-owned by SFund International. The general partner of Pioneer Fund is Higher 

Cycle, which is wholly-owned by SFund International. SFund International is wholly-

owned by Guangzhou Huiyin Tianyue Equity Investment Fund Management Co. Ltd 

(“Huiyin”). Huiyin is wholly-owned by Guangzhou Technology Financial Innovation 

Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (“Guangzhou Technology”). Guangzhou Technology is 

wholly-owned by Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. 

(“Guangzhou Industrial”). Guangzhou Industrial is wholly-owned by Guangzhou City 

Construction Investment Group Co. Ltd, which is a state-owned enterprise of the 

People Republic of China. Accordingly, all of the abovementioned parties were 

deemed to be interested in the interests owned by Qingda Developments Limited 

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Luso International is interested in 1,905,583,473 shares in its capacity as a person 

having a security interest in the shares.

3. Such interests represented 28.00% of the issued share capital of the Company 

owned by Huijin Dingsheng International Holding Company Limited, a company 

wholly-owned by Ms. Xu Ruiqiao. Accordingly, Ms. Xu Ruiqiao is deemed to be 

interested in the interests owned by Huijin Dingsheng International Holding 

Company Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, 

as at 31 March 2023, there was no other person who was recorded in 

the register of the Company as having interests or short positions in 

the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be 

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of 

Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 336 of 

Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

Controlling Shareholder’s Interest in 
Contracts

There was no contract of significance between the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any 

of its subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this annual 

report.
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Share Option Scheme

A summary of the share option scheme of the Company (the 

“Scheme”) is set out as follows:

1. Purpose: To give incentive to non-executive Directors, employees, suppliers, 

customers or business consultants of the Group and any other party 

as approved under the Scheme.

2. Participants: Including, inter alia, non-executive Directors, employees, suppliers, 

customers or business consultants of the Group.

3. Total number of shares available for issue 

under the Scheme and percentage of the 

issued share capital that it represents as at 

the date of this annual report:

577,919,666 ordinary shares are available for issue under the 

Scheme, representing 10% of the issued share capital as at the date 

of this annual report.

577,919,666

10%

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant: The maximum number of shares issuable under options granted to 

each eligible participant in accordance with the Scheme within any 

12-month period is limited to 1% of the issued share capital of the 

Company (or such other percentage as may from time to time be 

permitted under the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and 

regulations) at any time. Any further grant is subject to the 

shareholders’ approval in general meeting with the participant and the 

close associates of such participant abstaining from voting.

12

1%
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5. Period within which the shares must be taken 

up under an option:

An option may be exercised by the grantee at any time during the 

period, commencing on the date of offer for option (the “Offer Date”) 

(which must be a business day) and in any event such period must 

not be more than 10 years from the Offer Date, subject to any 

restrictions or the minimum holding periods or conditions (including 

but not limited to any performance targets or the time required for 

which an option must be held before it can be exercised) on the 

exercise of the options as the committee, which is delegated with the 

powers of the Directors to administer the Scheme, in its absolute 

discretion may determine. No performance target is expressly 

specified in the Scheme.

No share option has been granted since the date of adoption of the 

Scheme on 31 August 2022.

6. Amount payable on acceptance of an option 

and the period within which payments shall be 

made:

HK$1.00 payable to the Company upon acceptance of option which 

should be taken up within 10 days from the Offer Date.

10 1.00

7. The basis of determining the exercise price: No less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the 

Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet 

on the Offer Date (which must be a trading day); (ii) the average 

closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock 

Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days 

immediately preceding the Offer Date (which must be a trading day); 

and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

8. The remaining life of the Scheme: Valid until 30 August 2032 unless otherwise terminated under the 

terms of the Scheme.
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14A.49

35

14A

Arrangement to Purchase Shares or 
Debentures

Other than the section “Share Option Scheme” disclosed above, at no 

time during the year under review there subsisted any arrangement to 

which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries, 

fellow subsidiaries or its other associated corporations was a party and 

the objectives of or one of the objectives of such arrangement are/is to 

enable the Directors, their respective spouse or children under the age 

of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company, its specified undertaking or any of its 

associated corporations.

Equity-linked Arrangements

Save as the Scheme disclosed in the above section “Share Option 

Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the 

Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any 

agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were 

entered into by the Company during the year and subsisted at the end 

of the year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s 

Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would 

oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 

shareholders.

Connected Transaction

The Group did not enter into any connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions during the year which are required to be 

disclosed in this annual report pursuant to Rule 14A.49 of the Listing 

Rules. Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in 

note 35 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. None of 

such related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction of 

the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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32 68

70 132

179

Corporate Governance

Report for the corporate governance practice adopted by the Company 

is set out on pages 32 to 68 of this annual report.

Environmental Policies

With regard to the environmental policies, the Group aims to minimise 

the Group’s environmental impact. The Group is committed to 

promoting awareness and decisions that contribute to achieving 

environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply fully 

with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel, 

water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We 

recognise this to be a continuous process of improvement and we 

seek to actively look for environmentally-friendly options and carry out 

environmentally-friendly practices whenever appropriate and possible.

Further details will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and 

Governance Report of the Company on pages 70 to 132 of this annual 

report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Under Article 179 of the Company’s Articles of Association, every 

Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the 

Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/

her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or 

criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/

she is acquitted. During the year under review, the Company had taken 

out and maintained an insurance in respect of the Directors’ liabilities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and 

within knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained 

sufficient public float as required by the Listing Rules throughout the 

year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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157

237

Number of Employees and Remuneration 
Policy

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 157 (2022: 237) staff and 

workers. The Group provides its employees with benefits including 

performance-based bonus, retirement benefits contribution, medical 

insurance and staff training. Also, the Company adopted the Scheme 

to provide alternative means to align the employees’ career goal with 

the Group’s business strategy. Details of the Scheme are set out in the 

section “Share Option Scheme” of this annual report.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund 

retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong 

under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The 

employees of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China are 

members of the Central Pension Scheme operated by the Mainland 

China government. There were no forfeited contributions (by employers 

on behalf of employees who leave the retirement benefits scheme prior 

to vesting fully in such contributions) be used to reduce the existing 

level of contributions during the year ended 31 March 2023. As at 31 

March 2023, no forfeited contribution under the retirement benefits 

schemes of the Group is available to reduce the contribution payable in 

future years.

The Group’s remuneration policy for its employees is set up and 

approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis 

of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Remuneration 

Committee and the Board, as authorized by the shareholders in annual 

general meeting, having regarded to the Group’s operating results, 

individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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13.21

1. 

1.50

2. 

1.60

(i)

Kapok Wish

Kapok Wish Integrity Fund

(ii)Integrity Fund

Loan Agreement(s) with Covenants Relating 
to Specific Performance Obligations of the 
Controlling Shareholders

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the 

Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in respects of the 

Company’s bank loan facilities entered into during the year and/or 

subsisting at the end of the year, which contain covenants requiring 

specific performance obligations of the Company’s controlling 

shareholders (such specific performance obligations do not constitute 

or form part of any financial guarantees for repayment):

1. On 30 September 2019, the Company, as a guarantor, and 

certain of its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, as borrowers, 

entered into a revolving loan facility agreement with a bank, as 

the lender, for certain banking facilities with an agreement 

amount of up to HK$150 million which is subject to annual review 

without a definitive maturity date. Pursuant to the terms of the 

revolving loan facility agreement, Qingda and any persons acting 

in concert with it shall remain the largest group of shareholders of 

the Company at all times during the subsistence of the banking 

facility. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement 

dated 30 September 2019.

2. On 7 January 2021, the Company, as the borrower, entered into 

a term loan facility agreement with a bank, as the lender, for a 

term loan banking facility of HK$160 million, with final maturity 

date falling five years from the first utilisation date. Pursuant to 

the terms of the loan facility agreement, the Company undertook 

to the lender that (i) it shall procure that SFund International shall 

directly or indirectly remain as the largest shareholder of Kapok 

Wish, and Kapok Wish shall remain as the general partner of 

Integrity Fund, and (ii) Integrity Fund (which is deemed to be 

interested in the shares of the Company held by Qingda, a 

controlling shareholder and the single largest shareholder of the 

Company) shall directly or indirectly remain as the largest 

shareholder of the Company. Details of the transaction are set 

out in the announcement dated 7 January 2021.
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32.97%

15

1 103

16

17

Failure to comply with the above requirement will constitute an event of 

default under the respective facility agreements. In such case, the 

relevant lender stated above may declare the covenants breached and/

or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest accrued and 

all other amounts payable by the Company to be immediately due and 

payable. As at 31 March 2023, Qingda held 32.97% of the issued 

share capital of the Company and is the largest shareholder of the 

Company. As such, the above specific performance obligations have 

been complied with.

Annual General Meeting

The 2023 annual general meeting of the Company will be held on 

Monday, 28 August 2023 (the “2023 AGM”) at 11:00 a.m. at Room 

103, 1/F, Duke of Windsor Social Service Building, 15 Hennessy Road, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the shareholders’ rights to attend and 

vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be 

closed from Wednesday, 23 August 2023 to Monday, 28 August 2023 

(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be 

effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all 

transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates 

must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and 

transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, 

Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 

4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 22 August 2023.
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Review of Accounts

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2023, including the 

accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group.

Independent Auditor

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 

31 March 2023 have been audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited, 

who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment 

as independent auditor of the Company at the 2023 AGM.

On behalf of the Board of

Magnus Concordia Group Limited

Mou Li
Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Shareholders of Magnus Concordia Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Magnus 

Concordia Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”) set out on pages 162 to 276, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and 

the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 

2023, and of its consolidated f inancial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

大華馬施雲會計師事務所有限公司

香港九龍
尖沙咀廣東道30號
新港中心一座801-806室

162 276
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 

Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 

for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our 

report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, 

which states that during the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group 

had a net loss of HK$352,847,000 and an operating net cash outflow 

of HK$34,719,000, and the Group’s bank loans with the aggregate 

amount of HK$161,134,000 as at 31 March 2023 contain repayment 

on demand clause and have financial covenants which were breached 

during the year ended 31 March 2023, as detailed in note 26 to the 

consolidated financial statements. As stated in note 2 to the 

consolidated financial statements, these conditions, along with other 

matters as set forth in the note 2, indicate the existence of material 

uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect 

of these matters.

2

352,847,000

34,719,000

161,134,000

26

2 2
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 

not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the 

matter described in the Material Uncertainly Related to Going Concern 

section, we have determined the matters described below to be the 

key audit matters to be communicated in our report. For each matter 

below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 

provided in that context.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

  

Valuation of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties comprise commercial 

and office properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China for 

rental earning purposes. Such investment properties were 

measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period and 

the aggregate carrying amount of these investment 

properties as at 31 March 2023 was HK$398,771,000, 

which represented approximately 40% of the total assets of 

the Group.

398,771,000 40%

Significant judgement is required and estimation uncertainty 

is involved in the determination of the fair values of 

investment properties, which reflect market conditions at 

the end of the reporting period. The Group engaged external 

valuers to perform the valuation of these investment 

properties as at 31 March 2023.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

3 14

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment 

properties included:

• Obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared 

by the external valuers engaged by the Group;

• Assessing and evaluat ing the external valuers’ 

qualification, experience, expertise, objectivity and 

independence; and

• Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in 

challenging the valuation methodologies applied, the key 

assumptions and estimates adopted in the valuations, 

and obtaining the market evidence used to support the 

key inputs.

Key audit matters (Continued)
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

  

Assessing net realisable value of completed 
properties for sale

As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amount of the 

G r o u p ’ s  c o m p l e t e d  p r o p e r t i e s  f o r  s a l e  w a s 

HK$410,186,000, which represented approximately 41% of 

the total assets of the Group. These properties were stated 

at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

410,186,000

41%

The net realisable value was estimated based on the 

expected selling prices and the costs to be incurred in 

selling these properties based on then prevailing market 

conditions. The estimation of net realisable value involved 

significant judgement and estimation uncertainty. The net 

realisable value was assessed by management with 

reference to expected future selling prices estimated by an 

external valuer engaged by the Group.

Related disclosures are disclosed in notes 3 and 19 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

3 19

Our procedures in relation to assessing net realisable value of 

completed properties for sale included:

• Obtaining and inspecting management’s valuation 

assessments and on which (including the expected 

future selling prices estimated by the external valuer 

engaged by the Group) the management’s assessment 

of the net realisable value of the properties held for sale 

was based;

• Assessing and evaluat ing the external valuer’s 

qualification, experience, expertise, objectivity and 

independence;

• Discussing with management and the external valuers 

their valuation methodologies; and assessing and 

challenging, with the assistance of our internal valuation 

specialists, the key estimates and assumptions adopted 

in the valuation, including expected future selling prices, 

by comparing expected future selling prices to, where 

available, recently transacted prices for similar properties 

or the prices of comparable properties located in the 

vicinity of the Group’s properties; and

• Conducting site visits to completed properties for sale.

Key audit matters (Continued)
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Other information included in the Annual 
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 

Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 

our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the 
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the 

Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in 

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a 

body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no 

other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the directors.

• 

• 

• 
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• 

• 

• 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 

cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the entities or business activities within the 

Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 

our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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P05544

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 

auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the publ ic interest benef i ts of  such 

communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Sai Kit
Practising Certificate Number: P05544

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 5 416,828 1,587,349

Cost of sales (358,739) (1,529,850)
     

Gross profit 58,089 57,499

Other income, expense and net losses 5 (20,758) (10,404)

Selling and marketing expenses (23,605) (57,918)

Administrative and other 

operating expenses (52,862) (52,845)

Impairment of stock of properties 6 (317,400) (417,632)

Impairment of accounts receivable 20 (2,754) –

Change in fair value of 

investment properties 1,608 (40,721)

Fair value change of financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss 21 (340) (12,028)
     

Operating loss 7 (358,022) (534,049)

Finance costs 8 (2,727) (2,031)
     

Loss before tax (360,749) (536,080)

Income tax credit 9 7,902 266,087
     

Loss for the year (352,847) (269,993)
     

HK cents HK cents

Basic and diluted loss per share 12 (6.11) (4.67)
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2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss for the year (352,847) (269,993)

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Other comprehensive (loss) income that 

 may be reclassified to profit or loss 

 in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of 

 foreign operations (34,374) 23,967
    

Total comprehensive loss for the year 
 attributable to owners of the company (387,221) (246,026)
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 17,415 23,332

Investment properties 14 398,771 406,717

Other non-current assets 16 24,162 24,327
     

Total non-current assets 440,348 454,376
     

Current assets

Inventories 17 11,219 18,961

Properties under development 18 – 455,243

Completed properties for sale 19 410,186 294,011

Accounts receivable 20 41,897 53,087

Prepayments, other receivables and 

 other assets 20 60,950 182,090

Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 21 1,288 1,628

Restricted bank balances 22 883 14,934

Cash and bank balances 22 37,002 54,082
     

Total current assets 563,425 1,074,036
     

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 23 130,896 161,548

Accrued charges and other payables 24 50,148 52,562

Contract liabilities 25 19,028 99,811

Bank and other borrowings 26 165,862 175,319

Tax payable 309,777 337,683

Lease liabilities 27 1,100 1,434
     

Total current liabilities 676,811 828,357
     

Net current (liabilities)/assets (113,386) 245,679
     

Total assets less current liabilities 326,962 700,055
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current liabilities

Bank and other borrowings 26 22,980 –

Deferred tax liabilities 28 38,661 46,413

Lease liabilities 27 – 1,100
     

Total non-current liabilities 61,641 47,513
     

Net assets 265,321 652,542
     

Equity
Equity attributable to owners 
 of the Company

Share capital 29 577,920 577,920

(Deficit)/reserves 30 (312,599) 74,622
     

Total equity 265,321 652,542
     

Mou Li Liang Fan

Director Director
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Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserve

Merger
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Total
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note i) (note ii) (note iii)

i ii iii         

At 1 April 2021 577,920 331,610 4,000 24,000 22,138 (61,100) 898,568

Loss for the year – – – – – (269,993) (269,993)

Other comprehensive income for the year:

Exchange differences on translation 

 of foreign operations – – – – 23,967 – 23,967
         

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 

 for the year – – – – 23,967 (269,993) (246,026)
         

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

 577,920 331,610* 4,000* 24,000* 46,105* (331,093)* 652,542

Loss for the year – – – – – (352,847) (352,847)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:

Exchange differences on translation 

 of foreign operations – – – – (34,374) – (34,374)
         
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – (34,374) (352,847) (387,221)
         
At 31 March 2023 577,920 331,610* 4,000* 24,000* 11,731* (683,940)* 265,321
         

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the special resolution approved by the shareholders of the Company in 

the 2016 annual general meeting of the Company, share premium, other reserve 

and contributed surplus of the Company are available for distribution to ordinary 

shareholders of the Company (after deduction of the accumulated losses) provided 

that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course 

of business immediately following the date on which any such distribution is 

proposed to be paid.

(ii) Other reserve represents the excess of the face value of redeemable preference 

shares over the consideration paid upon redemption in 2004.

(iii) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of the 

acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares 

issued for the acquisition at the time of a group reorganisation in 1996.

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated deficit of HK$312,599,000 

(2022: reserves of HK$74,622,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 

position.

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

* 

312,599,000 74,622,000
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax (360,749) (536,080)

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 8 2,727 2,031

 Depreciation of property, 

  plant and equipment 7 6,303 8,205

Reversal of impairment of inventories 7 (1,767) –

 Impairment of stock of properties 6 317,400 417,632

 Impairment of accounts receivable 7 2,754 –

 Write-down of other non-current assets 7 165 6,876

 Impairment of prepayments 7 6,001 –

 Gain on disposal of items of property, 

  plant and equipment 5 (80) (2,311)

 Fair value change of financial assets 

  at fair value through profit or loss 340 12,028

 Change in fair value of 

  investment properties (1,608) 40,721

 Bank interest income 5 (206) (457)
     

(28,720) (51,355)

Decrease in inventories 9,509 4,774

Decrease in properties under development 367,018 1,086,469

Increase in completed properties for sale (393,113) (162,304)

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable 8,436 (1,093)

Decrease in prepayments, 

other receivables and other assets 103,298 116,398

Decrease in financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss – 28,866

Decrease in accounts payable (21,842) (28,935)

Decrease in accrued charges and 

other payables (422) (8,497)

Decrease in contract liabilities (76,452) (971,182)
     

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (32,288) 13,141

Mainland China income tax paid (2,431) (29,078)
     

Net cash flows used in 
 operating activities (34,719) (15,937)
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for acquisition of a property 

 development business in a prior year – (47,157)

Net cash outflow from acquisition of 

 a subsidiary 31 – (1,705)

Purchases of items of property, 

 plant and equipment and 

 other non-current assets (448) (924)

Decrease in restricted bank balances 12,918 15,054

Proceeds from disposal of items of 

 property, plant and equipment 139 3,702

Interest received 253 457
     

Net cash flows from/(used in)
 investing activities 12,862 (30,573)
     

Cash flows from financing activities
New bank and other borrowings 70,917 55,240

Repayment of bank and other borrowings (56,777) (99,459)

Interest paid (7,155) (4,866)

Principal portion of lease payments (1,434) (1,948)
     

Net cash flows from/(used in) 
 financing activities 5,551 (51,033)
     

Net decrease in cash and 
 cash equivalents (16,306) (97,543)

Cash and cash equivalents at 

 beginning of the year 54,082 149,220

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, 

 net (774) 2,405
     

Cash and cash equivalents at 
 end of the year 37,002 54,082
     

Analysis of balances of 
 cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in 

 the consolidated statement of 

 financial position 22 37,002 54,082
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1. Corporate and group information

Magnus Concordia Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited 

liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed 

on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

(the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is 

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman 

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in 

Hong Kong is Units D&E, 20th Floor, China Overseas Building, 

139 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the 

principal activit ies of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively referred as the “Group”) are property development, 

manufacturing and trading of printed products, property 

investment and treasury business.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 

(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, 

Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong 

Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the 

historical cost convention, except for investment properties and 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have 

been measured at fair value. These financial statements are 

presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the 

nearest thousand (HK$’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Going Concern basis

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had a net loss 

of HK$352,847,000 (2022: HK$269,993,000) and an operating 

net cash outflow of HK$34,719,000 (2022: HK$15,937,000). In 

addition, the Group’s bank loans with the aggregate amount of 

HK$161,134,000 (2022: HK$175,319,000) as at 31 March 2023 

contain repayment on demand clause and financial covenants 

which were breached (2022: nil financial covenants breached) 

during the year ended 31 March 2023, as detailed in note 26 to 

the consolidated financial statements. These conditions indicate 

the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant 

doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

1. 

Cricket 

Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, 

Grand Cayman KY1-1111,  Cayman 

Islands

139 20 D

E

2.1 

352,847,000

269,993,000

34,719,000

15,937,000

161,134,000

175,319,000

26
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2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going Concern basis (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 

assumptions that the Group will continue to operate as a going 

concern notwithstanding the conditions prevailing as at 31 March 

2023 and subsequently thereto up to the date when the 

consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue. In 

order to improve the Group’s financial position, immediate 

liquidity and cash flows, and otherwise to sustain the Group as a 

going concern, the directors of the Company have adopted 

several measures together with other measures in progress at 

the date when the consolidated financial statements are 

authorised for issue, which include, but are not limited to, the 

followings:

(i) in relation to the borrowings that the Group had breached 

the financial covenants during the year ended 31 March 

2023 and are classified as current liabilities, the Group is 

actively negotiating with the bank to remedy or waive the 

breached covenants of the borrowings of HK$161,134,000 

as detailed in note 26;

(ii) the Group has actively carried out promotional activities to 

attract more customers to purchase the completed 

properties in order to increase the sale proceeds through 

sales or pre-sales in the coming twelve months. The 

directors of the Company thus are of the opinion that the 

property development segment will be able to generate 

operating net cash inflow to the Group in the coming twelve 

months;

(iii) the Group will also continue to seek for other alternative 

financing and bank borrowing to finance the settlement of 

the existing financial obligations and future operating and 

capital expenditure; and

(iv) the Group will also continue to seek for other alternatives to 

increase its working capital such as disposing of the 

Group’s investment properties, if needed.

2.1 

(i) 

161,134,000

26

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 
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2.1 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going Concern basis (Continued)

On the basis of the successful implementation of the measures 

described above in the foreseeable future and after assessing the 

Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the directors of 

the Company are optimistic that the Group will be able to meet in 

full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for the twelve 

months from 31 March 2023. Accordingly, the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the 

going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going 

concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the 

carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their recoverable 

amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may arise and to 

reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current 

assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these 

adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated 

financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year 

ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a 

structured entity) controlled by the Company. Control is achieved 

when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing 

rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority 

of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 

all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 

power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of 

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

172 Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司

2.1 

(i)

(ii) (iii)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 

same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 

accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated 

from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue 

to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 

income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group 

and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group 

assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 

relating to transactions between members of the Group are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if 

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 

or more of the three elements of control described above. A 

change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of 

control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the 

assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the 

carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the 

cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and 

recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the 

fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus 

or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 

reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on 

the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 

3

16

 —

37

 — 

5 5

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the 

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual 

 Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

 — Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of 

 Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to 

 HKFRSs 2018–2020

Amendment to Accounting 

 Guideline 5

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger 

 Accounting for Common Control 

 Combinations (Revised)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current 

year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial 

positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or 

on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 

statements.
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2.3 
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 
financial reporting standards

The Group has not applied the following new and amendment to 

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these 

consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 17 (including the June 

 2020 and December 2021 

 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 

 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 

 between an Investor and its 

 Associate or Joint Venture2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 

 Leaseback3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 

 Current or Non-current3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 

 Covenants3

Amendments to HKAS 1 

 and HKFRS Practice 

 Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting 

 Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting 

 Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets 

 and Liabilities arising from 

 a Single Transaction1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned 

below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the 

application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will 

have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements 

in the foreseeable future.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

175ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

2.3 

1

• 

(i) 

(ii) 

• 

32

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 
financial reporting standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current”

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on 

the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve 

months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as 

current or non-current, which:

• specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-

current should be based on rights that are in existence at 

the end of the report ing per iod. Speci f ical ly,  the 

amendments clarify that:

(i) the c lassi f icat ion should not be af fected by 

management intentions or expectations to settle the 

liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with 

covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at 

the end of the reporting period, even if the lender 

does not test compliance until a later date; and

• clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of 

the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of 

the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not 

affect its classification as current or non-current only if the 

entity recognises the option separately as an equity 

instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: 

Presentation”.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 
financial reporting standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice 
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term 

“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy 

information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when 

considered together with other information included in an entity’s 

financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence 

decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial 

statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information 

may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, 

other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. 

However, not all accounting policy information relating to material 

transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an 

entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy 

information, such information must not obscure material 

accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” 

(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an 

entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting 

policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an 

accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance 

and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have 

significant impact on the financial position or performance of the 

Group but will affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant 

accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be 

disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

2.3 

1
2

1

2
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2.3 

8

 — 

8

2.4 

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 
financial reporting standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of 
Accounting Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary 

amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 

uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial 

statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement 

uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such 

items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be 

observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, 

an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the 

objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting 

estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based 

on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in 

HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 

method. The consideration transferred is measured at the 

acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date 

fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed 

by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 

interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 

acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects 

whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree 

that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair 

value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are 

measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the 

acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a 

substantive process that together significantly contribute to the 

ability to create outputs.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill 
(Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial 

assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 

designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 

circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 

date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 

host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously 

held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value 

and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is 

recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 

consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair 

value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 

remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within 

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 

aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 

recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the 

Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the 

identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum 

of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value 

of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, 

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 

accumulated impairment losses. Goodwil l  is tested for 

impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 

31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 

acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 

allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups 

of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other 

assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or 

groups of units.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

179ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill 
(Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount 

of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to 

which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than 

the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An 

impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or 

group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within 

that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 

operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 

operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. 

Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based 

on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion 

of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and debt 

investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair 

value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 

to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

part ic ipants at  the measurement date.  The fa i r  va lue 

measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the 

principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a 

principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset 

or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must 

be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability 

is measured using the assumptions that market participants 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 

market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 

account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 

selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in 

its highest and best use.
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2.4 

—

—

—

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 

circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 

disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest 

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 

whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest 

level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is observable, either directly or 

indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest 

level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial 

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 

reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end 

of each reporting period.
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2.4 

20 30
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20.0% 33.3%

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 

of the assets. Subsequent costs are included in the carrying 

amount of the asset or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 

of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 

maintenance are expensed in the consolidated income statement 

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Construction in progress represents costs incurred on buildings 

where construction work has not been completed and which, 

upon completion, the Group intends to hold for use as property, 

plant and equipment. These properties are carried at cost which 

include development and construction expenditure incurred and 

other direct costs attributable to the development less any 

accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for 

construction in progress since it is not in use. Upon completion 

of the construction, the construction costs are transferred to the 

appropriate property, plant and equipment category and 

depreciated accordingly.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using 

the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual 

values over their estimated useful lives at the following annual 

rates:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of 

 the relevant lease of the 

 leasehold land on which the 

 buildings are situated, 

 or 20 to 30 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of 

 the relevant lease, or 20%

Plant and machinery 6.7% to 33.3%

Furniture and fixtures and 

 office equipment

20.0% to 33.3%

Motor vehicles 20.0% to 33.3%
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values and useful lives of the assets are reviewed, 

and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Where the 

estimated recoverable amounts have declined below their 

carrying amounts, the carrying amounts are written down to their 

estimated recoverable amounts.

Gain or loss on disposal is determined as the difference between 

the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant 

assets, and is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to 

earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for 

use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 

administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of 

business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 

properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market 

conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of 

investment properties are included in the income statement in the 

year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an 

investment property are recognised in the income statement in 

the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, 

or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 

for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement 

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 

of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to 

make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 

right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement 

date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is 

available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at 

cost, less any accumulated depreciat ion and any 

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 

lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the 

amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 

incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 

over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful 

lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years

Buildings 2 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by 

the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of 

a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the 

estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 

(b) 

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date 

of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be 

made over the lease term. The lease payments include 

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 

less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 

payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 

expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The 

lease payments also include the exercise price of a 

purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 

Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, 

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 

terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do 

not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which the event or condition that 

triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 

Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in 

the  lease is  not  read i l y  determinab le .  A f te r  the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 

increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 

for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 

amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 

modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease 

payments (e.g. a change to future lease payments resulting 

from a change in an index or rate) or a change in 

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition 

exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and 

equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 

12 months or less from the commencement date and do 

not contain a purchase option). It also applies the 

recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to 

leases of office equipment that are considered to be of low 

value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of 

low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception 

(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either 

an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are 

classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease 

and non- lease components,  the Group a l locates the 

consideration in the contract to each component on a relative 

stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for 

on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in 

revenue in the income statement due to its operating nature. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 

asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as 

rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the 

period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are 

accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Cost is calculated on the weighted average basis. The cost 

of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, 

direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads 

(based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing 

costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business less applicable variable selling 

expenses.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by 

reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary 

course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses and 

the anticipated costs to completion.

Development cost of property comprises cost of land use rights, 

construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised for qualifying 

assets, professional fees and other attributable costs incurred 

during the development period. On completion, the properties 

are transferred to completed properties for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current assets 

when the construction of the relevant properties commences 

unless the construction period of the relevant property 

development project is expected to complete beyond the normal 

operating cycle.

Costs to fulfil a contract comprise the development cost and cost 

of land use rights directly related to an existing contract that will 

be used to satisfy performance obligations in the future. The 

costs to fulfil a contract are recorded in properties under 

development if they are expected to be recovered. The amount is 

amortised on a systematic basis, consistent with the pattern of 

revenue recognition of the contract to which the asset relates.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

187ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

2.4 

15

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale is stated at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value. Cost of completed properties for sale is 

calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net 

realisable value is determined by reference to sale proceeds 

received after the end of the reporting period, or, if not yet sold 

after the end of the reporting period, by management estimates 

based on the prevailing market conditions or reference to a 

valuation report from an independent valuer. The relevant costs 

include acquisition costs, development expenditure, borrowing 

costs capitalised and other direct costs attributable to such 

properties.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classif ied, at init ial recognition, as 

subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 

other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or 

loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends 

on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and 

the Group’s business model for managing them. With the 

exception of accounts receivable that do not contain a significant 

financing component or for which the Group has applied the 

practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant 

financing component, the Group initially measures a financial 

asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at 

fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts 

receivable that do not contain a significant financing component 

or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are 

measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 

in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue and income 

recognition” below.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets 
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at 

amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 

income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal 

amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not 

SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or 

loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers 

to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash 

flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will 

result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial 

assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at 

amortised cost are held within a business model with the 

objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 

cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income are held within a 

business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not 

held within the aforementioned business models are classified 

and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 

recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or 

sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 

delivery of assets within the period generally established by 

regulation or convention in the marketplace.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

189ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets 
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on 

their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured 

using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. 

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when 

the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in 

the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes 

in fair value recognised in the income statement.

Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other 

income in the income statement when the right of payment has 

been established, it is probable that the economic benefits 

associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the 

amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset 

or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated 

statement of financial position) when:

* the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 

expired; or

* the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 

party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) 

the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 

asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 

from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 

evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and 

rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group 

continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the 

Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 

recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 

associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the 

rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 

the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 

carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses 

(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 

profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the 

contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 

all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 

at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The 

expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of 

collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to 

the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for 

which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since 

initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result 

from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 

12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a 

loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 

remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the 

default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit 

risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since 

initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group 

compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 

instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 

occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 

recognit ion and considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is available without undue cost or effort, including 

historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual 

payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the 

Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 

internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely 

to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 

taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. 

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable 

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment 

under the general approach and they are classified within the 

following stages for measurement of ECLs except for accounts 

receivable which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition and 

for which the loss allowance is measured at an 

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition but 

that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for 

which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the 

reporting date (but that are not purchased or 

originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal to 

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing 

component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of 

not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the 

Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under 

the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in 

credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on 

lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established 

a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the 

debtors and the economic environment.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

193ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, 

payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in 

an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in 

the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities includes accounts payable, 

accrued charges and other payables, bank borrowings and lease 

liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on 

their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and 
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 

interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be 

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and 

losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities 

are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate 

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 

or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral 

part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate 

amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 

same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 

modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 

and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between 

the respective carrying amounts is recognised in income 

statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 

amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is 

a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual 

impairment testing for an asset is required (other than properties 

under development, completed properties for sale, inventories, 

deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-

generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of 

disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 

asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 

of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the 

recoverable amount is determined for the cash— generating unit 

to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets 
(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of 

an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the 

income statement in the period in which it arises in those 

expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired 

asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to 

whether there is an indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 

such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 

previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than 

goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 

asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that 

would have been determined (net of any depreciat ion/

amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is 

credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s 

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the 

Group;

or
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions 

applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same 

group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other 

entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of 

the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the 

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the 

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person 

identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence 

ove r  the  en t i t y  o r  i s  a  member  o f  the  key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of 

the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a 

part, provides key management personnel services to 

the Group.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 

deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of 

generally within three months when acquired, less bank 

overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral 

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial 

position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at 

banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to 

cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a 

payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the 

Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities 

are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the 

contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to 

the customer).

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be 

made. Where a provision is expected to be reimbursed, the 

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 

the reimbursement is virtually certain. Restructuring provisions 

comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination 

payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating 

losses.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 

that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 

considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 

recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 

one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures 

expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 

provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest 

expense.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 

relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 

outside income statement, either in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, 

based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking 

into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the 

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all 

temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 

for financial reporting purposes.

2.4 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 

recognition of goodwil l or an asset or l iabil ity in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 

time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 

nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal 

of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 

unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 

carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 

utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 

temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated 

with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are 

only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 

and taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 

end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be util ised. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of 

each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has 

become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 

that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and 

only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current 

tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 

and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 

different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax 

liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 

settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which 

significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 

expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 

• 

• 

• 

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Mainland China Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied at prevailing progressive rates on the appreciation 

of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less 

deductible costs.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there 

is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 

attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates 

to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic 

basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to 

compensate, are expensed.

Revenue and income recognition

Revenue is recognised when it satisfies a performance obligation 

by transferring a promised goods or service to a customer. 

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply 

to the contract, control of the goods or service may transfer over 

time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the 

Group’s performance:

• provides all of the benefits received and consumed 

simultaneously by the customer;

• creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as 

the Group performs; or

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 

Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 

for performance completed to date.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

202 Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司

2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Revenue and income recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by 

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that 

performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a 

point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods or 

service.

Revenue from the sale of goods and scraped materials is 

recognised at a point in time when the goods and scraped 

materials are transferred and the control has been passed, since 

only by the time the Group has an enforceable right to payment 

for the goods and scraped materials delivered.

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised when the 

properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers and 

the Group has a present right to payment and the collection of 

the consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the 

promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing 

component if it is significant. As a practical expedient, an entity 

does not need to adjust the promised amount of consideration 

for the effects of a significant financing component if the entity 

expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the 

entity transfers a promised good or service to a customer and 

when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year 

or less.

Rental income, net of incentives given to lessees, is recognised 

on a straight-line basis over the period of the respective leases.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Revenue and income recognition (Continued)

Gain or loss from treasury business is recognised on the 

transaction date when the relevant sale and purchase contracts 

are entered into.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest 

rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for 

financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For 

credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is 

applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after 

deduction of the loss allowance).

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (for example 

sales rebates), the Group estimates the amount of consideration 

to which it will be entitled using the most likely amount, which 

better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group 

will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the 

transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that 

such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in 

the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the 

estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of 

whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to 

represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the 

reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the 

reporting period.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisit ion, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that 

necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 

intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those 

assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when 

the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 

specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 

assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other 

borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are 

incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that 

an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident 

Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the 

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions 

are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic 

salaries and are charged to the income statement as they 

become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF 

scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from 

those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The 

Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees 

when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China 

are members of the Central Pension Scheme operated by the 

Mainland China government. The subsidiaries are required to 

contribute a certain percentage of their covered payroll to the 

Central Pension Scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation 

for the subsidiaries with respect to the Central Pension Scheme 

is to meet the required contributions under the Central Pension 

Scheme.
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the 

Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and 

when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the 

payment of termination benefits.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, 

which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the 

Group determines its own functional currency and items included 

in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that 

functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by 

the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their 

respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates 

of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences 

arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are 

recognised in income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 

in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 

the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 

measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-

monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the 

recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item 

(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or 

loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or 

loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit 

or loss, respectively).
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2.4 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the 

related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-

monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance 

consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which 

the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-

monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there 

are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group 

determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of 

the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are 

currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the 

reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 

prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their income 

statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted 

average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange 

reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of 

other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 

operation is recognised in the income statement.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Company is 

recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the financial 

period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s 

shareholders or directors as applicable.
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3. 

14

3. Significant accounting judgements and 
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 

and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the 

disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 

require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the 

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, 

management has made the following judgements, apart from 

those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes and deferred taxes mainly 

in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant judgement is 

required in determining the provision for tax for each entity of the 

Group. There are transactions and calculations for which the 

ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course 

of business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential tax 

exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 

due. Where the final tax outcome of these estimates is different 

from the amounts that are initially recorded, such differences will 

impact the current and deferred tax in the financial period in 

which such determination is made.

The Group has rebutted the presumption that the carrying 

amount of certain investment properties measured at fair value 

will be recovered entirely through sale. These investment 

properties are held within a business model whose objective is to 

consume their economic benefit over t ime. The related 

disclosures are included in note 14 to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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3. 

2%
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12%

16,240,000

20,584,000

3. Significant accounting judgements and 
estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of the Group’s printing business

Management has conducted an impairment review of the 

property, plant and equipment belonging to the CGU of the 

Group’s printing business and determined the recoverable 

amount of the printing business CGU based on the higher of its 

fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The value-in-use calculation uses cash flow projections based on 

the detailed financial budgets approved by management covering 

a 5-year period (2022: 5-year period). The CGU’s cash flow 

beyond the five-year period is extrapolated using a 2% growth 

rate (2022: 2%) and the weighted average cost of capital of 12% 

(2022: 12%).

Management estimates the cash flow projections based on 

certain assumptions, such as estimated revenue and estimated 

margin on earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation, expected revenue and the discount rate. This 

evaluation is also subject to changes in factors such as industry 

performance and changes in technology. Estimates and 

judgements are applied in determining these assumptions, the 

disposal values of the property, plant and equipment and the 

pre-tax discount rate.

The carrying amount of printing business’s property, plant and 

equipment at 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$16,240,000 

(2022: HK$20,584,000) without any impairment recognised 

(2022: nil).
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3. 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

14

3. Significant accounting judgements and 
estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of receivables

The loss allowance for receivables is based on assumptions 

about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses 

judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs 

to the impairment calculation, based on information including 

ageing of the accounts receivable, past repayment history 

subsequent settlement status, credit profile of the customers and 

on-going business relationship with the relevant customers at the 

end of each reporting period. Management also considered 

forward-looking information that may impact the customers’ 

abilities to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate 

the expected credit losses for the impairment assessment.

Estimates of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active 

market for properties in the same location and condition and 

subject to similar lease and other contracts. In the absence of 

such information, the Group considers information from a variety 

of sources, including (i) by reference to independent valuations; (ii) 

current prices in an active market for properties of a different 

nature, condition and location (or subject to different leases or 

other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences; (iii) recent 

prices of similar properties in less active markets, with 

adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since 

the dates of transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iv) 

discounted cash flow projections, based on reliable future cash 

flows, derived from the terms of any existing lease and other 

contracts, and (where possible) from external evidence such as 

current market rates for similar properties in the same location 

and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current 

market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing 

of cash flows. Further details, including the key assumptions 

used for fair value measurement, a sensitivity analysis and the 

carrying amount of investment properties, are given in note 14 to 

the consolidated financial statements.
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3. 

19

7 17

3. Significant accounting judgements and 
estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Determination of net realisable value of completed 
properties for sale

The Group’s completed properties for sale are stated at the lower 

of cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical 

experience and the nature of the subject properties, the Group 

makes estimates of the selling prices, and the costs to be 

incurred in selling the properties based on the prevailing market 

conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to be incurred in selling the 

properties or a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable 

value will decrease and this may result in a provision for 

completed properties for sale. Such provision requires the use of 

judgements and estimates. Where the expectation is different 

from the original estimate, the carrying value and provision for 

properties in the period in which the estimate is changed will be 

adjusted accordingly. The related disclosures are included in note 

19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of inventories of the printing business

The Group assesses the carrying values of inventories of the 

printing business by reviewing the inventory listing and ageing 

analysis on a product-by-product basis at each reporting date, 

and makes impairment for those obsolete, slow-moving 

inventories and items that are no longer suitable for use in 

production. Provision for impairment is made by reference to the 

latest market value and current market conditions for those 

inventories identified. The related disclosures are included in 

notes 7 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. 
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3. Significant accounting judgements and 
estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Mainland China land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) is levied at 

progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation 

of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less 

deductible expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs 

and other property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property 

development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT. 

However, the implementation of these taxes varies amongst 

various cities in Mainland China and the Group has not finalised 

its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly, 

significant judgement is required in determining the amount of 

land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 

The Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s 

best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 

different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 

differences will impact income statement and the provision for 

LAT in the period in which such determination is made. The 

related disclosures are included in note 9 to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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4. 

—

—
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—
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4. Segment information

Segment information by business lines

The operating segments of the Group are determined based on 

internal reporting to the Group’s chief operating decision maker 

(“CODM”) (the executive directors of the Company) for the 

purposes of assessing performance and allocating resources. 

The internal reporting focuses on the strategic operation and 

development of each business unit, of which business units with 

similar economic characteristics are organised into an operating 

segment for the Group’s CODM to evaluate its performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as follows:

Property development – Development, sale and trading of 

 real estate properties

Printing – Manufacture and sale of printed 

 products

Property investment – Investment and leasing of real estate 

 properties

Treasury – Investment and trading of debts, 

 equity and other instruments 

 and asset management

The Group’s CODM assesses the performance of the operating 

segments based on a measure of earnings or loss before interest 

expense and tax (“EBIT” or “LBIT”), representing segment results, 

and earnings or loss before interest expense, tax, depreciation 

and amortisation (“EBITDA” or “LBITDA”).

Unallocated assets mainly include certain cash and bank 

balances, short-term deposits and property, plant and equipment 

that are managed on a group basis.

Unallocated liabilities mainly include certain bank and other 

borrowings that are managed on a group basis and other 

unallocated liabilities.
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4. 4. Segment information (Continued)

Segment information by business lines 
(Continued)

The segment information by business lines is as follows:

Property Property
development Printing investment Treasury Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Segment revenue (note 5) 5

 Sales to external customers 235,374 175,224 6,230 – 416,828
 Other revenue – – – – –
       

Total revenue 235,374 175,224 6,230 – 416,828
       

(LBITDA)/EBITDA (LBITDA) EBITDA (329,424) 1,239 5,048 (1,524) (324,661)
Depreciation (37) (4,730) (159) – (4,926)
       

Segment results —(LBIT)/EBIT  — (LBIT) EBIT (329,461) (3,491) 4,889 (1,524) (329,587)
      

Unallocated expenses, net (28,435)
Finance costs (2,727)

 

Loss before tax (360,749)
Income tax credit 7,902

 

Loss for the year (352,847)
 

As at 31 March 2023
Reportable segment assets 470,226 88,474 427,833 1,586 988,119
Unallocated assets 15,654
       

Consolidated total assets 1,003,773
       

Reportable segment liabilities 491,003 81,717 39,354 88 612,162
Unallocated liabilities 126,290
       

Consolidated total liabilities 738,452
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4. 4. Segment information (Continued)

Segment information by business lines 
(Continued)

The segment information by business lines is as follows: 

(Continued)

Other segment information:

Property Property
development Printing investment Treasury Unallocated Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

2023

Capital expenditures – 448 – – – 448
Depreciation of property, plant and 

 equipment (37) (4,730) (159) – (1,377) (6,303)
Impairment of stock of properties (317,400) – – – – (317,400)
Bank interest income 88 63 4 – 51 206
Fair value gain on investment properties – – 1,608 – – 1,608
Fair value loss of financial assets 

 at fair value through profit or loss – – – (340) – (340)
Net exchange (loss)/gain (43) (213) 120 – (680) (816)
Impairment of accounts receivable – (2,362) (392) – – (2,754)
Impairment of prepayments – – – – (6,001) (6,001)
Gain on disposal of items of property, 

 plant and equipment – 80 – – – 80
Write down of other non-current assets – – (165) – – (165)
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4. 4. Segment information (Continued)

Segment information by business lines 
(Continued)

The segment information by business lines is as follows: 

(Continued)

Property Property

development Printing investment Treasury Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Segment revenue (note 5) 5

 Sales to external customers 1,327,215 249,145 9,067 – 1,585,427

 Other revenue – – – 1,922 1,922
       

Total revenue 1,327,215 249,145 9,067 1,922 1,587,349
       

(LBITDA)/EBITDA (LBITDA) EBITDA (459,271) 10,389 (38,752) (11,200) (498,834)

Depreciation (102) (6,014) (159) – (6,275)
       

Segment results — (LBIT)/EBIT  — (LBIT) EBIT (459,373) 4,375 (38,911) (11,200) (505,109)
      

Unallocated expenses, net (28,940)

Finance costs (2,031)
 

Loss before tax (536,080)

Income tax credit 266,087
 

Loss for the year (269,993)
 

As at 31 March 2022
Reportable segment assets 929,019 128,906 436,758 2,537 1,497,220

Unallocated assets 31,192
       

Consolidated total assets 1,528,412
       

Reportable segment liabilities 594,709 103,385 42,153 141 740,388

Unallocated liabilities 135,482
       

Total liabilities 875,870
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4. 4. Segment information (Continued)

Segment information by business lines 
(Continued)

The segment information by business lines is as follows: 

(Continued)

Other segment information:

Property Property

development Printing investment Treasury Unallocated Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

2022

Capital expenditures – 909 – – 15 924

Depreciation of property, plant and 

 equipment (102) (6,014) (159) – (1,930) (8,205)

Impairment of stock of properties (417,632) – – – – (417,632)

Bank interest income 280 17 5 – 155 457

Fair value loss on investment properties – – (40,721) – – (40,721)

Fair value loss of financial assets 

 at fair value through profit or loss – – – (12,028) – (12,028)

Net exchange loss (31) (1,552) (31) – (1,053) (2,667)

Gain on disposal of items of property, 

 plant and equipment – 2,311 – – – 2,311

Write down of other non-current assets – – (5,115) – (1,761) (6,876)
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4. 

10%

4. Segment information (Continued)

Geographical segment information

The business of the Group operates in different geographical 

areas. Revenue is presented by the regions where customers are 

located. Non-current assets are presented by the regions where 

the assets are located. The segment information by geographical 

area is as follows:

Revenue

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Mainland China 263,862 1,379,357

Hong Kong 11,202 20,842

United States of America 77,033 105,757

United Kingdom 29,072 28,712

France 8,575 20,174

Other regions 27,084 32,507
    

416,828 1,587,349
    

Non-current assets

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Mainland China 130,863 151,710

Hong Kong 309,485 302,662

Other regions – 4
    

440,348 454,376
    

Information about major customers

During the year, none of the customers (2022: nil) of the Group 

contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

218 Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司

5. 

224,856,000

1,327,215,000

1,961,000

5. Revenue and other income, expense and 
net losses

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue from contracts with customers

 Sale of properties 235,374 1,327,215

 Sale of printed products 175,147 248,475

 Others 77 670
    

410,598 1,576,360
    

Revenue from other sources

 Rental income 6,230 9,067

 Interest income from financial assets 

  at fair value through profit or loss – 1,922
    

6,230 10,989
    

Total revenue 416,828 1,587,349
    

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at a point in time 

when the goods are transferred and the control has been passed 

to customers, since only at that point in time the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment for the goods delivered.

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at a point in 

time when the completed properties are delivered to the buyers.

Included in the Group’s revenue from sale of properties are 

revenue from sales of properties developed by the Group 

amounting to HK$224,856,000 (2022: HK$1,327,215,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, certain tenants of 

investment properties located in the People’s Republic of China 

(“PRC”) were not financially able to settle the rental. Due to this 

situation, the respective rental of HK$1,961,000 (2022: nil) was 

not recognised as rental income during the period.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

219ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

5. 

(a) 

5. Revenue and other income, expense and 
net losses (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Property
development Printing Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Segments

Types of goods
Sale of properties 235,374 – 235,374
Sale of printed products – 175,147 175,147
Others – 77 77
     

Total revenue from contracts 

 with customers 235,374 175,224 410,598
     

Geographical markets* *
Mainland China 235,374 26,475 261,849
Hong Kong – 6,985 6,985
United States of America – 77,033 77,033
United Kingdom – 29,072 29,072
France – 8,575 8,575
Other countries – 27,084 27,084
     

Total revenue from contracts 

 with customers 235,374 175,224 410,598
     

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 235,374 175,224 410,598
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5. 

(a) 

* 

5. Revenue and other income, expense and 
net losses (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers 
(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Property

development Printing Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Segments

Types of goods
Sale of properties 1,327,215 – 1,327,215

Sale of printed products – 248,475 248,475

Others – 670 670
     

Total revenue from contracts 

 with customers 1,327,215 249,145 1,576,360
     

Geographical markets* *
Mainland China 1,327,215 47,022 1,374,237

Hong Kong – 14,973 14,973

United States of America – 105,757 105,757

United Kingdom – 28,712 28,712

France – 20,174 20,174

Other countries – 32,507 32,507
     

Total revenue from contracts 

 with customers 1,327,215 249,145 1,576,360
     

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 1,327,215 249,145 1,576,360
     

* The business of the Group is operated in different geographical 

areas. Revenue is presented by the countries where the customers 

are located.
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5. 

(b) 

30 180

4,952,000

5,231,000

5. Revenue and other income, expense and 
net losses (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers 
(Continued)

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is 

summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time 

when the properties have been completed and delivered to 

the buyers and the Group has a present right to payment 

and the collection of the consideration is probable. 

Payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of printed products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the 

printed products and payment is generally due within 30 to 

180 days from delivery, except for new customers, where 

payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts 

provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to 

variable consideration subject to constraint. The rebates 

are recognised when the relevant thresholds set out in the 

sales agreement are met. The rebates of approximately 

HK$4,952,000 in relation to sales of printed products was 

recognised for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 

HK$5,231,000).
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5. 

* 

6. 

5. Revenue and other income, expense and 
net losses (Continued)

An analysis of other income, expense and net losses is as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Bank interest income 206 457

Sales of scrap materials 334 437

Other service income 2,237 2,244

Gain on disposal of items of property, 

 plant and equipment 80 2,311

Write-down of other non-current assets 

 (note 16)

16

(165) (6,876)

Impairment of prepayments (6,001) –

Termination benefits costs* * (3,070) (5,840)

Net exchange loss (816) (2,667)

Sundries (13,563) (470)
    

(20,758) (10,404)
    

* It represents the payments for terminating the staff of printing business.

6. Impairment of stock of properties

An analysis of impairment of stock of properties is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Impairment of properties under development (63,706) (275,212)

Impairment of completed properties for sale (253,694) (142,420)
    

(317,400) (417,632)
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7. 

* 

7. Operating loss

The Group’s operating loss is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments:

 Wages, salaries and other benefits 34,042 52,047

 Retirement benefit costs 2,604 3,781

 Termination benefit costs 3,070 5,840
    

Total staff costs 39,716 61,668

Less: Amount capitalised and included in 

cost of inventories sold (2,246) (12,561)
    

Staff costs included in selling and marketing 

 expenses and administrative and other 

 operating expenses 37,470 49,107
    

Auditors’ remuneration 1,500 1,550

Advertising and promotion expenses 7,158 34,890

Cost of inventories sold (printing business) 140,901 205,389

Carrying amounts of properties sold 216,803 1,323,279

Outgoings in respect of investment properties 

 arising from rental-earning investment 

 properties 1,035 1,182

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,303 8,205

Less: Amount capitalised and included in 

cost of inventories sold for 

printing business (2,352) (3,823)
    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

 included in selling and marketing expenses 

 and administrative and other operating 

 expenses 3,951 4,382
    

Reversal of impairment of inventories (1,767) –

Impairment of accounts receivable 2,754 –

Impairment of prepayments 6,001 –

Write-down of other non-current assets 165 6,876

Lease payments not included in 

 the measurement of lease liabilities 535 733

Government subsidies* * (770) (113)
    

* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the subsidies.
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8. 

 

25

2.1%

2.1%

8. Finance costs

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest on bank and other borrowings 7,357 4,675

Interest on lease liabilities 44 106

Interest arising from revenue contracts (note) 3,009 18,298
    

Total interest 10,410 23,079

Less: Interest capitalised in properties 

under development (7,683) (21,048)
    

Total finance costs 2,727 2,031
    

Note: Interest arising from revenue contracts represented imputed interest 

expenses accreted on the contract liabilities (note 25) which contain a 

significant financing component.

A capitalisation rate of 2.1% (2022: 2.1%) has been applied to 

the expenditure on the qualifying assets for the year ended 31 

March 2023.
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9. 

16.5%

25% 25%

10%

10%

30% 60%

30% 60%

 

42,244,000

42,244,000

9. Income tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax is charged at a rate of 16.5% on the 

assessable profit derived in Hong Kong. No Hong Kong profits 

tax has been provided as the Group has sufficient tax losses to 

offset the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 

March 2023 (2022: nil).

The PRC corporate income tax for the Group’s subsidiaries in the 

PRC is charged at 25% (2022: 25%) of the assessable profits, 

and taxable income derived from the PRC by subsidiaries located 

outside the territory is charged at the PRC withholding corporate 

income tax rate of 10% (2022: 10%).

The LAT for the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC is levied at 

progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% (2022: 30% to 60%) 

on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of 

properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land 

and all property development expenditures.

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current — Hong Kong  — 

 Underprovision in prior years – 15

Current — Mainland China  — 

 Corporate income tax

  Charge for the year 1,272 46,867

  Overprovision in prior years (note) – (42,244)

 LAT

  (Credit)/charge for the year (2,968) 25,255

Deferred tax (note 28) 28 (6,206) (295,980)
    

Total tax credit for the year (7,902) (266,087)
    

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, the directors of the Company 

reviewed the relevant subsidiary’s tax provision of HK$42,244,000 which 

was recognised in prior years upon disposal of its subsidiaries and they are 

of the opinion that the likelihood of the tax provision had become remote 

and therefore determined that those tax provision of HK$42,244,000 shall 

be reversed.
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9. 9. Income tax (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at 

the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and 

the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at 

the effective tax rate is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss before tax (360,749) (536,080)

Tax at the rate of 25% (2022: 25%) 25%

25% (90,187) (134,020)

Effect of different tax rates in 

 different jurisdictions 1,948 5,817

LAT for the year (2,968) 25,255

Release of deferred LAT liabilities 1,079 (186,798)

Tax effect of LAT deductible for 

 corporate income tax 742 (6,314)

Tax effect of deferred LAT deductible for 

 corporate income tax (270) 46,700

Expenses not deductible for tax 382 16,808

Income not subject to tax (2,335) (2,310)

Net effect of tax losses and other temporary 

 differences not recognised and utilisation of 

 previously unrecognised tax losses and 

 other temporary differences 83,707 11,004

Reversal of tax provision recognised in 

 the current year relating to the disposal of 

 a discontinued operation in previous years – (42,244)

Adjustments in respect of current tax of 

 previous years – 15
    

Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate

(7,902) (266,087)
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10. 

383(1)(a)

(b) (c) (f)

2

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

10. Directors’ remuneration and five highest 
paid employees

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the 

Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure 

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Fees 869 916
    

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors 

during the year were as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (note (i)) (i) 42 –

Mr. Ho Man (note (ii)) (ii) 115 276

Mr. Xu Jianfeng (note (iii)) (iii) 120 22

Mr. Wang Zhengjun (note (iii)) (iii) 120 22

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (note (iv)) (iv) – 226

Mr. Hung Kin Man (note (iv)) (iv) – 226
    

397 772
    

Notes:

(i) Appointed with effect from 25 November 2022

(ii) Retired with effect from 31 August 2022

(iii) Appointed with effect from 26 January 2022

(iv) Resigned with effect from 26 January 2022

There were no other emoluments payable to the 

independent non-executive directors during the year (2022: 

nil).
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10. 

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

10. Directors’ remuneration and five highest 
paid employees (Continued)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors

Salaries,
allowances Pension

and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      
2023
Executive directors:

Ms. Mou Li (note (i)) (i) 20 – – 20
Mr. Liang Fan (note (ii)) (ii) 232 – – 232
Mr. Huang Zhidan (note (iii)) (iii) – – – –
Ms. Zeng Zhu (note (iv)) (iv) 220 – – 220
Ms. Au Hoi Lee Janet (note (v)) (v) – – – –
Mr. Li Qing (note (vi)) (vi) – – – –
      

472 – – 472
      

2022

Executive directors:

Ms. Zeng Zhu (note (iv)) (iv) 144 – – 144

Ms. Au Hoi Lee Janet (note (v)) (v) – – – –

Mr. Li Qing (note (vi)) (vi) – – – –
      

144 – – 144
      

Notes:

(i) Appointed with effect from 1 March 2023

(ii) Appointed with effect from 13 April 2022

(iii) Appointed with effect from 15 July 2022

(iv) Resigned with effect from 1 March 2023

(v) Resigned with effect from 15 July 2022

(vi) Resigned with effect from 2 April 2022

There was no arrangement under which a director waived 

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022: 

nil).
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10. 10. Directors’ remuneration and five highest 
paid employees (Continued)

Five highest paid employees

None of the five highest paid employees of the Group during the 

year were directors (2022: nil) as set out in above. Details of the 

remuneration for the year of the five highest paid employees who 

are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries 3,938 6,321

Pension scheme contributions 87 102
    

4,025 6,423
    

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid 

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is 

as follows:

Number of employees

2023 2022
    

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 5 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 – 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 2,500,000 – 1
    

5 5
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11. 

12. 

352,847,000

269,993,000

5,779,196,660

5,779,196,660

11. Dividends

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a 

final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil). No 

interim dividend was declared during the year (2022: nil).

12. Loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss 

for the year attr ibutable to owners of the Company of 

approximately HK$352,847,000 (2022: HK$269,993,000) and 

the number of ordinary shares of 5,779,196,660 (2022: 

5,779,196,660) in issue during the year.

The diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share 

since there were no potential shares in issue during both years.
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13. 

8,384,000

9,717,000

2,579,000 2,697,000

26

13. Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets Right-of-use assets

  

Furniture and
fixtures and

Buildings Leasehold Plant and office Motor Leasehold Motor
in the PRC improvements machinery equipment vehicles Sub-total land Buildings vehicles Sub-total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

             

Cost:

At 1 April 2021 31,397 1,391 78,204 16,990 2,854 130,836 3,051 7,825 1,460 12,336 143,172

Additions 277 – 512 135 – 924 – – – – 924

Disposals/written off – – (36,086) (4,309) – (40,395) – (1,564) (678) (2,242) (42,637)

Change in exchange rates – – – – 11 11 – – – – 11
             

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

31,674 1,391 42,630 12,816 2,865 91,376 3,051 6,261 782 10,094 101,470

Additions 160 – 127 161 – 448 – – – – 448

Disposals/written off – (758) (168) (293) (499) (1,718) – – – – (1,718)

Change in exchange rates – – – (1) (21) (22) – – – – (22)
             

At 31 March 2023 31,834 633 42,589 12,683 2,345 90,084 3,051 6,261 782 10,094 100,178
             

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2021 20,445 817 67,559 15,462 2,311 106,594 236 3,586 756 4,578 111,172

Charge for the year 1,512 278 3,085 946 258 6,079 118 1,721 287 2,126 8,205

Disposals/written off – – (35,184) (4,304) – (39,488) – (1,193) (565) (1,758) (41,246)

Change in exchange rate – – – – 7 7 – – – – 7
             

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

21,957 1,095 35,460 12,104 2,576 73,192 354 4,114 478 4,946 78,138

Charge for the year 1,493 228 2,352 522 193 4,788 118 1,223 174 1,515 6,303

Disposals/written off – (699) (168) (293) (499) (1,659) – – – – (1,659)

Change in exchange rate – – – (1) (18) (19) – – – – (19)
             

At 31 March 2023 23,450 624 37,644 12,332 2,252 76,302 472 5,337 652 6,461 82,763
             

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2023 8,384 9 4,945 351 93 13,782 2,579 924 130 3,633 17,415
             

At 31 March 2022 9,717 296 7,170 712 289 18,184 2,697 2,147 304 5,148 23,332
             

Buildings in the PRC under owned assets and leasehold land 

under right-of-use assets with net carrying amounts of 

approximately HK$8,384,000 (2022: HK$9,717,000) and 

approx imate ly  HK$2,579,000 (2022:  HK$2,697,000) , 

respectively, have been pledged as security for the bank facilities 

of the Group (note 26).
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14. 

15

284,000,000

275,000,000

26

14. Investment properties

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 406,717 442,045

Changes in fair value 1,608 (40,721)

Exchange realignment (9,554) 5,393
    

Carrying amount at the end of the year 398,771 406,717
    

The investment properties are leased to third parties under 

operating leases, further summary details of which are included 

in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties with a 

carrying value of approximately HK$284,000,000 (2022: 

HK$275,000,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted 

to the Group (note 26).

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment 

properties was Level 3.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out 

of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change 

in circumstances that caused the transfer.

Dur ing the year,  there were no transfers of fa i r  value 

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into 

or out of Level 3 (2022: nil).

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March 

2023 by an independent professional valuer, Graval Consulting 

Limited, who holds recognised relevant professional qualifications 

and has recent experience in the locations and segments of the 

investment properties valued. For all investment properties, their 

current use equates to the highest and best use.
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14. 

— 

— 

— 

14. Investment properties (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Group’s management reviews the valuations performed by 

the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes and 

reports to the directors of the Company. Discussions of the 

valuat ion processes and results are held between the 

management and valuer at least once every six months, in line 

with the Group’s interim and annual reporting processes. The 

management:

— verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation 

reports;

— assesses property valuation movements when compared 

to the prior period valuation reports; and

— holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation techniques

The fair values of completed commercial or office properties in 

Hong Kong and Mainland China are generally derived using the 

income capitalisation method. The income capitalisation method 

is based on capitalisation of the net income and the reversionary 

income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation rates, 

which are derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers’ 

interpretation of prevailing investor requirements or expectations. 

The prevailing market rents adopted in the valuation have 

reference to valuers’ view of recent lettings, within the subject 

properties and other comparable properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques adopted in 

the fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties 

during the year.
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14. 14. Investment properties (Continued)

Significant unobservable inputs used to 
determine fair value

Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable

inputs
Fair value as at

31 March

Range or
weighted 
average

Sensitivity of fair value 
to the inputs

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Commercial properties

 in Hong Kong

Income

capitalisation 

method

Capitalisation

rate

284,000 275,000 2.8% 2.5% 10 basis points

(2022: 10 basis points) 

increase in capitalisation rate 

would result in decrease in 

fair value by HK$9,420,000

(2022: HK$9,750,000).

10

10

9,420,000

9,750,000

Unit market rent

per month

per square foot

HK$150 to 
HK$260

150
260

HK$120 to 

HK$230

120

230

1% (2022: 1%)

increase in unit market rent

would result in increase in 

fair value by HK$2,504,000

(2022: HK$2,669,000).

1%

1%

2,504,000

2,669,000

Commercial properties 

 in Mainland China

Income

capitalisation

method

Capitalisation 

rate

63,952 73,860 4.0% to 5.5%
4.0% 5.5%

4.0% to 4.5%

4.0% 4.5%

10 basis points

(2022: 10 basis points) 

increase in capitalisation rate 

would result in decrease in fair 

value by HK$1,149,000

(2022: HK$1,798,000).

10

10

1,149,000

1,798,000
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Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable

inputs
Fair value as at

31 March

Range or
weighted 
average

Sensitivity of fair value 
to the inputs

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Unit market rent

per month

per square meter

HK$70
70

HK$60

60

1% (2022: 1%) increase

in unit market rent would

result in increase in fair value

by HK$640,000

(2022: HK$827,000).

1%

1%

640,000

827,000

Office properties

 in Mainland China

Income

capitalisation

method

Capitalisation rate 50,819 57,857 4.0% to 5.5%
4.0% 5.5%

4.0% to 4.5%

4.0% 4.5%

10 basis points

(2022: 10 basis points) 

increase in capitalisation rate 

would result in decrease in fair

value by HK$1,094,000 

(2022: HK$1,554,000).

10

10

1,094,000

1,554,000

Unit market rent

per month per

square meter

HK$210
210

HK$195

195

1% (2022: 1%) increase in unit 

market rent would result in 

increase in fair value

by HK$456,000

(2022: HK$571,000).

1%

1%

456,000

571,000

14. Investment properties (Continued)

Significant unobservable inputs used to 
determine fair value (Continued)

14. 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

236 Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司

15. 

50

2 5

3 5

(a) 

13

(b) 

27

(c) 

(d) 
34

15. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings and 

motor vehicles used in its operations. Lump sum payments were 

made upfront to acquire the leased land in the PRC from the 

owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments 

will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of 

buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years, 

while motor vehicles generally have lease terms between 3 and 5 

years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and 

subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets 

and the movements during the year are disclosed in note 

13 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and the 

movements during the year are disclosed in note 27 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to 

leases are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest on lease liabilities 44 106

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 1,515 2,126

Expense relating to short-term leases 489 697

Expense relating to leases of 

 low-value assets 45 36
    

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 2,093 2,965
    

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 34 to 

the consolidated financial statements.
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15. 

14

6,230,000 9,067,000

5

15. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting 

of commercial properties and office properties in Hong Kong and 

Mainland China under operating lease arrangements. The terms 

of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security 

deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to 

the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised 

by the Group during the year was approximately HK$6,230,000 

(2022: HK$9,067,000), details of which are included in note 5 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Group had total undiscounted minimum 

lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under 

non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 5,922 7,723

After one year but within two years 2,937 5,225

After two years but within three years 1,561 2,991

After three years but within four years 1,075 2,854
    

11,495 18,793
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16. 

 

37,658,000

165,000

5,115,000

 31

GF Capital (Cayman) Limited

1,761,000

1,761,000

17. 

16. Other non-current assets

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Tax indemnity upon sales of properties (note) 24,128 24,293

Others 34 34
    

24,162 24,327
    

Note: Balance represents the tax indemnity from Chuang’s Consortium 

International Limited (“CCIL”) in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries in 

prior years. According to the sale and purchase agreement, CCIL, being the 

seller, shall indemnify the Group for profits tax liabilities arising from the 

subsequent sales of the properties acquired by the Group through the 

acquisition of subsidiaries with the maximum amount of HK$37,658,000. 

During the year, a write down of approximately HK$165,000 (2022: 

HK$5,115,000) was recognised for the tax indemnity recoverable because 

of the decrease in the fair values of the respective properties.

As disclosed in note 31, the Group acquired GF Capital (Cayman) Limited 

and recognised non-current assets of approximately HK$1,761,000 on 21 

July 2021. At 31 March 2022, the Group performed impairment assessment 

and a write down of approximately HK$1,761,000 was recognised for the 

year then ended because of the decrease in the recoverable amounts of the 

respective assets.

17. Inventories

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Raw materials 6,817 8,327

Work in progress 3,440 6,671

Finished goods 962 3,963
    

11,219 18,961
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18. 

63,706,000

275,212,000 6

3

19. 

3

253,694,000

142,420,000 6

18. Properties under development

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Properties under development expected 

 to be completed within normal 

 operating cycle and recovered:

Within one year after the end of 

 the reporting period – 354,618

After one year after the end of 

 the reporting period – 100,625
    

– 455,243
    

The development of the properties were expected to be 

completed within the normal operating cycle of the Group and 

hence the properties under development were classified as 

current assets in 2022. The balance represented residential 

properties and car parks under development situated in Sichuan 

Province, the PRC. During the year, due to the downturn in the 

property market, an impairment of properties under development 

of approximately HK$63,706,000 (2022: HK$275,212,000) was 

recognised (note 6) to write down the carrying amounts of the 

properties under development to their estimated net realisable 

value (note 3).

19. Completed properties for sale

The balance represents completed residential properties and car 

parks held for sale situated in Sichuan Province, the PRC, and 

certain residential villas held for sale situated in Hunan Province, 

the PRC. During the year, due to the downturn in the property 

market, an impairment of the completed properties for sale in 

Sichuan Province of approximately HK$253,694,000 (2022: 

HK$142,420,000) was recognised (note 6) based on the lower of 

cost and net realisable value (note 3).
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20. 

30

180

20. Accounts receivable/prepayments, other 
receivables and other assets

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Accounts receivable 44,971 53,407

Less: Impairment (3,074) (320)
    

41,897 53,087
    

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 days to 180 

days to its trade customers of the printing business. Rental 

income is received in advance. Proceeds from the sale of 

properties are received in advance or upon delivery of the 

completed properties to customers. For customers with long-

term business relationship, a longer credit period may be 

granted. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable (mainly arising from 

printing business) based on the invoice date and net of loss 

allowance at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within 30 days 30 11,841 21,588

31 to 60 days 31 60 10,171 3,427

61 to 90 days 61 90 5,208 8,293

Over 90 days 90 14,677 19,779
    

41,897 53,087
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20. 

9

1,816,000

1,261,000

26

20. Accounts receivable/prepayments, other 
receivables and other assets (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplif ied approach to 

measuring ECLs which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 

for all accounts receivable. Impairment of accounts receivable is 

calculated using the expected loss rates, which are based on 

credit assessments on ageing of the accounts receivable, past 

repayment history, subsequent settlement status, deposits 

received, credit profile of the customers and on-going business 

relationship with the relevant customers and adjusted for 

forward-looking information affecting the ability of the customers 

to settle the accounts receivable.

The movements in loss allowance is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At the beginning of the year 320 320

Impairment loss 2,754 –
    

At the end of the year 3,074 320
    

The Group’s accounts receivable in the amount of approximately 

HK$1,816,000 (2022: HK$1,261,000) are held as collateral for 

bank borrowings of the Group (note 26).
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20. 

(i) 

(ii) 

3,501,000

13,928,000

12

20. Accounts receivable/prepayments, other 
receivables and other assets (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the prepayments, other receivables 

and other assets:

2023 2022

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Deposits and prepayments (i) 30,333 162,180

Cost of obtaining contracts (ii) 3,188 2,282

Value added taxes (“VAT”) recoverable 4,239 4,429

Other receivables 6,273 3,686

Prepaid VAT and levies 16,917 9,513
     

60,950 182,090
     

Notes:

(i) Balance mainly represented the prepayments and deposits paid to 

contractors and suppliers for construction works of property development 

projects and procurement of printing raw materials, deposits paid to 

government authorities and the office rental deposits.

(ii) Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid pre-sales commission 

paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised 

the amounts paid and will charge them to the income statement when the 

revenue from the related property sales is recognised and will be included in 

selling and marketing expenses at that time. During the year ended 31 

March 2023, sales commission of approximately HK$3,501,000 (2022: 

HK$13,928,000) was charged to the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of other receivables is measured at either 12-month 

expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, 

depending on whether there has been a significant increase in 

credit risk since the initial recognition.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

243ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

21. Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Corporate bonds listed in Hong Kong 1,288 1,628
    

The above investments in corporate bonds were classified as 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. During the 

year, fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss amounting to approximately HK$340,000 (2022: 

HK$12,028,000) is recognised in profit or loss.

The corporate bonds held by the Group as at 31 March 2023 

and 2022 was issued by a listed company which engaged in 

property development related business in the PRC. The fair 

values of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting 

period.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the fair values of 

the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be 

lower than the respective fair values as at the end of reporting 

period due to the volatility of the bond market.

21. 

340,000

12,028,000
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22. Restricted bank balances and cash and 
bank balances

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Restricted bank balances (note) 883 14,934
    

Cash and bank balances:

 Cash at banks and in hand 27,002 48,647

 Short-term deposits 10,000 5,435
    

37,002 54,082
    

Note: In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, proceeds from 

the pre-sale of certain properties under development are required to be 

deposited into designated bank accounts and restricted to be used in the 

relevant project construction. Such restriction will be uplifted upon the 

attainment of the relevant ownership certificates issued by the authorities.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank 

deposit rates. The effective interest rates on short-term deposits 

range from 3.0% to 3.9% (2022: 0.01% to 1.35%) per annum 

and these deposits have maturities of 3 months (2022: ranging 

from 1 day to 3 months). The bank balances and deposits are 

deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of 

default.

Majority of cash and bank balances denominated in Renminbi 

(“RMB”) are held in Mainland China and subject to local exchange 

control regulations. These local exchange control regulations 

restrict capital remittance from the territory, other than through 

normal dividend distribution. The RMB is not freely convertible 

into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign 

Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 

Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 

is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through 

banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

22. 

 

3.0% 3.9% 0.01%

1.35% 3

1 3
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23. Accounts payable

An ageing analysis of accounts payable at the end of the 

reporting period based on the date of suppliers’ invoices is as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within 30 days 30 72,194 110,059

31 to 60 days 31 60 15,973 8,335

61 to 90 days 61 90 6,482 19,695

Over 90 days 90 36,247 23,459
    

130,896 161,548
    

The accounts payable, which relate to purchases of goods and 

construction of properties, generally have credit periods of 30 to 

90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days). The length of the credit period 

depends on the supplier’s or contractor’s relationships with the 

Group, their assessments of the Group’s creditworthiness, and 

past settlement records.

24. Accrued charges and other payables

The following is an analysis of the accrued charges and other 

payables:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Accrued staff costs, subcontracting costs 

 and other accruals 4,807 6,019

Customer, tenant and other deposits 15,388 26,939

Construction costs payable related to 

 investment properties 7,158 7,158

VAT and levies payable 1,224 2,049

Others 21,571 10,397
    

50,148 52,562
    

23. 

30 90 30 90

24. 
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25. 

6,342,000

1,017,486,000

25. Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract 

liabilities:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Sale of printed products 61 2,418

Sale of properties 18,967 97,393
    

Total contract liabilities 19,028 99,811
    

As at 1 April 2021, the Group had recognised contract liabilities 

re lated to sales of  pr inted products of  approximately 

HK$6,342,000. The Group receives payments from customers 

based on the billing schedule as established in contracts.

As at 1 April 2021, the Group had recognised contract liabilities 

r e l a t e d  t o  s a l e s  o f  p r o p e r t i e s  o f  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 

HK$1,017,486,000. The Group receives payments from 

customers based on the payment schedule as established in 

contracts.

The decrease in contract liabilities in both years was mainly due 

to the revenue recognised in respective year in relation to 

contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period from 

the sale of properties.
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25. 25. Contract liabilities (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised 

in the current reporting period that relates to carried-forward 

contract liabilities.

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue recognised that was included 

 in the contract liabilities balance at the 

 beginning of the year for sales of 

 printed products and properties 99,811 1,023,828
    

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining 

performance obligations (unsatisfied) as at 31 March are as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Amounts expected to be recognised as 

 revenue:

 Within one year 59,259 134,858

 After one year – –
    

Total 59,259 134,858
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26. 

(a) 

(i) 2,579,000

2,697,000

(ii) 8,384,000

9,717,000

(iii) 284,000,000

275,000,000

(iv) 1,816,000

1,261,000

26. Bank and other borrowings

2023 2022

Effective
interest
rate (%)

Effective

interest

rate (%)

(%) (%)

HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Bank loans — secured (note a)  — a 4.99 to 6.74 161,134 1.99 to 5.74 175,319

4.99 6.74 1.99 5.74

Other borrowings — unsecured   2.80 to 4.70 27,708 – –

2.80 4.70
  

188,842 175,319
  

Maturity of the bank and other HK$’000 HK$’000

 borrowings are analysed into:

Within one year or on demand 165,862 175,319

In the second year 13,501 –

In the third to fifth years, inclusive 9,479 –
  

188,842 175,319
  

Notes:

(a) Certain bank facilities of the Group are secured by:

(i) the pledge of the Group’s right-of-use assets amounting to 

approximately HK$2,579,000 (2022: HK$2,697,000);

(ii) the pledge of the Group’s buildings amounting to approximately 

HK$8,384,000 (2022: HK$9,717,000);

(iii) the pledge of the Group’s investment properties amounting to 

approximately HK$284,000,000 (2022: HK$275,000,000) and 

assignment of rental income; and

(iv) the pledge of the Group’s accounts receivable amounting to 

approximately HK$1,816,000 (2022: HK$1,261,000).
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26. 

37

5  

— 

161,134,000

175,319,000

161,134,000

26. Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

As further explained in note 37 to the consolidated financial 

statements, due to the adoption of HK Interpretation 5 

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the 

Borrower of a Term Loan That Contains a Repayment on 

Demand Clause, the Group’s bank loans with the aggregate 

carrying amount of approximately HK$161,134,000 (2022: 

HK$175,319,000) as at 31 March 2023, containing a repayment 

on demand clause, have been classified as current liabilities, and 

included in the aforesaid bank borrowings are bank borrowings 

of HK$161,134,000 (31 March 2022: nil) with financial covenants 

breached during the year ended 31 March 2023. For the purpose 

of the above analysis, these bank loans are included within 

current interest-bearing bank loans and analysed into bank loans 

repayable within one year or on demand. Ignoring the effect of 

any repayment on demand clause and based on the maturity 

terms of the bank borrowings, the amounts repayable in respect 

of the bank borrowings are as follows:

Within
one year

In the
second

year

In the third
to fifth
years,

inclusive
Beyond

five years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

As at 31 March 2023

Bank loans 48,774 24,360 88,000 – 161,134
       

As at 31 March 2022

Bank loans 45,639 17,320 112,360 – 175,319
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26. 

41

120,000,000

41,134,000

27. 

37

2.3%

26. Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

As disclosed in note 41, subsequent to the end of the reporting 

period, the Group has obtained a one-off waiver from the bank 

on 15 June 2023 for the financial covenant of one of the 

aforesaid bank borrowings that throughout the life of the facility, 

the Group agrees and undertakes to the bank that i ts 

consolidated tangible net worth shall not at any time be less than 

a certain level, and such bank borrowing amounted to 

HK$120,000,000 as at 31 March 2023. According to the further 

request from the bank, the Group is required to apply for waiver 

before the Group’s next interim result announcement for the 6 

months ending 30 September 2023.

In addition, the Group is actively in negotiation with the bank to 

remedy or waive the breach of covenants of the remaining  bank 

borrowing of HK$41,134,000, in which the related financial 

covenants require the Group to maintain certain levels of 

consolidated tangible net worth and current ratio of the Group.

27. Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during 

the year are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 2,534 4,869

Accretion of interest recognised 

 during the year 44 106

Payments (1,478) (2,054)

Lease modification – (409)

Exchange realignment – 22
    

Carrying amount at the end of the year 1,100 2,534
    

Analysed into:

 Current portion 1,100 1,434

 Non-current portion – 1,100
    

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to 

lease liabilities was 2.3% as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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28. Deferred tax

The movements of deferred tax liabilities of the Group are as 

follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At beginning of the year 46,413 333,887

Deferred tax credited to the income 

 statement during the year (note 9) 9 (6,206) (295,980)

Exchange realignment (1,546) 8,506
    

At end of the year 38,661 46,413
    

The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the Group during the 

year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

   

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

business
combination

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
investment
properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 April 2021 287,449 46,438 333,887

Credited to income statement 

 during the year (288,981)* (6,999) (295,980)

Exchange realignment 7,883 623 8,506
     

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

6,351 40,062 46,413

Credited to income statement 

 during the year (3,613) (2,593) (6,206)

Exchange realignment (473) (1,073) (1,546)
     

At 31 March 2023 2,265 36,396 38,661
     

Notes:

* In respect of the deferred tax credit of HK$288,981,000, there were 

HK$206,157,000 and HK$82,824,000 resulted from recognition of sales of 

properties and impairment of stock of properties respectively during the year 

ended 31 March 2022.

28. 

* 

288,981,000 206,157,000

82,824,000
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28. 

2.251 1.968

1,390

1,410

10%

5%

540

710

30

40

28. Deferred tax (Continued)

Unused tax losses in the aggregate amount of approximately 

HK$225.1 million (2022: HK$196.8 million) have not been 

recognised as deferred tax assets in the consolidated financial 

statements as it is not considered probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which the tax losses and the temporary 

di f ferences can be ut i l ised. The unused tax losses of 

approximately HK$13.9 million (2022: HK$14.1 million) in the 

PRC will expire within five years from the end of reporting period 

and the remaining balances in Hong Kong have no expiry dates.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% 

withholding tax, is levied on dividends declared to foreign 

investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in 

Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 

2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower 

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty 

between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign 

investors. The applicable rate of the Group is 5%. Deferred tax 

liabilities of approximately HK$0.3 million (2022: HK$0.4 million) 

arising from withholding tax on the unremitted earnings of certain 

PRC subsidiaries which totalled approximately HK$5.4 million in 

2023 (2022: HK$7.1 million) have not been recognised in the 

consolidated financial statements as these earnings are expected 

to be reinvested.
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29. 

(i) 

10%

29. Share capital

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Authorised:
 8,000,000,000 (2022: 8,000,000,000) 

  ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

8,000,000,000

8,000,000,000

0.10 800,000 800,000
    

 2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000) 

  preference shares (note (i))

2,000,000,000

2,000,000,000

(i) 20,000 20,000
    

Issued and fully paid:
 5,779,196,660 (2022: 5,779,196,660) 

  ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

5,779,196,660

5,779,196,660

0.10 577,920 577,920
    

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as 

follows:

Number of
shares in issue

Share
capital

HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 

 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023

5,779,196,660 577,920
    

Notes:

(i) The preference shares rank in priority to the ordinary shares of the Company 

as to dividend and return of capital.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) 

pursuant to the annual general meeting held on 29 August 2012, 

which is valid and effective for a term of ten years from the date 

of its adoption. Under the Scheme, the directors may grant 

options to the eligible persons as defined in the Scheme, inter 

alia, any directors, employees or business consultants of the 

Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the 

Company under the terms and conditions stipulated therein. The 

maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be 

granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued 

share capital of the Company as at 29 August 2012. The 

Scheme expired on the tenth anniversary of its adoption (i.e. 28 

August 2022).
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29. 

10%

30. 

31. 

GF Capital (Cayman) 

Limited

GF Capital (Cayman) Limited

4

9

29. Share capital (Continued)

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New 

Scheme”) pursuant to the annual general meeting held on 31 

August 2022, which is valid and effective for a term of ten years 

from the date of its adoption. Under the New Scheme, the 

directors may grant options to the eligible persons as defined in 

the New Scheme, inter alia, any directors, employees or business 

consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for 

shares in the Company under the terms and conditions stipulated 

therein. The maximum number of shares in respect of which 

options may be granted under the New Scheme shall be 10% of 

the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August 2022. 

No options have been granted under the New Scheme since its 

adoption.

30. Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein 

for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity.

31. Acquisition of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acquired a 

subsidiary (namely GF Capital (Cayman) Limited) which together 

with its subsidiary (the “Acquired Entities”) are principally engaged 

in provision of consultancy and asset management services. 

Golden Full Asset Management Limited (a wholly owned 

subsidiary of GF Capital (Cayman) Limited) is a licensed 

corporation under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures 

Ordinance to carry out regulated activities Type 4 “Advising on 

Securities” and Type 9 “Asset Management”. The primary reason 

for the below acquisition was for the expansion of the Group’s 

business and to increase returns to its shareholders.

Date of 
acquisition

Percentage of 
registered 

capital acquired
Purchase 

consideration

HK$’000

     

Business combination in:

GF Capital (Cayman) Limited GF Capital (Cayman) Limited 21 July 2021 100% 2,800
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31. 

2,000 1,095,000

363,000

972,000

15.87

2.70

31. Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

The fair values of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree at date 

of acquisition are as follows:

HK$’000

   

Non-current assets 1,761

Prepayment 2

Cash and cash equivalents 1,095

Accrued charges (58)
   

Identifiable net assets acquired by the Group 2,800
   

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

HK$’000

   

Cash consideration paid (2,800)

Less: Cash and bank balances acquired 1,095
   

Net cash outflow (1,705)
   

The fair values of the prepayment and cash and cash equivalents 

at the date of acquisit ion amounted to HK$2,000 and 

HK$1,095,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$363,000 for this 

acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and 

are included in other expenses in the consolidated income 

statement.

The Acquired Entities contributed HK$ Nil to the Group’s revenue 

and made a loss of HK$972,000 for the period from the date of 

acquisition to 31 March 2022.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2021, the Group’s 

revenue and loss for the year would have been approximately 

HK$1,587 million and HK$270 million respectively. The pro forma 

information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily 

an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group 

that actually would have been achieved had an acquisition been 

completed on 1 April 2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of 

future results.
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32. 

33. 

1,060,563,000

1,368,549,000

32. Commitments

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has no capital commitment 

(2022 the Group has no capital commitment).

33. Contingent liabilities

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, as at 31 March 2023, the Group has provided 

financial guarantees in respect of mortgage loans made by 

certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties in 

Mainland China, either directly provided to the banks or to the 

housing provident fund management centre which arranged the 

bank mortgages amounting to approximately HK$1,060,563,000 

(2022: HK$1,368,549,000) in aggregate. Pursuant to the terms 

of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these 

purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding 

mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and 

penalty owed by the defaulting purchasers to the banks and the 

Group is entitled but not limited to take over the legal titles and 

possession of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee 

period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage 

loans and ends upon issuance of real estate ownership 

certificates. The directors of the Company consider that the fair 

values of the guarantees were not significant at the inception of 

the guarantees, and in the case of defaulted payments, the net 

realisable value of the related properties will be sufficient to cover 

the outstanding mortgage principals, the accrued interest and 

penalty. Therefore, no provision has been made in the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 

31 March 2023 (2022: nil) for these guarantees.
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34. 

(a) 

3,024,000

3,024,000

(b) 

34. Notes to the consolidated statement of 
cash flows

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had non-

cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of 

approximately HK$3,024,000 and HK$3,024,000, 

respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for property, 

plant and equipment.

(b) The movements in liabilities from 
financing activities are as follows:

Interest
payable

(included in
accrued
charges

and other
payables)

HK$’000

Bank
and other

borrowings
Lease

liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 April 2021 496 219,075 4,869

Changes from financing cash flows (4,760) (44,219) (2,054)

Reassessment – – (409)

Finance costs 4,675 – 106

Exchange realignment – 463 22
     

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

411 175,319 2,534

Changes from financing cash flows (7,111) 14,140 (1,478)

Finance costs 7,357 – 44

Exchange realignment – (617) –
     

At 31 March 2023 657 188,842 1,100
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34. 

(c) 

35. 

34. Notes to the consolidated statement of 
cash flows (Continued)

(c) The total cash outflow for leases included 
in the statement of cash flows is as 
follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within operating activities 535 733

Within financing activities 1,478 2,054
    

2,013 2,787
    

35. Related party transactions

The remuneration of directors and other members of key 

management is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Short-term benefits 2,237 4,413

Post-employment benefits 17 39
    

2,254 4,452
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36. 36. Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial 

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023

Financial assets

Financial assets
at fair value

through
profit or loss

— mandatorily
measured

as such

Financial
assets at

amortised
cost Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Accounts receivable – 41,897 41,897
Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, other receivables 

 and other assets – 20,578 20,578
Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 1,288 – 1,288
Restricted bank balances – 883 883
Cash and bank balances – 37,002 37,002
     

1,288 100,360 101,648
     

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

HK$’000

   

Accounts payable 130,896
Financial liabilities included in accrued 

 charges and other payables 48,634
Bank and other borrowings 188,842
Lease liabilities 1,100
   

369,472
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36. 36. Financial instruments by category 
(Continued)

2022

Financial assets

Financial assets 

at fair value

through

profit or loss

— mandatorily

measured

as such

Financial

assets at

amortised

cost Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Accounts receivable – 53,087 53,087

Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, other receivables 

 and other assets – 32,812 32,812

Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 1,628 – 1,628

Restricted bank balances – 14,934 14,934

Cash and bank balances – 54,082 54,082
     

1,628 154,915 156,543
     

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost

HK$’000

   

Accounts payable 161,548

Financial liabilities included in accrued 

 charges and other payables 50,122

Bank borrowings 175,319

Lease liabilities 2,534
   

389,523
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37. 37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies

Financial risk factors

The activities of the Group expose it to a variety of financial risks 

including credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow and fair value interest 

rate risk, foreign exchange risk and price risk. The overall risk 

management programme of the Group focuses on the 

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 

potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 

Group.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance 

department under policies approved by the board of directors 

(the “Board”). The Board establishes principles for overall risk 

management, as well as written policies covering specific areas.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 

carrying amount of each financial asset (other than financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss) after deducting any 

impairment provision in the consolidated statement of financial 

position and the principal amounts of the mortgage loans 

guaranteed by the Group.

Credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable to deposits with 

banks, credit exposures to customers and other debtors and 

financial guarantees in respect of mortgage loans of certain 

purchasers of the Group’s properties. The Group has credit 

policies in place and exposures to these credit risks are 

monitored on an ongoing basis.
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37. 

37% 35%

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of credit exposures to customers, management of the 

Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of 

credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to 

ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In 

addition, for the printing business, the Group has purchased 

credit insurance from Export Credit Insurance Corporation on 

certain overseas sales to compensate for losses from debts that 

are not collectible. Rentals in respect of investment properties are 

payable in advance by tenants in accordance with the lease 

agreements.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental deposits are 

required from tenants prior to commencement of leases. 

Proceeds from sales of properties are received in advanced or 

upon delivery of the completed properties to customers. As at 31 

March 2023, 37% (2022: 35%) of the Group’s total accounts 

receivable were derived from the top five customers of printing 

business. However, the Group concluded that the credit risk in 

relation to its customers is not significant because they have no 

history of default in recent years. The Group reviews the 

recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of 

the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses 

are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors 

considered that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced 

and there is no significant concentration of risk on the accounts 

receivable which consist of a large number of customers, 

spreading across diverse geographical areas.
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37. 37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum 

exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which 

is mainly based on past due information unless other information 

is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging 

classification. For listed debt investments, the Group also 

monitors them by using external credit ratings. The amounts 

presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the 

exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2023

Gross
carrying
amounts

Amounts applied for various ECL impairment
assessment approaches ECLs

 
General

approach
Stage 1

General
approach

Stage 2

General
approach

Stage 3
Simplified
approach

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
Accounts receivable 44,971 – – – 44,971 3,074
Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, other 

 receivables and other assets

 — Normal* * 20,578 20,578 – – – –
Restricted bank balances 883 883 – – – –
Cash and bank balances* * 37,002 37,002 – – –
        

103,254 58,463 – – 44,971 3,074
        
Other item:

Financial guarantee contracts 1,060,563 1,060,563 – – – –
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37. 

* 

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

At 31 March 2022

Gross

carrying

amounts

Amounts applied for various ECL impairment

assessment approaches ECLs

 

General

approach

Stage 1

General

approach

Stage 2

General

approach

Stage 3

Simplified

approach

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Accounts receivable 53,407 – – – 53,407 320

Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, other 

 receivables and other assets

 — Normal* * 32,812 32,812 – – – –

Restricted bank balances 14,934 14,934 – – – –

Cash and bank balances* * 54,082 54,082 – – – –
        

155,235 101,828 – – 53,407 320
        

Other item:

Financial guarantee contracts 1,368,549 1,368,549 – – – –
        

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in cash and cash 

equivalents, prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered 

to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information 

indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk 

since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is 

considered to be “doubtful”.
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37. 37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowance for accounts receivable at 

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a 

provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience 

does not indicate significant different loss patterns for different 

customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due 

status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different 

customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s 

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivable as follow:

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
Allowance

HK$’000 HK$’000

     
As at 31 March 2023

Not yet past due 0.3% 35,902 114
Past due for less than 60 days 60 0.4% 4,682 19
Past due for more than 60 days

 but less than 180 days

60 180

32.9% 2,156 710
Past due for more than 180 days 180 100.0% 2,231 2,231
     

44,971 3,074
     

Expected 

loss rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

Allowance

HK$’000 HK$’000

     

As at 31 March 2022

Not yet past due – 45,995 –

Past due for less than 60 days 60 0.3% 3,456 10

Past due for more than 60 days

 but less than 180 days

60 180

5.5% 3,316 182

Past due for more than 180 days 180 20.0% 640 128
     

53,407 320
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37. 

20

2.27

2.76

26

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

The Group was not aware of any credit risk on other receivables 

and deposits as their counterparties are corporations with proven 

credit history. Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s 

exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are 

disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its 

current obligations when they fall due. The Group measures and 

monitors its liquidity through the maintenance of prudent ratios 

regarding the liquidity structure of the overall assets, liabilities, 

loans and commitments of the Group. The Group has put in 

place a policy of obtaining long-term banking facilities to match 

its long-term investments in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The 

Group also maintains a conservative level of liquid assets to 

ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to meet any 

unexpected and material cash requirements in the ordinary 

course of business. In addition, as at 31 March 2023, the Group 

had standby banking facilities to provide contingency liquidity 

support which amounted to approximately HK$227 million (2022: 

HK$276.0 million). Details of the bank borrowings are disclosed 

in note 26.
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37. 37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will 

be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings based 

on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual 

maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table below are the 

contractual undiscounted cash flows including interest payment.

Within
one year or
on demand

In the
second

year

Within the
third to

fifth years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      
2023

Accounts payable 130,896 – – 130,896
Accrued charges and other 

 payables 48,634 – – 48,634
Bank and other borrowings* * 182,105 14,061 9,586 205,752
Lease liabilities 1,110 – – 1,110
Financial guarantee contracts 1,060,563 – – 1,060,563
      

1,423,308 14,061 9,586 1,446,955
      

Within

one year or

on demand

In the

second

year

Within the

third to

fifth years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

2022

Accounts payable 161,548 – – 161,548

Accrued charges and other 

 payables 50,122 – – 50,122

Bank and other borrowings* * 184,123 – – 184,123

Lease liabilities 1,467 1,110 – 2,577

Financial guarantee contracts 1,368,549 – – 1,368,549
      

1,765,809 1,110 – 1,766,919
      



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

268 Magnus Concordia Group Limited  /  融太集團股份有限公司

37. 

* 161,134,000

175,319,000

54,569,000

58,297,000 12

29,737,000

18,224,000

92,272,000 107,602,000

1% 1%

1,788,000

1,753,000

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

* Included in interest-bear ing bank borrowings of approximately 

HK$161,134,000 (2022: HK$175,319,000) containing repayment on 

demand clause giving the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at 

any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, these 

amounts are classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above repayment on demand clause, the directors do 

not believe that the bank loans will be called in their entirety within 12 

months, and considered that the bank loans will be repaid in accordance 

with the maturity dates as set out in the respective agreements. This 

evaluation was made considering: the financial position of the Group at the 

date of approval of the financial statements and the fact that the Group has 

made all previously scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the 

terms of the bank borrowings, the contractual undiscounted cash flows 

including interest payment for maturity terms as at 31 March 2023 are 

approximately HK$54,569,000 (2022: HK$58,297,000) payable less than 12 

months, approximately HK$29,737,000 (2022: HK$18,224,000) payable in 

the  second yea r ,  and  approx imate l y  HK$92,272 ,000  (2022 : 

HK$107,602,000) payable within third to fifth years).

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the position of the Group may be 

adversely affected by the changes in market interest rate. The 

policy of the Group involves close monitoring of interest rate 

movements and replacing and entering into new banking facilities 

when favourable pricing opportunities arise.

The interest rate risk of the Group mainly arises from interest-

bearing bank deposits, bank and other borrowings and the bond 

investments in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Bank deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable rates 

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The bond 

investments at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest 

rate risk. The Group currently does not have any interest rate 

hedging policy in relation to interest rate risks. The directors 

monitor the Group’s exposure on an ongoing basis and will 

consider hedging interest rate risks should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2023, if interest rates had been 1% (2022: 1%) 

higher with all other variables held constant, the loss before tax of 

t he  Group  wou ld  have  i nc reased  by  approx ima te l y 

HK$1,788,000 (2022: HK$1,753,000).
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37. 

10%

1%

5% 10% 5%

1%

10% 5% 1%

10% 5%

1%

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises on monetary assets and liabilities 

being denominated in a currency that is not the functional 

currency, differences resulting from the translation of financial 

statements into the presentation currency of the Group are not 

taken into consideration.

The sales of printing products are invoiced mainly in United 

States dollars (“USD”), Euro (“EUR”) and RMB. The Group has 

foreign currency sales, accounts receivable, other receivables 

and cash and bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign 

exchange risk. Exchange rate fluctuations have always been the 

concern of the Group. The Group currently does not enter into 

any derivative contracts to minimise the foreign currency risk 

exposure. However, management wil l consider hedging 

significant currency risk should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% 

increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollar against EUR, and 

1% increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollar against USD, 

and 5% increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollar against 

RMB. 10%, 5% or 1% are the sensitivity rates used when 

reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 

personnel and represent management’s assessment of the 

reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The 

sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 

denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the 

end of the reporting period for a 10%, 5% or 1% change in 

relevant foreign currency rates. A 10%, 5% or 1% strengthening 

or weakening of the Hong Kong dollar against the relevant foreign 

currencies will give rise to a decrease or increase in loss before 

tax and the impact is shown in the following table.
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37. 

5%

64,000

81,000

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

(Increase)/decrease
in loss before tax

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

USD 177 280

EUR 329 16

RMB (1,605) (548)
    

Price risk

The Group is exposed to securit ies price r isk because 

investments held by the Group are classified as financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss. Unrealised gains and losses 

arising from the change in the fair value of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated 

income statement. To manage its price risk arising from 

investments in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is 

done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, if market price of the Group’s publicly-

traded investments increased/decreased by 5% with all other 

variables held constant, the loss before tax of the Group would 

have decreased/increased by approximately HK$64,000 (2022: 

loss before tax decreased/increased by approximately 

HK$81,000).
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37. 

71.2% 26.9%

38. 

• 

• 

• 

37. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Capital risk management

The objectives of the Group for managing capital are to safeguard 

the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern in order to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue 

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to equity 

ratio. This ratio is calculated as a percentage of bank and other 

borrowings over net asset value attributable to equity holders of 

the Company. Bank and other borrowings are calculated as total 

bank and other borrowings (including current and non-current 

bank and other borrowings as shown in the consolidated 

statement of financial position). Net asset value attributable to 

owners of the Company represents shareholders’ funds as 

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. As at 

31 March 2023, the debt to equity ratio was 71.2% (2022: 

26.9%)

38. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 
financial instruments

The disclosure of fair value measurements of financial instruments 

carr ied at fair value by level in the fol lowing fair value 

measurement hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities (Level 1)

• Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement is observable, 

either directly or indirectly (Level 2)

• Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

(Level 3)
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38. 

14

21

38. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 
financial instruments (Continued)

See note 14 for disclosure of the investment properties that are 

measured at fair value.

The Group had no Level 2 and Level 3 financial instruments as at 

31 March 2023 and 2022. The only Level 1 financial instrument 

as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 represented financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss (note 21), the fair value of which is 

based on quoted market prices. There was no transfer of 

financial instruments between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfer of 

financial instruments into or out of Level 3 for the years ended 31 

March 2023 and 2022.

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets 

are based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The 

quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group 

is the current price within the bid-ask spread which is the most 

representative of the fair value in the given circumstances. The 

fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are 

determined in accordance with the generally accepted pricing 

models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The fair values of the non-current portion of bank borrowings 

were estimated using the expected future payments discounted 

at market interest rates. The carrying amounts of the non-current 

portion of borrowings approximated their fair values since they 

were floating interest rate borrowings.

The carrying amounts less any estimated credit adjustments for 

financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one 

year, including accounts receivable, financial assets included in 

deposits and other receivables, restricted bank balances, cash 

and bank balances, financial liabilities included in accounts 

payable, accrued charges and other payables and the current 

portion of bank and other borrowings approximate their fair 

values.
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39. 39. Statement of financial position of the 
company

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 376,315 718,113
    

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables 526 6,572

Cash and bank balances 12,784 18,756
    

Total current assets 13,310 25,328
    

Current liabilities
Amount due to a subsidiary 80 –

Accrued charges and other payables 1,021 1,028

Bank and other borrowings 120,000 132,000
    

Total current liabilities 121,101 133,028
    

Net current liabilities (107,791) (107,700)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 268,524 610,413
    

Non-current liability
Bank and other borrowings 4,000 –
    

Net assets 264,524 610,413
    

Equity
Share capital 577,919 577,919

(Deficit)/reserves (note) (313,395) 32,494
    

Total equity 264,524 610,413
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39. 39. Statement of financial position of the 
company (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share
premium

Other
reserve

Contributed
surplus

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 April 2021 331,610 4,000 77,963 (165,424) 248,149

Loss for the year – – – (215,655) (215,655)
       

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

331,610 4,000 77,963 (381,079) 32,494

Loss for the year – – – (345,889) (345,889)
       

At 31 March 2023 331,610 4,000 77,963 (726,968) (313,395)
       

Pursuant to the special resolution approved by the shareholders 

of the Company in the 2016 annual general meeting of the 

Company, share premium, other reserve and contributed surplus 

of the Company are available for distribution to ordinary 

shareholders of  the Company (af ter  deduct ion of  the 

accumulated losses) provided that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business 

immediately following the date on which any such distribution is 

proposed to be paid.

Other reserve of the Company relates to contribution by the then 

substantial shareholders of the Company who were also the then 

holders of the preference shares. It represents the excess of the 

face value of  redeemable preference shares over the 

consideration paid upon redemption in 2004.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the 

difference between the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries 

which were acquired by the Company at the date of a group 

reorganisation in 1996 (the “Group Reorganisation”) and the 

nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company for the 

Group Reorganisation.
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40. 40. Principal subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company Principal activities

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

        

  (note )

Mainland China RMB32,000,000 – 100% – 100% Property development

32,000,000

Guangdong Boluo Yuanzhou 

 Midas Printing Limited (note)

Mainland China US$12,500,000 – 100% – 100% Manufacture and sale of 

 printed products

12,500,000

Midas Printing International Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000 – 100% – 100% Trading of printed products

7,000

  (note )

Mainland China RMB39,000,000 – 100% – 100% Property investment

39,000,000

Magnus Concordia Development 

 (Chengdu) Limited

Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 – 100% – 100% Property investment

60,000,000

Perfect Outlook Limited British Virgin Islands/

 Hong Kong

US$1 – 100% – 100% Property investment

1

Delta Key Limited British Virgin 

Islands/Hong Kong

US$1 – 100% – 100% Property investment

1

Ever Favour Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% – 100% Property investment

1

 

 (note )

Mainland China RMB10,000,000 – 100% – 100% Property development

10,000,000
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Name

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company Principal activities

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

        

Lever Printing Factory Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 – 100% – 100% Treasury investment

500,000

Magnus Concordia Management

 Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% – 100% Management services and 

 treasury investment

1

Note: The entities are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign investment 

enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in 

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the 

year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the 

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion 

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

41. Event After the Reporting Period

In respect of the bank borrowing of HK$120,000,000 which the 

Group breached financial covenant during the year, the Group has 

obtained a one-off waiver from the bank on 15 June 2023 for the 

financial covenant of the aforesaid bank borrowings that throughout 

the life of the facility, the Group agrees and undertakes to the bank 

that its consolidated tangible net worth shall not at any time be less 

than a certain level. The repayment schedules of the borrowing and 

the repayment on demand clause remain unchanged. According to 

the further request from the bank, the Group is required to apply for 

waiver before the Group’s next interim result announcement for the 

6 months ending 30 September 2023.

42. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue 

by the board of directors on 29 June 2023.

40. 

 

41. 

120,000,000

42. 

40. Principal subsidiaries (Continued)



Particulars of Principal Properties

277ANNUAL REPORT 2023 • 二零二三年年報

Investment Properties

The following list contains investment properties held by the Group as 

at 31 March 2023.

Location Term Usage Group’s interest

    

Shop B, Ground Floor, Medium lease Commercial 100%

Wuhu Residence,

No. 111 Wuhu Street, 

Hunghom, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

111

B

Shop D, Ground Floor, Medium lease Commercial 100%

Wuhu Residence,

No. 111 Wuhu Street,

Hunghom, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

111

D

Shops 3, 4 and 5, Medium lease Commercial 100%

Ground Floor,

Parkes Residence,

No. 101 Parkes Street,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

101

•

3 4 5
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Location Term Usage Group’s interest

    

6th Floor, Chengdu Digital Plaza, Medium lease Commercial 100%

No. 1 Renmin South Road Fourth

Portion, Wuhou District, Chengdu,

Sichuan Province, 

the People’s Republic of China 

(the “PRC”)

1

6

Units 01, 02, 03, 06 and 07, Medium lease Office 100%

38th Floor, R&F Yingkai Square, 

No. 16 Huaxia Road, 

Tianhe District,

Guangzhou, 

Guangdong Province,

the PRC

16

3801 3802

3803 3806 3807

Investment Properties (Continued)
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Completed properties for sale

The following list contains principal completed properties for sale held 

by the Group as at 31 March 2023.

Location Term Usage Group’s interest

Gross floor 
area sq.m 

(Approximately)

     
Land lots C1-9 Yongyaju, 

Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project, 

the high-tech Industrial development zone of 

the Yanluyu District of 

Wolong Lake in Zigong City, 

Sichuan Province, the PRC

Long lease Residential 100% 400

•

C1-9

Land lots C1-10 Yongyaju, 

Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project, 

the high-tech Industrial development zone of 

the Yanluyu District of 

Wolong Lake in Zigong City, 

Sichuan Province, the PRC

Long lease Residential 100% 24,000

•

C1-10

Land lots C1-11 Yongyaju, 

Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project, 

the high-tech Industrial development zone of 

the Yanluyu District of 

Wolong Lake in Zigong City, 

Sichuan Province, the PRC

Long lease Residential 100% 2,000

•

C1-11

Ju Hao Shan Zhuang, No. 145 

Zhongyi Er Road, 

Tianxin District, Changsha, 

Hunan Province, the PRC

Long lease Residential 100% 5,000

145
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Results

For the year ended 31 March

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

REVENUE 416,828 1,587,349 2,140,562 310,404 214,380
       

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (352,847) (269,993) 2,983 (73,715) 2,541
       

Assets and liabilities

At 31 March

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

TOTAL ASSETS 1,003,773 1,528,412 3,095,675 4,190,366 966,573

TOTAL LIABILITIES (738,452) (875,870) (2,197,107) (3,348,510) (339,940)
       

NET ASSETS 265,321 652,542 898,568 841,856 626,633
       

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 

 OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 265,321 652,542 898,568 841,856 626,633
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